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Core Terms

juror, voir dire, death penalty, competency, state trial,
trial court, post-trial, questions, district court, special
issue, bias, waived, sentence, guilty plea, biased,
competent to stand trial, killing, answered, evidentiary
hearing, juror bias, incompetent, depression, prison, life
sentence, suicidality, mental illness, murder, criminal
appeal, habeas petition, deliberate

Case Summary

Overview

HOLDINGS: [1]-Although a 28 U.S.C.S. § 2254 habeas
petitioner, sentenced to death for murder, presented
evidence of mental illness, he did not demonstrate by
clear and convincing evidence that he was not
competent to stand trial, waive counsel, or plead guilty.
His prior mental health issues as well as his strategy
before, during, and after trial were insufficient to support
a determination that petitioner was incompetent; [2]-The
state trial court made an implicit finding that no bona
fide doubt as to competency existed and a standalone
competency hearing was therefore not required. This
factual finding was presumed correct under §
2254(e)(1), and was not rebutted; [3]-The district court
did not err in failing to grant habeas relief on petitioner's

juror bias claim because the post-trial statements of five
jurors were inadmissible by virtue of Fed. R. Evid.

606(b).

Outcome
Judgment affirmed.

LexisNexis® Headnotes

Criminal Law & Procedure > Counsel > Right to
Self-Representation

Criminal Law &
Procedure > Counsel > Waiver > Standards

HN1[.‘.] Counsel, Right to Self-Representation

Under Faretta v. California, a criminal defendant has a
right to self-representation. To exercise that right, a
defendant must competently, knowingly, and intelligently
waive his right to counsel.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Capital
Punishment > Bifurcated Trials

HN2[.!’..] Capital Punishment, Bifurcated Trials

Under Texas law, juries on capital cases must decide
two special issues in the sentencing phase: (1) whether
there is a probability that the defendant would commit
criminal acts of violence that would constitute a
continuing threat to society, and if so, (2) whether,
taking into consideration all of the evidence there is a
sufficient mitigating circumstance or circumstances to
warrant that a sentence of life imprisonment without
parole rather than a death sentence be imposed.
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Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Order & Timing of
Petitions > Statute of Limitations > Accrual Period

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Order & Timing of
Petitions > Filing of Petitions > Pleadings

HN3[.*.] Statute of Limitations, Accrual Period

Tex. Code Crim. Proc. Ann. art. 11.071, § 4(a), provides
that an application for a writ of habeas corpus must be
filed in the convicting court not later than the 180th day
after the date the convicting court appoints counsel or
not later than the 45th day after the date the state's
original brief is filed on direct appeal with the court of
criminal appeals, whichever date is later.

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Order & Timing of
Petitions > Statute of Limitations > Antiterrorism &
Effective Death Penalty Act

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Appeals > Standards of
Review > Clear Error Review

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Appeals > Standards of
Review > De Novo Review

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Review > Standards of
Review > Presumption of Correctness

HN4[..*.] Statute of Limitations, Antiterrorism &
Effective Death Penalty Act

In a federal habeas corpus appeal, the United States
Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit reviews the district
court's findings of fact for clear error and its conclusions
of law de novo. Review of a federal habeas petition is
governed by the applicable provisions of the Anti-
Terrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act of 1996
(AEDPA). Under AEDPA, if a claim was adjudicated on
the merits by a state court, 28 U.S.C.S. § 2254(d)
provides that a federal court cannot issue a writ of
habeas corpus unless the state court's decision was
contrary to, or involved an unreasonable application of,
clearly established Federal law, as determined by the
Supreme Court of the United States, or was based on
an unreasonable determination of the facts in light of the
evidence presented in the State court proceeding.
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Under § 2254(e)(1), a determination of a factual issue
made by a State court shall be presumed to be correct
and the applicant shall have the burden of rebutting the
presumption of correctness by clear and convincing
evidence.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary
Proceedings > Pretrial Motions &
Procedures > Competency to Stand Trial

HN5[&]  Pretrial Motions &
Competency to Stand Trial

Procedures,

The Constitution does not permit trial of an individual
who lacks mental competency. A defendant is
competent to stand trial if he has sufficient present
ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable
degree of rational understanding and if he has a rational
as well as factual understanding of the proceedings
against him.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary
Proceedings > Pretrial Motions &
Procedures > Competency to Stand Trial

Governments > Courts > Judicial Precedent

HN6[&]  Pretrial Motions &
Competency to Stand Trial

Procedures,

The Fifth Circuit's rule of orderliness provides that one
panel of the court may not overturn another panel's
decision, absent an intervening change in the law.
Because the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth
Circuit is bound by the circuit's rule of orderliness, and
the earlier panel decision controls, the court adheres to
Felde v. Blackburn and to Maggio v. Fulford and
considers competency a question of fact.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Review > Burdens of Proof

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Review > Scope of Review

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Review > Standards of
Review > Presumption of Correctness
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Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Review > Standards of
Review > Deference

Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary
Proceedings > Pretrial Motions &
Procedures > Competency to Stand Trial

HN7[.".] Review, Burdens of Proof

28 U.S.C.S. 2254(e) limits the United States Court of
Appeals for the Fifth Circuit's review of state-court fact
findings, even if no claims were presented on direct
appeal or state habeas. Under § 2254(e)(1), a
determination of a factual issue made by a State court
shall be presumed to be correct and the habeas
petitioner bears the burden of rebutting the presumption
of correctness by clear and convincing evidence. To the
extent a petitioner's claims challenge factual
determinations made by the state trial court, the Fifth
Circuit applies § 2254(e)(1). To the extent the claims
present questions of law and mixed questions of law
and fact, such that § 2254(e) does not apply, the Fifth
Circuit reviews de novo. Because competency is a
question of fact, the Fifth Circuit affords the state trial
court the deference due under § 2254(e)(1). Under §
2254(e)(1), the state trial court's determination that a
petitioner was competent to stand trial, waive counsel,
and plead guilty is presumed correct. The petitioner
bears the burden of rebutting that presumption of
correctness by clear and convincing evidence.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Capital
Punishment

Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary
Proceedings > Pretrial Motions &
Procedures > Competency to Stand Trial

HN8[.t] Sentencing, Capital Punishment

The fact that a particular defendant causes his trial to be
conducted in a manner most likely to result in a
conviction and the imposition of the death penalty is not
sufficient for a finding of incompetency. The Fifth Circuit
has recognized that a defendant's deliberate use of the
system to obtain the death penalty is evidence of
rationality, not incompetence.

Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental
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Rights > Procedural Due Process > Scope of
Protection

Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary
Proceedings > Pretrial Motions &
Procedures > Competency to Stand Trial

HN9[."L] Procedural Due Process, Scope of

Protection

Under Pate v. Robinson, a trial court must hold a
competency hearing when there is evidence before the
court that objectively creates a bona fide question as to
whether the defendant is competent to stand trial. In
determining whether there is a bona fide doubt as to the
defendant's competence, a court considers: (1) any
history of irrational behavior, (2) the defendant's
demeanor at trial, and (3) any prior medical opinion on
competency. If the trial court received evidence, viewed
objectively, that should have raised a reasonable doubt
as to competency, yet failed to make further inquiry, the
defendant has been denied a fair trial.

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Appeals > Standards of
Review > De Novo Review

HN10[&‘.] Standards of Review, De Novo Review

To the extent that a procedural claim, not adjudicated on
the merits by the state court, presents questions of law
or mixed questions of law and fact, the federal habeas
court reviews de novo.

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Entry of
Pleas > Guilty Pleas > Competency

Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary
Proceedings > Pretrial Motions &

Procedures > Competency to Stand Trial

Criminal Law &
Procedure > Counsel > Waiver > Standards

Criminal Law & Procedure > Counsel > Right to
Self-Representation

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Entry of
Pleas > Guilty Pleas > Voluntariness
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HN11[&] Guilty Pleas, Competency

Competence to plead guilty or to waive the right to
counsel is measured by the same standard as
competence to stand trial. Nonetheless, a finding that a
defendant is competent to stand trial is not all that is
necessary before he may be permitted to plead guilty or
waive his right to counsel. A trial court must also satisfy
itself that the defendant's waiver of his constitutional
rights is knowing and voluntary. Before granting a
defendant's clear and unequivocal request to proceed
pro se, the trial judge must caution the defendant about
the dangers of such a course of action so that the
record will establish that 'he knows what he is doing and
his choice is made with eyes open. To be voluntary, a
plea must not be the product of actual or threatened
physical harm, or mental coercion overbearing the will of
the defendant. A defendant pleading guilty must also be
competent, have notice of the charges against him,
understand the consequences of his plea, and have
available the advice of competent counsel.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Review > Burdens of Proof

Evidence > Burdens of Proof > Clear & Convincing
Proof

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Review > Standards of
Review > Presumption of Correctness

Evidence > Inferences &
Presumptions > Presumptions > Rebuttal of
Presumptions

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Appeals > Standards of
Review > De Novo Review

HN12[.".] Review, Burdens of Proof

To the extent a habeas petitioner's claim involves
subsidiary factual determinations made by the state trial
court, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth
Circuit applies 28 U.S.C.S. § 2254(e)(1)'s presumption
of correctness, which the petitioner must rebut by clear
and convincing evidence. The Fifth Circuit reviews de
novo questions of law and mixed questions of law and
fact.
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Criminal Law & Procedure > Counsel > Right to
Self-Representation

HN13[.‘.'] Counsel, Right to Self-Representation

A defendant has a right to conduct his own defense,
even though exercising that right usually increases the
likelihood of a trial outcome unfavorable to the
defendant. The right to self-representation is based on
the fundamental legal principle that a defendant must be
allowed to make his own choices about the proper way
to protect his own liberty.

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Appeals > Standards of
Review > De Novo Review

HN14[&’.] Standards of Review, De Novo Review

On appeal, a habeas court reviews the district court's
conclusions of law and its conclusions of mixed law and
fact de novo.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Review > Burdens of Proof

Criminal Law & Procedure > Counsel > Effective
Assistance of Counsel > Tests for Ineffective
Assistance of Counsel

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Review > Specific
Claims > Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

HN15[.!’.] Review, Burdens of Proof

Under the familiar test of Strickland v. Washington, a
successful ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim
requires a petitioner to show that (1) counsel's
performance was deficient and (2) that the deficient
performance prejudiced the defense. Trial counsel has a
duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a
reasonable decision that makes particular investigations
unnecessary. In the context of mental health
investigation, trial counsel provides deficient
performance if he fails to investigate a defendant's
medical history when he has reason to believe that the
defendant suffers from mental health problems.

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Challenges to Jury
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Venire > Bias & Prejudice > Right to Unbiased Jury

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Challenges to Jury
Venire > Bias & Prejudice > Tests for Juror Bias &
Prejudice

HN16[.";] Bias & Prejudice, Right to Unbiased Jury

A juror is biased if his views would prevent or
substantially impair the performance of his duties as a
juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath.
One touchstone of a fair trial is an impartial trier of
fact—a jury capable and willing to decide the case
solely on the evidence before it.

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Challenges for
Cause > Bias & Impartiality > Capital Cases

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Challenges to Jury
Venire > Death Penalty > Tests for Excusal of Juror

HN17[."2] Bias & Impartiality, Capital Cases

A juror who will automatically vote for the death penalty
is challengeable for cause.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Juries & Jurors > Jury
Deliberations > Privacy of Deliberations

HN18[&]  Jury
Deliberations

Deliberations, Privacy of

Fed. R. Evid. 606(b)(1) provides :(b) During an Inquiry
Into the Validity of a Verdict or Indictment. (1) Prohibited
Testimony or Other Evidence. During an inquiry into the
validity of a verdict or indictment, a juror may not testify
about any statement made or incident that occurred
during the jury's deliberations; the effect of anything on
that juror's or another juror's vote; or any juror's mental
processes concerning the verdict or indictment. The
court may not receive a juror's affidavit or evidence of a
juror's statement on these matters. Fed. R. Evid.
606(b)(1). The text of the rule is clear, and it explicitly
directs that a juror may not testify about the effect of
anything on that juror's vote or any juror's mental
processes concerning the verdict or indictment. The rule
further provides, the court may not receive a juror's
affidavit or evidence of a juror's statement on these
matters.
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Criminal Law & Procedure > Juries & Jurors > Jury
Deliberations > Privacy of Deliberations

HN19[%]
Deliberations

Deliberations, Privacy of

Jury

The only exception that the U.S. Supreme Court has
made to Fed. R. Evid. 606(b)(1)'s prohibitions is when,
after the jury is discharged, a juror comes forward with
compelling evidence that another juror made clear and
explicit statements indicating that racial animus was a
significant motivating factor in his or her vote to convict.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Evidentiary Hearings > State Prisoners

HNZO[.*.] Evidentiary Hearings, State Prisoners

28 U.S.C.S. § 2254(e)(2) controls whether a habeas
petitioner may receive an evidentiary hearing in federal
district court on the claims for which the applicant failed
to develop the factual basis in state courts. It constrains
the discretion of district courts to grant evidentiary
hearings, even where § 2254(d) does not apply. The
phrase "failed to develop" means a lack of diligence, or
some greater fault, attributable to the prisoner or the
prisoner's counsel.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Evidentiary Hearings > State Prisoners

HN21[.‘.] Evidentiary Hearings, State Prisoners

In the context of 28 U.S.C.S. § 2254(e)(2), a district
court may refuse an evidentiary hearing where there is
not a factual dispute which, if resolved in the prisoner's
favor, would entitle him to relief.

Counsel: For PERRY ALLEN AUSTIN, Petitioner -
Appellant: Richard John Bourke, Christine Marie
Lehmann, Louisiana Capital Assistance Center, New
Orleans, LA.

For LORIE DAVIS, DIRECTOR, TEXAS DEPARTMENT
OF CRIMINAL JUSTICE, CORRECTIONAL
INSTITUTIONS DIVISION, Respondent - Appellee:
Jason R. LaFond, Gwendolyn Suzanne Vindell,
Assistant Attorney General, Office of the Attorney
General for the State of Texas, Austin, TX; Tomee
Morgan Heining, Assistant Attorney General, Office of
the Attorney General, Postconviction Litigation Division,
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Austin, TX.

Judges: Before OWEN, ELROD, and HAYNES, Circuit
Judges. PRISCILLA R. OWEN, Circuit Judge,
concurring.

Opinion by: PRISCILLA R. OWEN

Opinion

[*762] PRISCILLA R. OWEN, Circuit Judge:

Perry Allen Austin was convicted of capital murder in
Texas state court and sentenced to death. The Texas
Court of Criminal Appeals affirmed the ftrial court's
judgment and subsequently dismissed Austin's state
habeas petition as untimely. Austin filed a federal
habeas petition. The federal district court granted
summary judgment for the State and denied a certificate
of appealability (COA). This court granted Austin a COA
on fourteen of [**2] his twenty-one grounds. We now
affirm the district court's judgment.

We briefly recount the pertinent facts leading up to
Austin's trial for capital murder, as outlined in a prior
opinion:
In 1978, [Austin] raped one of his adolescent sisters
at gunpoint and attempted to rape another, before
robbing a third, older sister and his mother. . . . A
jury convicted Austin of rape, attempted rape, and
aggravated robbery.

Following this conviction, Austin was released on
parole in 1991 and began a sexual relationship with
J.0., a fourteen-year-old female. Through J.O.,
Austin met D.K.,, a nine-year-old male. D.K.
disappeared in August 1992. While investigating
D.K.'s disappearance, police discovered Austin's
relationship with J.O. and charges were brought
against Austin. He pled guilty to sexual assault of a
child and received a thirty-year [*763] sentence. In
April 1993, D.K's remains were found. Although
there was physical evidence connecting Austin to
D.K.'s murder and Austin admitted that D.K. had
been in his vehicle the day of D.K.'s disappearance,
police did not believe they had sufficient evidence
to prove Austin was responsible for D.K.'s murder.

Austin alleges that prison conditions caused [**3]
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his mental health to deteriorate after he was
incarcerated for sexually assaulting J.O. In 1995,
he stabbed another prisoner and received an
additional twenty-year sentence. By this point,
Austin was confined in administrative segregation.
In September 2000, Austin wrote a letter to a
Houston police officer, stating that he would
confess to D.K.'s murder if he would be guaranteed
the death penalty. [Austin stated if that was not
guaranteed, he would kill a prison guard as a way
of guaranteeing himself the death penalty.]' Austin
was interviewed at the state prison and confessed
orally and in writing to slitting D.K.'s throat with a
knife because Austin was angry at D.K.'s brother for
allegedly stealing drugs from Austin's car. Austin
was indicted for capital murder on February 15,
2001. On March 21, Mack Arnold was appointed to
represent Austin.?

Prior to his trial, Austin wrote a number of letters to the
state trial court. In his first letter, Austin explained that
he "[did] not want, nor require an attorney to represent
[him]" and that he "[was] willing to face whatever
consequences due [him] for [his] heincus and
deplorable acts."® He also indicated he would accept a
death sentence and [**4] waive any appeals.* He
stated that he was "fully aware of [his] rights and [was]
fully competent to stand before you and make these
decisions."® Austin explained that he had not had peace
of mind since the murder, that his "mental stability [had]
steadily decreased,” and that he was using drugs
again.®

Several months later, Austin wrote to the state trial court
requesting to be released from administrative
segregation or, alternatively, that his trial be moved to
an earlier date.” Austin reasoned that he had not had a
disciplinary incident since entering the county jail and

T14RR24.

2 Austin v. Davis, 647 F. App'x 477, 480 (5th Cir. 2016) (per
curiam).

3CR at 5 (letter from Austin to the trial court file stamped May
15, 2001).

4Id.
SId.

61d.

"CR at 16 (letter from Austin to the trial court dated July 19,
2001); ROA.629.
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that, even though he was charged with capital murder,
he suspected "others in population [had] similar
charges."® He further stated that he "[could not] handle
prolonged isolation" because he "[has] a very bad
problem with depression" and contemplates suicide
often when depressed.9 Several weeks later, Austin
again requested an earlier trial date.'® Austin explained
to the state trial court: "No, | don't have a death wish, or
at least you all can't prove it . . . . | am fully competent
and definitely know the difference between right and
wrong."" In his last letter to the state trial court before
the pretrial hearing [**56] to determine if Austin [*764]
could represent himself, Austin again requested to
proceed pro se, noting he was "fully aware of the
consequences" and "aware that this is within [his]
right"'2 He also stated that he did not wish to
participate in jury selection and that he would "not
contest any juror the prosecution selects."13

Prior to trial, Austin's counsel requested that the state
trial court permit and authorize payment for a
psychological examination of Austin by Dr. Jerome
Brown, a clinical psychologist.’ The trial court granted
counsel's request,’® although it appears that counsel did
not immediately seek Dr. Brown's services.'® The trial
court held a conference in chambers six weeks later and
explained to Austin that it wanted a psychological
evaluation performed before it could decide whether
Austin could proceed pro se.!” The trial court ordered
Dr. Brown to evaluate Austin to determine his
competency to stand trial.'® In his report, prepared after

8CR at 16; ROA.629.
9CR at 16.

10CR at 18 (letter from Austin to the trial court dated Aug. 8,
2001).

"d.

12CR at 20 (letter from Austin to the trial court dated Aug. 14,
2001).

1B /d.
4 CR at 12-13 (motion submitted May 30, 2001).
5CR at 11 (granting motion on July 13, 2001).

16 2RR3 (trial court referring to a previous conference in
chambers six weeks before in which it noted that the
evaluation had not yet occurred); Austin Br. at 15 (specifying
that the conference occurred on August 27, 2001).

172RR3-4.
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meeting with Austin, Dr. Brown noted that Austin "had
no trouble providing relevant and coherent background
information," was able to describe the charges against
him and the court proceedings that had occurred, and
could explain why he wanted [**6] to represent
himself.’® Dr. Brown concluded that Austin was "alert,
well-oriented, and able to communicate his ideas
without difficulty."?® Dr. Brown also noted that Austin
displayed no "bizarre verbalizations," hallucinations, or
delusions typically indicative of severe mental illness nor
did he exhibit any indication of disorganization,
confusion, or other significant difficulties in
communication.2! Although the report acknowledged
Austin's use of alcohol and drugs in prison, it did not
otherwise mention any past mental health issues.?? Dr.
Brown concluded that Austin was competent to stand
trial.23

After the evaluation, the state trial court held a pretrial
Faretta hearing to consider Austin's request to proceed
pro se. M[?] Under Faretta v. California, a criminal
defendant has a right to self-representation.?* To
exercise that right, a defendant must competently,
knowingly, and intelligently waive his right to counsel.2%

18 CR at 24 (evaluation conducted on September 20, 2001).
19CR at 24-25.
2 CR at 26.

21 d.
22CR at 24-26.
ZCR at 26.

24 Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed.
2d 562 (19795).

25 |d_at 835 ("When an accused manages his own defense, he
relinquishes, as a purely factual matter, many of the traditional
benefits associated with the right to counsel. For this reason,
in order to represent himself, the accused must 'knowingly and
intelligently' forgo those relinquished benefits. Although a
defendant need not himself have the skill and experience of a
lawyer in order competently and intelligently to choose self-
representation, he should be made aware of the dangers and
disadvantages of self-representation, so that the record will
establish that 'he knows what he is doing and his choice is
made with eyes open.") (internal citations omitted); see also
Weaver v. Massachusetts, 137 S. Ct. 1899, 1908, 198 L. Ed.
2d 420 (2017) (noting that a defendant's "right to conduct his
own defense . . . 'usually increases the likelihood of a trial
outcome unfavorable to the defendant™ but recognizing that
the "right is based on the fundamental legal principle that a
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At the [*765] hearing, the trial court noted that it had
read Austin's letters and spoken with Austin at a prior
hearing.?® The trial court also noted that it was in
possession of Dr. Brown's report summarizing his
evaluation of Austin's competency to stand trial.2’ The
trial court asked [**7] Austin's counsel his opinion as to
Austin's competency. Counsel stated that, in his view,
Austin was competent to stand trial and, in fact, "it has
been [his] opinion from the first time [he] met him but out
of an abundance of caution [he] requested the
psychiatric evaluation."?® The court then asked Austin a
series of questions pertaining to his understanding of
the possible consequences of representing himself and
of the charges against him. Austin explained that he
wanted complete control over trial strategy, although he
agreed to standby counsel "[flor legal advice only."?®
The court also asked Austin four questions about his
mental health history.3? Austin stated he had had no
mental health issues.?! The trial court issued findings,
granted Austin's request to proceed to trial pro se, and
appointed standby counsel.32

defendant must be allowed to make his own choices about the
proper way to protect his own liberty" and that improper denial
of the right constitutes structural error (quoting McKaskle v.
Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168, 177 n.8, 104 S. Ct. 944, 79 L. Ed. 2d
122 (1984))).

26 2RR3 (hearing held October 11, 2001).
21 2RR4.

28 [d.
2 2RR13.
30 2RR6-7.

Sd.

THE COURT: Have you ever been declared mentally
incompetent?

AUSTIN: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: Have you ever been treated for any mental
health disorder?

AUSTIN: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: Okay. Ever have any mental health
problems while you were in the Army?

AUSTIN: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: Ever seek any mental health counseling
while you were in the Army?

AUSTIN: No, ma'am.
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After [**8] the Faretta hearing, but before trial began,
Austin submitted an affidavit to the state trial court,
stating that he wished to have his court order for access
to the law library rescinded because he thought "it [was]
not necessary for [him] to attend additional [IJaw [l]ibrary
sessions to research the material needed to execute
[his] defense."33 Austin later sent the trial court another
letter requesting "all the evidence the prosecutor had
against" him.34 He also asked the state trial court about
obtaining proper clothing for trial, and stated that he
would like Arnold removed as his advisor because
Arnold did not answer Austin's letters and because
Austin "[did] not need him."3% In another letter to the
state trial court before trial, [*766] Austin noted that he
was "out of seg now so [was] no longer suffering bouts
of depression" and that he was "still firm about [his]
decision to not fight this case."*¢ He also stated that he
"decided that it is not necessary for [him] to review [his]
case file . . . [s]ince [he was] not going to put up any
type of defense."’

Austin did not participate in jury selection.®® The trial
court admonished prospective jurors during voir dire that
if selected, each would be required to "render [**9] a
verdict based on the law not your personal
opinion."*® HN2[®] Under Texas law, juries on capital
cases must decide two special issues in the sentencing
phase: (1) "whether there is a probability that the
defendant would commit criminal acts of violence that
would constitute a continuing threat to society," and if
so, (2) "[w]hether, taking into consideration all of the
evidence there is a sufficient mitigating
circumstance or circumstances to warrant that a

322RR14-15; CR at 32-33.
33 CR at 36 (affidavit sworn on Dec. 5, 2001).

34 CR at 60 (letter from Austin to the trial court dated Dec. 30,
2001).

35CR at 60-61. A handwritten note on the letter, which appears
to be mistakenly dated January 25, 2001 instead of January
25, 2002, suggests that Austin later stated at a hearing in
open court that he would accept Arnold as standby counsel at
trial.

36 CR at 58 (letter from Austin to the trial court dated Feb. 19,
2002).

37 1d.

38 See generally vol. 3-8 of Reporter's Records (voir dire
beginning Mar. 18, 2002).

39 3RR4.
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sentence of life imprisonment without parole rather than
a death sentence be imposed."4® Each juror answered,
under oath, that he or she could impartially decide
whether Austin  should be sentenced to |life
imprisonment or death.*' When empaneled, the jurors
swore they would render a verdict according to the law
and evidence.*2

Austin pleaded guilty to capital murder.#® Before
accepting Austin's plea, the trial court questioned Austin
about his understanding of the charges against him and
the possible penalties.** The court also probed whether
Austin's plea was voluntary.*®> Austin stated he
understood and was entering his plea voluntarily.*® The
court accepted the plea.*” After the jury was sworn and
admonished by the state trial [**10] court, the State
presented the indictment and Austin entered his guilty
plea before the jury.*® The punishment phase of the trial
then proceeded.4®

During the punishment phase, the State provided
additional details regarding the offense, including that
D.K was nine years old when he was killed.%° It also
introduced the letter Sergeant Allen received from
Austin in January 2001, in which Austin stated that he

40 Tex. Code Crim. Proc. Ann. art. 37.071, § 2(b)(1), (e)(1)
(West Supp. 2002).

“1E.g., 4RR18-19 (juror Erwin's assurance that he could
answer the special issues so as to produce a life or death
sentence); 5RR4-5 (juror Condon's assurance that he could
answer the special issues so as to produce a life or death
sentence); SRR32, 44 (juror Gibbs's assurance that he could
answer the special issues so as to produce a life or death
sentence, and would follow the law); SRR48 (juror Tamayo's
assurance that he could answer the special issues so as to
produce a life or death sentence); 5RR67-68 (juror Finnegan's
assurance that he could answer the special issues so as to
produce a life or death sentence).

42 9RRT.
43 9RR4.
4“1 9RR4-7.
45 9RR4-5.

48 1d.

4" 9RR6.

48 9RR7-15.
49 9RR16.
S09RR17.
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would confess to the murder of D.K. if guaranteed the
death penalty and, if that was not guaranteed, he would
[*767] kill a prison guard to ensure he received the
death penalty.®! The tapes of Austin's two interviews
with Sergeant Allen—the first taking place immediately
after Sergeant Allen received Austin's letter in 2001 and
the second occurring before Austin's trial in 2002—were
played to the jury.®2 In the first interview, Sergeant Allen
made clear that he could not promise or guarantee
Austin anything in exchange for confessing to D.K.'s
murder.?® Austin then described how he committed the
crime.®* When Sergeant Allen asked Austin why he
decided to confess, Austin replied, "I'm tryin[g] to clean

myself up . . . . You know and studying the Bible, I'm not
saying I'm a Christian, I'm not saying I'm getting [**11]
religious you know. . . . | need to clear all this up."®

In the second interview a year later, Austin again
admitted to killing D.K., described why and how he
committed the crime, and stated he confessed
"[blecause [he] did it."°® When Sergeant Allen further
inquired why Austin came forward in 2001, Austin
answered, "Depression | guess."’ Austin stated:
| couldn't stop dreaming about it, | couldn't stop
seeing pictures of it. So | just kept doing drugs|,]
getting in trouble with doing drugs. | had to stay
high every day or else | would have to think about
it. And it really comes up mostly when I'm locked up
in seg in solitary, you know. Cause in seg and
solitary | can't do no drugs|.] | just got tired, the
drugs weren't doing nothing really, they weren't
helping. . . . | had written the letter a really long time
before[,] | think | was depressed when | wrote that
letter for at least ten years. . . . It used to [not]
bother me, anything | did, it never bothered me but
ever since this thing happened to him I'd be
watching TV and I'd be thinking and | would just

51 10RR25.
5210RR28, 34-35.
3 Pet. Ex. 34 at 000005.

54 1d. at 000005-000016.

% Id. at 000020.
56 ROA.840-45.

5TROA.852 (typed transcript of Feb. 21, 2002 interview with
Austin contained in the federal district court's record on

appeal).
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start crying],] stuff like that.5®

Austin explained that he had "been going to counseling
and psychiatrists since [he] was a kid," that he
"had [**12] behavioral problems," "was always in
trouble at school," and "was emotionally disturbed.">?
He stated that he "just want[ed] to get this over with and
close it up," and that "[t]he only reason [he hadn't] killed
[himself] is because" he "actually believe[s] there is a
hell."® He explained: "Put it this way[,] I'm not killing
myself, I'm just not putting on a defense. | regret
something | did, I'm gonna pay for it[,] I'm not gonna
make no excuses for nothing."®1

Austin for the most part refrained from questioning
witnesses and presenting evidence during the
punishment phase.f2 He did not testify.?® He briefly
cross-examined an F.B.I. agent about Austin's
relationship with J.O., specifically asking whether J.0O.'s
mother informed the agent that Austin used to date her
before dating J.O. and [*768] whether J.O.'s mother
told the agent that J.O. looked old enough to drink in
bars.64 Austin made a closing statement, telling the jury
he was violent, mean, and sometimes thought he had
no conscience.®% He also stated:

I've been like this all my life, and | doubt if I'll
change. What | wanted to say was they think | have
a death wish. Well, that's not true. One of the
reasons why | went ahead and confessed [to killing
D.K.] was [**13] it was bothering me, what | did.
Regardless of what everybody thinks, it does. I've
never Killed anybody before. And, . . . | also knew
that my acts of violence would not stop even though
| was in prison.58

He referred to an incident in prison in which he had

"come real close to killing a [prison] guard" and that

"[t]he only reason" he did not was that someone else

%8 Id.
**ROA.853.

60 d.
61/d.

62 See generally Reporter's Record vols. 9-11.
63 10RR78.

84 9RR125-26.

8 11RR15.

86 11RR15-16.
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stopped him.%” He explained that "one of these days"
there would not be someone to stop him, and he would
"end up killing again."®8 Austin contested at closing the
State's contention that he was a pedophile, asserting
that J.O. looked older than she was.®9 He stated he was
homosexual and described his sexual preferences.”®
Austin concluded his closing, telling the jury:

On these special issues, there's no doubt that you
will answer yes to No. 1 because if you send me to
prison, | will commit further acts of violence. . . . Jail
is a violent place, especially for somebody like me.
I'm a homosexual. So, yes, | will commit further acts
of violence in prison. Special Issue No. 2, there was
no mitigating circumstances that contributed to
killing [D.K.]. And fear, anger or whatever can never
be considered anywhere near a reason for killing.
So [*14] | suspect, you know, y'all, by law, have to
answer that number as no.”"

The jury answered Texas's special issues such that the
trial court imposed a death sentence.”?

The state trial court held a second Faretta hearing in
which Austin waived his right to both appellate counsel
and state habeas counsel.”® The court noted it had
previously determined before trial that Austin was
competent and it appointed standby appellate
counsel.” Pursuant to Texas law, Austin's case was
automatically appealed to the Texas Court of Criminal
Appeals (TCCA).”® Austin filed no brief. The TCCA
affirmed his conviction, noting that Austin had chosen to
represent himself at trial and on appeal and that the
"trial court [had] fully admonished [him] of the dangers
and disadvantages of self-representation prior to trial
and prior to this appeal."’® The TCCA stated it had, in

6711RR16.

68 Id.

6 11RR16-17, 19.

7011RR18.

" 11RR19-20.

211RR31; CR at 78-79.
7312RR3, 8; CR at 84-85.
74CR at 86; ROA.22; ROA.595.

75 SeeTex. Code Crim. Proc. Ann. art. 37.071, § 2(h) (West
Supp. 2002).

76 See Austin v. State, No. 74372, 2003 WL 1799020 (Tex.
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the interests of justice, reviewed the entire record and
found no unassigned fundamental error.””

[*769] Austin waived any pursuit of post-conviction
relief and the trial court set Austin's execution date.”®
Six days before his scheduled execution, Austin moved
to have state habeas counsel appointed.”® The trial
court withdrew [**15] the execution date and appointed
Dick Wheelan as habeas counsel on September 24,
2003.80

HN3[7F] Texas Code of Criminal Procedure, art. 11.071,
§ 4(a) provides that an application for a writ of habeas
corpus "must be filed in the convicting court not later
than the 180th day after the date the convicting court
appoints counsel . . . or not later than the 45th day after
the date the state's original brief is filed on direct appeal
with the court of criminal appeals, whichever date is
later."8" Wheelan determined that March 22, 2004 was
the filing deadline for Austin's application for a writ of
habeas corpus, counting 180 days from the date of his
appointment.®2 Pursuant to Texas Code of Criminal
Procedure, art. 11.071, § 4(b), Wheelan later requested
a 90-day extension of time.®3 The state trial court
granted his request.84 On April 8, 2004, Wheelan filed
with the TCCA a motion for leave to file a skeletal
application for a writ of habeas corpus with leave to file
an amended original petition by June 20, 2004.85 The

Crim. App. Apr. 2, 2003).

Id.; Ex Parte Austin, No. 870377, Findings of Fact,
Conclusion/Recommendation and Order, at 2 (June 29, 2004).

8ROA.23; ROA.595-96.
®ROA.596.

80 /d.

81 Tex. Code Crim. Proc. Ann. art. 11.071, § 4(a) (West 1999).

82 Pet.'s Mtn. to Extend Time, Ex Parte Austin, No. 870377-A
at *1-2 (Mar. 15, 2004); ROA.596.

83ROA.596; Tex. Code Crim. Proc. Ann. art 11.071. § 4(b)
(West 1999) ("The convicting court, before the filing date that
is applicable to the applicant under Subsecfion (a), may for
good cause shown and after notice and an opportunity to be
heard by the attorney representing the state grant one 90-day
extension that begins on the filing date applicable to the
defendant under Subsection (a).").

8 Ex Parte Austin, No. 870377, Findings of Fact,
Conclusion/f/Recommendation and Order, at 3 (June 29, 2004).
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TCCA issued an order dismissing Wheelan's scheduling
motion, holding that § 4(a) "should be interpreted" such
that "the date the convicting court appoints counsel' . . .
shall mean the day the applicant waived [**16] counsel
and chose to represent himself on habeas" and "the
date the state's original brief is filed on direct appeal' . . .
shall mean the day the State waived its right to file a
brief on appeal."® The TCCA subsequently denied
Austin's motion for leave to file an untimely application
for a writ of habeas corpus.®’

Austin filed a federal habeas petition.88 The State
moved to dismiss the petition contending that Austin's
claims were procedurally defaulted in light of the
TCCA's denial of his state petition as untimely.8° The
district court denied the State's motion.®? In its answer,
the State argued Austin had insufficiently briefed a
number of his claims.®! Austin then filed a first [*770]
amended petition.%2 The district court granted a stay to
permit Austin to exhaust in state court new claims based
on legislative changes to Texas's death penalty
scheme.93 After Austin exhausted those claims,® he
filed a second amended federal habeas petition.9> The

85 ROA.596.

86 Ex Parte Austin, No. 74372, slip op. at 3 (Tex. Crim. App.
May 26, 2004) (not designated for publication).

87 1d. at 4.

88 ROA.20 (Austin's state habeas petition and his federal
habeas petition are the same, according to the parties and the
district court).

89 ROA.155, 597-98; Ex Parte Austin, No. 59527-01, slip op. at
2 (Tex. Crim. App. July 6, 2004) (per curiam) (not designated
for publication).

%0 ROA.598.
9 d.

92 Id.
%3 ROA.1390; ROA.1465.

9 Ex Parte Austin, No. 59527-02 (Tex. Crim. App. Apr. 5,
2006) (per curiam) (not designated for publication).

95 ROA.5 (district court docket entry #38, not included in record
on appeal but on file). This court denied a COA on Austin's
Eight Amendment claims added in this second amended
petition. The second amended petition is otherwise the same
as the first amended petition.
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State filed an answer.%6 Austin then moved for funds for
expert assistance in assessing his mental health and
competency, which the district court authorized.®”
Austin subsequently filed a response to the State's
answer [**17] and a motion for an evidentiary hearing,
supported by affidavits from mental health experts.%8

In his petition, Austin outlined his history of mental
illness, including suicide attempts in 1975 and 1979, as
evidence that he was incompetent to stand trial, plead
guilty, and waive counsel.®® We recount the evidence
pertinent to Austin's claims. After his suicide attempt in
1975, he was hospitalized and diagnosed with
adolescent  adjustment reaction in a mixed
personality.'%® Austin subsequently joined the army but
was discharged in 1977 for "failure to adapt socially and
emotionally."’®! Following the aggravated rape of his
sister and attempted aggravated rape of another of his
sisters, as well as the aggravated robbery of a third
sister and his mother in 1978,192 Austin was evaluated
by a psychologist, Dr. Franklin Lewis, before the trial
occurred on those charges.’® Dr. Lewis diagnosed
Austin with severe personality disturbance with schizoid
thinking and anti-social features as well as latent
borderline schizophrenia.’® He concluded that Austin
was, at the time, suffering from a mental illness.'0°
Austin pleaded not guilty due to insanity.'¢ At trial, Dr.
Lewis testified [**18] that there were indications that
Austin had brain dysfunction or brain damage, although
further testing would be required to make a
determination.'®” Austin again attempted suicide in

% ROA.1687.
% ROA.1838; ROA.3488 (sealed).
%8 ROA.1930; ROA.2126.

% See Second Amended Pet. at 13; ROA.607; ROA.610.

100 Second Amended Pet. at 14; ROA.607 (same assertion in
first amended petition).

101 Second Amended Pet. at 15.

102 pet. Ex. 3 at 005306, 005333; Pet. Ex. 5 at 001682.
103 Pet. Ex. 28 at 002842-000043.

104 Second Amended Pet. at 17; Pet. Ex. 28 at 002843.

105 Second Amended Pet. at 17; Pet. Ex. 28 at 002843; Pet.
Ex. 17 at 003675 (testifying at trial that Austin was
"experiencing a mental illness" at the time of the assault).

106 Pet, Ex. 5 at 001699; Pet. Ex. 28 at 002831.
107 Second Amended Pet. at 17; Pet. Ex. 17 at 003674.
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1979 while awaiting trial.198 After he was convicted, he
wrote to the trial judge requesting that he be placed at a
state hospital to "get help for [his] problem," rather than
sent to the Texas Department of Corrections [*771]
(TDC)."99 Although the trial judge forwarded Austin's
letter to the Diagnostic Unit of the TDC,'0 Austin
remained with the TDC for the duration of his
sentence.’ A number of physical and psychological
evaluations of Austin were conducted during this time
period.'2 There is some evidence that Austin did not
wish to receive mental health counseling and was not
cooperative while in the TDC or the Harris County
Sheriff's Office.13

108 Second Amended Pet. at 17; Pet. Ex. 28 at 002831.

109 Second Amended Pet. at 17-18; Pet. Ex. 5 at 001699-
001701 ("I [] did not [plead insanity] just to get out of going to
T.D.C. | did it because | want help and | need help. . . . | know
there[]s something wrong with me and | don't think prison[']s
going to go help me any. | want to go to Rusk to get help for
my problem. . . . All I'm asking is that you send me to Rusk
until the doctors solve me of my problem then go ahead and
send me to T.D.C. for life if you want to.").

110 Pet. Ex. 5 at 001697.
111 Second Amended Pet. at 18.

"2E g., Pet. Ex. 28 at 002803 (TDC clinic notes 11/7/83;
noting "probable nervous condition"), 002827 (mental health
services notes 1/26/84; "has a history of antisocial behavior,
substance abuse and sexual sadism coupled with self-
mutilation"), 002825 (TDC clinic notes 5/6/86; referring him to
psychiatric personnel), 002824 (clinic notes 2/3/88; "patient
had good eye contract, oriented to time, person, and place
and communicated effectively"); 002822 (clinic notes 12/18/89;
"will refer to unit psychologist due to past . . . had not been
seen since 8/10/88, had past suicide attempts”).

13Pet. Ex. 15 at 004059 (Harris County Sheriff's Office
Medical Services Division notes, 4/8/02; "Consumer states
that he does not plan to seek counseling in TDC because only
group therapy is offered and he does not want to discuss his
problems in a group. He states that he feels that individual
counseling has helped him."); 004071 (Pre-trial/screening
intake notes, 2/25/02; explaining that although Austin met with
a psychologist in the Wynne Unit in 1979 he "just saw [the
psychologist] a couple of times but wouldn't cooperate;" also
noted Austin would not cooperate with counseling in 1976);
004083 (Harris County Sheriff's Office Medical Services
Division notes 1/24/02; Austin "strongly expressed that he did
not want any services from MHMRA"); 004085 (Harris County
Sheriff's Office Medical Services Division notes 10/18/01;
Austin "states that he has no interest in obtaining psychiatric
assistance"); 004094-99 (uncooperative); see also Docket
Entry #47, Letter from Austin to the Fifth Circuit, received
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Austin also asserted that the conditions of his
confinement in the Texas prison system were
"psychologically aversive"''* and that he received no
effective mental health treatment while incarcerated.13
After Austin returned to the TDC to serve a thirty-year
sentence for sexual assault of a child in 1992,116 he
stabbed another prisoner'’”” and was placed in
administrative segregation [**19] from 1995 until 1998.
He asserts that the conditions of his confinement during
this period, which he alleges included "unlawful violence
by staff, sub-standard physical conditions and food,
unlawful denial of exercise and educational materials,
and prolonged periods of isolation," caused his mental
health to deteriorate further.'® Upon release from
administrative segregation, Austin was placed in a
"safekeeping” unit because he identified as a
homosexual.''® Austin contends that the conditions of
[*772] safekeeping also negatively affected his mental
health.20 |In 2001, he was again placed in
administrative segregation after assaulting a prison
guard.’?" A week later, Austin sent the letter to
Sergeant Allen confessing to D.K.'s murder.'?? He
contends that when he confessed, he was "[u]nder the
influence of his mental illness and the severely
depressive effects of his conditions of confinement."123

In support of his contentions in the federal habeas
proceeding before the district court, Austin attached to
his habeas petition the 2004 reports of a
neuropsychologist, Dr. McGarrahan,’®* and a
neuropsychiatrist, Dr. Woods, both retained as part of

Sept. 17, 2014 ("l chose to abstain from medication and
counseling . ...").

114 Austin Br. at 10.
1M5ROA.612-13.
116 14RR110.

11714RR113 (judgment and sentence of additional twenty
years on plea of guilty for aggravated assault with a deadly
weapon).

118 Austin Br. at 11; accord Second Amended Pet. at 28.

119 Second Amended Pet. at 31; Pet. Ex. 36 at 001487.

120 Second Amended Pet. at 31-32.

121 |d. at 32; Pet. Ex. 26 at 003259 (offense report).
122 14RR24.
123 Second Amended Pet. at 32.

124 Dr. McGarrahan used her maiden name, Cicerello, in 2004.

Page 13 of 41

his post-conviction investigation. He also submitted, in
his motion [**20] for an evidentiary hearing, affidavits
prepared by Dr. McGarrahan and Dr. Woods in 2012.125
In her 2004 report, prepared after reviewing Austin's
records and meeting with him, Dr. McGarrahan noted
that Austin "endorsed continual suicidal ideation with a
plan to cut his wrists with a razor blade" but "ha[d] no
intent at [the] time because he ha[d] 'something to live
for."126 She opined that Austin's "overall pattern of
cognitive performance suggests dysfunction of pre-
frontal systems."127 Dr. McGarrahan described Austin's
thought processes as "goal-directed," but noticed "he
evidenced brief delays in responding to questions and
he occasionally lost his train of thought."'28 She noted
that Austin "denied experiencing any auditory
hallucinations and there was no indication of a fixed
delusional system."'2? In Dr. McGarrahan's opinion,
"[p]sychological testing revealed significant depression,
history of problems with drugs, suicidality, history of
physical aggression, antisocial behaviors, anxiety
related to a traumatic event, identity problems and
potential for self-harm."!30 She diagnosed Austin with a
major depressive disorder, a cognitive disorder not
otherwise specified, a polysubstance disorder, an
anxiety disorder, and [**21] a personality disorder.’3

In his 2004 affidavit, Dr. Woods described Austin's
suicidal ideation and suicidal behaviors and concluded
that Austin's desire to not have a trial and to plead guilty
were evidence he was not acting rationally.’32 Dr.
Woods explained that "Austin certainly understood the
factual issues of his trial," "[h]e knew what he was being
charged with," and he '"understood the potential
consequences of his false confession."'33 In Dr. Woods'
opinion, Austin "was capable of managing impressions
and sought to minimize the appearance of any mental
ilness to ensure that his planned death could

125 Austin Br. at 26; ROA.2145-56; ROA.2161-80.
128 Pet. Ex. 93 at 007775.

127 |d. at 007778.
128 |d. at 007775.
129 I

130 /d. at 007778.

131 /d. at 007779.
132 Pet. Ex. 95 at 8-9.

133 /d. at 11.
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proceed."'3* Nonetheless, Dr. Woods concluded:

[*773] [Austin was not able to rationally assist in
the preparation of his defense] given his steadfast
desire to die by the hands of the state. This suicidal
ideation, based upon his mental disease and
reinforced by his cognitively derived inability to
effectively weigh and deliberate decisions at the
time of their presentation rendered Mr. Austin
incompetent to rationally weigh and deliberate his
legal decisions.13°

Dr. Woods also concurred in Dr. McGarrahan's
diagnosis that Austin suffered from frontal lobe
dysfunction.’®® In Dr. Woods' opinion, Austin's "pre-
existing [**22] and serious mental illness" was the
"operating cause in his decision to kill himself."13"

Austin also attached to his habeas petition an affidavit
from Dr. Brown prepared in 2007 after Dr. Brown had
reviewed Dr. McGarrahan's 2004 report.'® Dr. Brown
noted that information "relevant and significant” to his
2001 competency evaluation of Austin was withheld by
Austin "which might have provided information critical to
the determination of his competency to stand trial."139
Dr. Brown concluded that it was "possible" that Austin's
judgment was "significantly impaired by his mental
difficulties" such that Dr. Brown's determination as to
competency was incorrect in 2001.'40 The State
included in its answer to Austin's habeas petition
another affidavit from Dr. Brown obtained in 2008.747 In
that affidavit, Dr. Brown explained that, at the time of his
2007 affidavit, Austin had not provided him with the
medical information previously withheld.'¥2 Having
reviewed the information not available at the time of his
original evaluation of Austin in 2001, Dr. Brown
concluded "there [was] nothing . . . that would justify

134 g
135 |
136 Id. at 15.

137 Id. at 16.
138 Pet, Ex. 96.

139 Id.

140 |9
14TROA.1710; ROA.1806-08.
142 ROA.1806.
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changing my opinion, that would indicate that Mr.
Austin's opportunity for a fair and impartial [**23]
evaluation had been compromised because of what he
withheld, or that additional evaluation, including more
psychological testing or psychiatric interviewing, would
have made any difference."143

Dr. Woods and Dr. McGarrahan also submitted
affidavits prepared in 2012. Dr. McGarrahan concluded
that Austin "has a chronic issue with suicidal depression
and that his suicidal depression appears to have been
present at the time of his trial and competency
evaluation . . . and likely impaired his ability to reason
and make sound judgments."'#4 Dr. Woods opined that
Austin's jail records demonstrated he "was suffering
from depression, suicidality, frequent crying spells,
nightmares, racing thoughts, confusion, reduced sleep,
irritability, and poor concentration."'#® Dr. Woods
concluded that "Austin's decision to pursue the death
penalty was a direct result of contemporaneous
depression and active suicidality" and that the decisions
he made throughout trial and on appeal were thus
irrational and involuntary.48

The district court granted summary judgment to the
State and denied Austin's [*774] request for an
evidentiary hearing.’#” Although the district court held
that the TCCA applied a new rule that could not [**24]
be the basis of a procedural default, it concluded that
Austin's claims were nevertheless foreclosed and
denied a COA.148

While Austin's application for a COA was pending,
Austin wrote a letter to this court indicating he desired to
withdraw his appeal. He stated:
| wish to drop my appeals but can't seem to get any
type of response nor cooperation. | have informed
my attorney of my wishes and according to him, to
drop my appeals m[a]y actually prolong the date of

143 ROA.1806-07.

144 ROA.2150.

145 ROA.2174.

196 ROA.2177.

47 Austin v. Thaler, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 191265, 2012 WL
12537415 at *15 (S.D. Tex. Aug. 21, 2012); ROA.2767

(granting summary judgment and denying relief); ROA.2747
(denying motion for evidentiary hearing).

148 Austin v. Thaler, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 191265, 2012 WL
12537415 at *6, *15 (S.D. Tex. Aug. 21, 2012).

A-14



Appendix A

876 F.3d 757, *774; 2017 U.S. App. LEXIS 24281, **24

my execution because the courts would then
request a competency hearing. If there is any way |
could waive the compentency [sic] hearing | would
gladly do it. | was given a competency hearing just
before my trial, and another just after, but before
my direct appeals by the trial court. | was found
competent in both of those instances and see no
reason for another one.

| have just recently completed the beginners[]
course of the Blackstone Paralegal Institute with
a[n] overall score of 99.51%. This is hardly a sign of
incompetence. My TDCJ 1Q score was 123 and my
TDCJ EA Score was 12.9. Again, this is hardly a
sign of incompetence. | do have a history of mental
health issues, but nothing that can't be treated
satisfactorily with medication [**25] and
counseling. | chose to abstain from medication and
counseling though and so see no reason why my
mental health should keep me from dropping my
appeals. Also, | recently read a court case in which
your court ruled that a person could be mentally ill,
but still be competent to be executed because that
person was competent during their trial. In that
case, that should also be the case in my
case/appeals.'4®

We requested that the State and Austin's counsel
respond to Austin's request to withdraw his appeals.
Austin's counsel stated that Austin continues to suffer
from serious mental iliness and that nothing in Austin's
letter "cause[d] . . . counsel to [abandon] the legal and
factual propositions" advanced in the habeas petition
and the COA."90 Austin's counsel subsequently filed a
motion for expedited consideration of the COA.1®! We
noted that this motion conflicted with Austin's request to
withdraw and we remanded to the district court "for the
limited purpose of making findings as to whether Austin
[was] presently competent to waive further appeals of
his conviction and death sentence, and if Austin [was]
found to be competent, whether such waiver is knowing
and voluntary."1%2 We subsequently received [**26] a
letter from Austin, written prior to the remand, stating
that he wished us to either deny his request for a COA

149 Docket Entry # 47 (letter from Austin to the Fifth Circuit
received Sept. 17, 2014).

150 Docket Entry # 53 (filed Oct. 9, 2014).
151 Docket Entry # 62 (filed Nov. 14, 2014).

152 Aystin v. Stephens, 596 F. App'x 277, 278 (5th Cir. 2015)
(per curiam).
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or grant his motion to withdraw his appeal.’3

[*775] Before the district court held a competency
hearing in accordance with the remand, Austin moved to
withdraw his pro se request to withdraw his appeal.!?*
In May 2015, Austin filed a pro se letter with this court
again stating he did not feel another competency
evaluation was necessary and renewing his request for
an expedited review and denial of his appeals.’®® Austin
explained: "We all know that | am guilty and that all the
previous psychological evaluations | received that found
me to be mentally unstable was in error because of my
deception."19® Austin stated he had taken psychology
classes and was knowledgeable about manipulating
others.’®” Shortly thereafter, Austin sent this court
another letter stating that he no longer wished to have
legal representation, that a competency hearing was not
necessary because he had already had two, and that he
would not answer guestions in the event a competency
evaluation was ordered.?®® |n July 2015, Austin wrote to
the court reiterating his request that the court deny his
COA."? He requested that he be [**27] permitted to
proceed pro se.’® He again stated he would not
answer questions in any court-ordered competency
evaluation and that "[a] Fareita hearing [was] also not
necessary as [he had] already had two of them, once
when [he] chose to represent [himself] during [his] trial
and again when [he] chose to represent [himself] during
[his] direct appeal."16" Austin explained:
If any are wondering what my motives are for all of
this, it's quite simple. | wish to be executed. Either
that, or give me Life Without Parole. One or the
other. . . . | do not want out of prison. | am probably

153 Docket Entry # 73 (letter from Austin to the Fifth Circuit
written January 6, 2015 and received January 12, 2015).

154 Docket Entry # 75 (motion from Austin's counsel and letter
from Austin).

185 Docket Entry # 82 (letter from Austin to the Fifth Circuit
dated May 10, 2015).

156 |

157 Id.

158 Docket Entry # 84 (letter from Austin to the Fifth Circuit
dated May 20, 2015).

159 Docket Entry # 91 (letter from Austin to the Fifth Circuit
dated July 26, 2015).

160 |

181 |
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one of the very few guys in prison who readily admit
that | belong in prison. . . . When | was first bench
warranted back to the county jail in 2001 | was
asked what was it | wanted. | asked if | could be
guaranteed a Life sentence without ever being
brought up for parole. When | was told that couldn't
be guaranteed, | chose death. If you looked at the
trial transcript and everything else you can see that
at no point did | contest the state. | only picked up
my appeals because in a moment of weakness |
allowed a woman to convince me to pick them up.
That woman is no longer a factor in my life.162

In November, [**28] 2015, Austin sent another letter to
this court requesting denial of his appeal.'53 He restated
that he had taken psychology classes, was "good @
manipulation," and had deceived mental health experts
previously.'® This court subsequently granted in part
and denied in part Austin's COA."%% In November 2016,
Austin again wrote to the court requesting a denial of his
appeal.’® |n reference to the [*776] claims raised
concerning his mental health issues, Austin stated he
"[could] guarantee this court that | am now, and always
have been fully competent."'®’ He again suggested he
had previously deceived mental health experts and
manipulated a polygraph test.'®® He also explained that
he had refused visits from his attorney because the
visits often required him to miss meals.'89 In this letter,
he stated he would cooperate with a mental health
evaluation but only if it was conducted at the prison
because he did not want to be bench warranted back to
the county.170

162 [

183 Docket Entry # 97 (letter from Austin to the Fifth Circuit filed
Nov. 20, 2015).

164 [q.

165 Aystin v. Davis, 647 F. App'x 477 (5th Cir. 2016) (per
curiam).

166 Docket Entry # 145 (letter from Austin to the Fifth Circuit
dated Nov. 27, 2016).

167 Id.
168 [
169 [

170 Id.
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M[?] "In a federal habeas corpus appeal, we review
the district court's findings of fact for clear error and its
conclusions of law de novo."'”" Our review of this
federal habeas petition is governed by the applicable
provisions of the Anti-Terrorism [**29] and Effective
Death Penalty Act of 1996 (AEDPA).""2 Under AEDPA,
if a claim was adjudicated on the merits by a state court,
§ 2254(d) provides that a federal court cannot issue a
writ of habeas corpus unless the state court's decision
was ‘"contrary to, or involved an unreasonable
application of, clearly established Federal law, as
determined by the Supreme Court of the United States,"
or "was based on an unreasonable determination of the
facts in light of the evidence presented in the State court
proceeding."'”3 Under § 2254(e)(1), "a determination of
a factual issue made by a State court shall be presumed
to be correct" and "[t]he applicant shall have the burden
of rebutting the presumption of correctness by clear and
convincing evidence."174

Austin did not file a brief on direct appeal; no federal
claims challenging his conviction were presented to the
TCCA in its automatic review of his conviction and
sentence. The federal claims presented in his state
habeas petition were rejected by the TCCA on
procedural grounds. Accordingly, there has been no
adjudication on the merits of Austin's habeas claims to
which this court can apply § 2254(d) deference.!”> We
consider the standard of review applicable to each of
Austin's claims in [**30] our analysis of them.

M Graves v. Dretke, 442 F.3d 334, 339 (5th Cir. 2006) (citing
Valdez v. Cockrell, 274 F.3d 941, 946 (5th Cir. 2001)).

17228 U.S.C. § 2254.
173 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d).
174 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1).

75 Cf. Gonzalez v. Crosby, 545 U.S. 524, 530, 125 S. Ct.
2641, 162 L. Ed. 2d 480 (2005) (relying on § 2254(d) to define
"claim" for purposes of § 2244(b) and stating that both statutes
together "make clear that a 'claim' as used in § 2244(b) is an
asserted federal basis for relief from a state court's judgment
of conviction"); Lambert v. Blodgett, 393 F.3d 943, 969 (9th
Cir. _2004) ("[W]e hold that a state has ‘'adjudicated' a
petitioner's constitutional claim "on the merits' for the purposes
of § 2254(d) when it has decided the petitioner's right to post
conviction relief on the basis of the substance of the
constitutional claim advanced . . . .").
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We first address whether Austin's claims are
procedurally defaulted. The TCCA held that Austin's
application for habeas relief was untimely under Texas
Code of Criminal Procedure, art. 11.071, § 4(a), which
sets the filing deadlines for Texas state habeas
petitions.!”® The TCCA [*777] reasoned that § 4(a)
should be interpreted to require filing no later than 180
days after Austin waived habeas counsel or 45 days
after the State waived its right to file a brief on
appeal.’”7 The district court concluded that the
procedural rule had not been clearly announced nor
regularly followed because the TCCA had never before
interpreted the statute in such a way.'”® Accordingly, it
determined that the rule could not be the basis for a
procedural default.’”® We agree. We also note that the
State has affirmatively set forth in its brief in this court
that it does not challenge the district court's ruling that
the state procedural ground was inadequate.180

v

Austin contends that he was not competent to waive his
right to counsel, stand trial, or plead guilty (Issue 10)
and that the state trial court's determination as to
competency was not entited a presumption of
correctness under [**31] 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1)
(Issues 2, 3 and 4).81 He also argues that the state trial
court's procedures were not adequate to ensure he was
competent (Issues 6, 7, 8, 9).782 Austin presents

176 See Ex Parte Austin, No. 74372, slip op. at 2-4 (Tex. Crim.
App. May 26, 2004) (not designated for publication).

177 4.
178 ROA.2777.

179 -’d
180 State Br. at 16 n.3.

181 See Austin Br. at 77, 47, 49. Issue 3 relates to Austin's
assertion that the federal district court erred in crediting and
relying upon evidence offered by the State in its summary
judgment motion. As we noted in our partial grant of a COA,
these arguments relate to the federal district court's procedure,
are not separate grounds for relief, and are arguments we
consider in connection with Austin's substantive claims.

182 See Austin Br. at 54, 57.

Page 17 of 41

evidence of his mental health history which he contends
demonstrates his incompetence.'® In a closely related
claim, Austin asserts that his waiver of counsel and
guilty plea were not knowing and voluntary because of
his mental illness and the coercive conditions of his
confinement (Issues 16, 17).184 He also argues that the
district court improperly deferred to the state trial court's
determinations that Austin's guilty plea and waiver of
counsel were knowingly and voluntarily made (lssue 2
and 15).185

A

M[?] "[T]he Constitution does not permit trial of an
individual who lacks 'mental competency."186 A
defendant is competent to stand trial if he has "sufficient
present ability to consult with his lawyer with a
reasonable degree of rational understanding [and if] he
has a rational as well as factual understanding of the
proceedings against him."87 The Supreme Court
concluded in Maggio v. Fulford that competency to
stand trial is a question of [*778] fact.18® In Felde v.

183 ROA.2145-56; ROA.2161-80.
184 See Austin Br. at 102.

185 See Austin Br. at 47, 93.

186 Indiana v. Edwards, 554 U.S. 164, 170, 128 S. Ct. 2379,
171 L. Ed. 2d 345 (2008); see also Drope v. Missouri, 420
U.S. 162, 171,95 S. Ct. 896, 43 L. Ed. 2d 103 (1975) ("It has
long been accepted that a person whose mental condition is
such that he lacks the capacity to understand the nature and
object of the proceedings against him, to consult with counsel,
and to assist in preparing his defense may not be subjected to
a trial.").

187 Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402, 402, 80 S. Ct. 788, 4
L. Ed 2d 824 (1960) (per curiam); see also Godinez v. Moran,
509 U.S. 389, 396, 113 S. Ct. 2680, 125 L. Ed. 2d 321 (1993).

88 Maggio v. Fulford, 462 U.S. 111, 117, 103 S. Ct. 2261, 76
L. Ed. 2d 794 (1983) (per curiam); see also Thompson V.
Keohane, 516 U.S. 99, 113, 116 S. Ct. 457, 133 L. Ed. 2d 383
(1995) (noting the ‘"practical considerations that have
prompted the Court" to consider competency a "factual issue,"
namely that the trial court has a "superior capacity to resolve
credibility issues"); Demosthenes v. Baal, 495 U.S. 731, 735,
110 S. Ct. 2223, 109 [. Ed. 2d 762 (1990) (per curiam)
(considering the state court's conclusion regarding the
defendant's competence to be a factual finding); Miller v.
Fenton, 474 U S. 104, 114, 106 S. Ct 445, 88 L. Ed 2d 405
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Blackburn, this circuit relied on Fulford in determining
that a state court's [**32] finding of competence to
stand trial is a finding of fact.'®® We have reiterated that
holding in a number of cases.'® In Washington v.
Johnson and Bouchillon v. Collins—two decisions
issued after Felde— we ftreated the question of
competency as a mixed question of law and fact.!®!
mﬁ“] This circuit's rule of orderliness, however,
provides that "one panel of our court may not overturn
another panel's decision, absent an intervening change
in the law."192 Because we are bound by this circuit's
rule of orderliness, and the earlier panel decision
controls,’®3 we adhere to Felde and to Fulford and
consider competency a question of fact.194

(1985) (noting that the distinction between questions of fact
and questions of law often turns upon which "judicial actor is
better positioned than another to decide the issue in question;"
if "the issue involves the credibility of witnesses and therefore
turns largely on an evaluation of demeanor, there are
compelling and familiar justifications for leaving the process of
applying law to fact to the trial court and according its
determinations presumptive weight.").

189 Felde v. Blackburn, 795 F.2d 400, 402 (5th Cir. 1986) ("The
state court's finding of mental competence to stand trial . . . is
a finding of fact entitled to a presumption of correctness . . . .")
(citing Fulford, 462 U.S. at 116-17).

190 Miller-El v. Johnson, 261 F.3d 445, 454 (5th Cir. 2001) ("A
state court's competency determination is a finding of fact
entitled to a presumption of correctness under § 2254(d)(2)."),
rev'd on other grounds, 537 U.S. 322, 123 S. Cf. 1029, 154 L.
Ed. 2d 931 (2003); Carter v. Johnson, 131 F.3d 452, 460 (5th
Cir. 1997) (treating the question of competency as a factual
determination); Flugence v. Butler, 848 F.2d 77. 79 (5th Cir.
1988) ("A medical inquiry into competency is a fact-finding
exercise, and the factual finding of competence is presumed to
be correct.").

191 Washington v. Johnson, 90 F.3d 945, 951 (5th Cir. 1996)
("The question of competency is treated in our circuit as a
mixed question of law and fact."); Bouchillon v. Collins, 907
F.2d 589, 593 n.11 (5th Cir. 1990) ("[T]he determination of
competency is not solely a 'factual issue,' but rather is a mixed
guestion of fact and law.").

192 Mercado v. Lynch, 823 F.3d 276, 279 (5th Cir. 2016) (per
curiam) (quoting Jacobs v. Nat! Drug Intelligence Ctr. 548
F.3d 375, 378 (5th Cir. 2008)).

193 Camacho v. Tex. Workforce Comm'n, 445 F.3d 407, 410
(5th Cir. 2006).

194 Cf United States v. Saingerard, 621 F.3d 1341, 1343 (11th
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HNT7[¥] Section 2254(e) limits our review of state-court
fact findings,'®® even if no claims were presented on
direct appeal or state habeas.'®® Under § 2254(e)(1), "a
determination [*779] of a factual issue made by a State
court shall be presumed to be correct" and the habeas
petitioner bears "the burden of rebutting the
presumption of correctness by clear and convincing
evidence."'97 To the extent Austin's claims challenge
factual determinations made by the state trial court, we
apply § 2254(e)(1). To the extent Austin's claims
present questions of law and mixed questions of law
and [**33] fact, such that § 2254(e) does not apply, we
review de novo.'® Because competency is a question
of fact, we afford the state trial court the deference due
under § 2254(e)(1).199 Under § 2254(e)(1), the state

Cir. 2010) (per curiam) (recognizing, on appeal of conviction in
federal court, that competency to stand trial is a factual
determination); Unifted States v. Mackovich, 209 F.3d 1227,
1232 (10th Cir. 2000) (same); Vogt v. United States, 88 F.3d
587, 591 (8th Cir. 1996) (same); United States v. Winn, 577
F.2d 86, 92 (9th Cir. 1978) (same).

195 Virgil v. Dretke, 446 F.3d 598, 610 n.52 (5th Cir. 2006)
(applying § 2254(e)(1) to a state trial court's implicit factual
finding).

19 Appel v. Horn, 250 F.3d 203, 210 (3d Cir. 2001)
(concluding that even when § 2254(d) does not apply, §
2254(e) still applies such that a state court's factual
determinations are presumed correct); see Sharpe v. Bell, 593
F.3d 372, 379 (4th Cir. 2010) ("The deference Section
2254(e)(1) requires has particular salience when a state
court's determinations closely track the legal issues before the
federal habeas court. Where a state court looks at the same
body of relevant evidence and applies essentially the same
legal standard to that evidence that the federal court does . . .,
Section 2254(e)(1) requires that the state court's findings of
fact not be casually cast aside."); see also Loden v. McCarty,
778 F.3d 484, 494 (5th Cir. 2015) (noting that § 2254(e)
"constrains the discretion of district courts to grant evidentiary
hearings," even "[w]here section 2254(d) does not apply");
Blue v. Thaler, 665 F.3d 647, 654 (5th Cir. 2011) (Section
2254(e)(1) "pertains only to a state court's determinations of
particular factual issues, while § 2254(d)(2) pertains to the
state court's decision as a whole") (citing Miller-El v. Cockrell,
537 U.S. 322, 341-42, 123 S. Ct. 1029, 154 L. Ed. 2d 931

(2003)).
197 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1).

198 See Henderson v. Cockrell. 333 F.3d 592, 597-98 (5th Cir.
2003).

198 See Appel v. Horn, 250 F.3d 203, 210 (3d Cir. 2001).
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trial court's determination that Austin was competent to
stand trial, waive counsel, and plead guilty is presumed
correct. Austin bears the burden of rebutting that
presumption of correctness by clear and convincing
evidence.?0 Out of an abundance of caution, however,
we will also consider, in the alternative, whether Austin
is entitled to habeas relief if Austin's competency claims
are subject to review as a mixed question of law and
fact.

The trial court conducted a pretrial hearing following an
expert's evaluation of Austin's competence to consider
Austin's motion to proceed pro se. Although the primary
purpose of the hearing was to determine Austin's ability
to represent himself,2%! the trial court addressed the
guestion of Austin's competency to stand trial and waive
counsel in making that determination.2°2 The transcript
of the hearing also reflects that the state trial court was
evaluating whether Austin was competent to stand
trial. 293 |n finding Austin competent to stand trial and to
waive trial counsel, [**34] the state trial court relied on
its own interactions with Austin, his written letters to the
court, his demeanor in court proceedings, and his
responses to the trial court's questions.?%* The trial
court also relied on the professional opinion of Dr.
Brown, who conducted a competency evaluation of
Austin prior to the first Faretta [*780] hearing.205
Finally, the trial court relied on the opinion of Austin's
counsel as to Austin's competency.2%® We conclude that

200 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1).
201 2RR4,

202 See Godinez v. Moran, 509 U.S. 389, 400, 113 S. Ct. 2680.
125 L. Ed. 2d 321 (1993) (holding that waiver of the right to
counsel must be made competently, knowingly and voluntarily
to be constitutionally effective).

203 See 2RR3-6 (referencing and relying upon Dr. Brown's
report, prepared to determine if Austin was competent to stand
trial, asking Austin's counsel whether he considered Austin to
be competent, and asking Austin a series of questions about
his mental health history); see also 12RR3 (the state trial court
noting at a later Faretta hearing that it had previously
conducted a hearing and found Austin "was competent to
represent himself and was making that decision freely and
voluntarily with full knowledge of the potential consequences").

204 2RR5-14.

205 2RR4 ("[T]he Court appreciates the fact that the evaluation
has been done. It is probative information for the Court on
making a determination on his ability to represent himself.").
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the state court's competency determination is well
supported by the record.

Although Austin presents evidence of mental illness in
his federal habeas petition, he has not demonstrated by
clear and convincing evidence that he was not
competent to stand trial, waive counsel, or plead guilty.
He contends that the evidence presented in his habeas
petition—including records of two suicide attempts over
twenty years before his capital murder trial as well as
expert reports highlighting his suicidality and
depression— demonstrates he was not competent
befare, during, or after trial. A history of suicidality and
depression, however, does not render a defendant
incompetent.20”  Austin clearly demonstrated an
understanding of the [**35] charges against him and
the possible consequences, as well as an ability to
make strategic choices and to communicate clearly to
the state trial court. As Austin's own expert explained,
"Austin certainly understood the factual issues of his
trial" and "[h]Je knew what he was being charged
with."2%8 The evidence Austin presents is insufficient to
overcome the indicators of competence noted and relied
upon by the state trial court.

Austin argues that his decision to waive counsel and
plead guilty to capital murder demonstrates
incompetency. M[?] The fact that a particular
defendant "caus[es] his trial to be conducted in a
manner most likely to result in a conviction and the
imposition of the death penalty," however, is not
sufficient for a finding of incompetency.2%° This circuit

208 |d. (Awustin's counsel confirming his personal determination
that Austin was competent and stating that "it has been [his]
opinion from the first time [he] met him but out of an
abundance of caution | requested the psychiatric evaluation").

207 See Mata v. Johnson, 210 F.3d 324, 330 (5th Cir. 2000)
(noting a suicide attempt must be weighed with other evidence
relating to a defendant's competence); see also Drope v.
Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 181 n.16, 95 S. Ct. 896, 43 L. Ed. 2d
103 (1975) (recognizing that "a suicide attempt need not
always signal 'an inability to perceive reality accurately, to
reason logically and to make plans and carry them out in an
organized fashion™ (quoting David F. Greenberg, Involuntary
Psychiatric Commitments to Prevent Suicide, 49 N.Y.U. L.
REV. 227, 236 (1974))).

208 Pet. Ex. 95 at 11.

20° Roberts v. Dretke, 381 F.3d 491, 498 (5th Cir. 2004); Autry
v. McKaskle, 727 F.2d 358, 362 (5th Cir. 1984) (per curiam)
(recognizing that refusing to "plead for mercy" in a capital
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has recognized that a defendant's deliberate use of the
system to obtain the death penalty is evidence of
rationality, not incompetence.2'? Again, we presume the
state trial court's determination regarding Austin's
competency is correct; Austin has not overcome [*781]
that presumption by clear and convincing evidence.?'!

Even if, in the alternative, we were to consider [**36]
this claim a mixed question of law and fact, such that §
2254(e)(1)'s presumption of correctness does not apply
to the competency determination and our review is
instead de novo, Austin has failed to demonstrate that
he is entitled to habeas relief. His prior mental health
issues as well as his strategy before, during, and after
trial are simply insufficient to support a determination
that Austin was incompetent.

Austin asserts a number of procedural due process
claims under Pate v. Robinson?2 relating to the state
trial court's determination of competency. m[?]
"Under Pate v. Robinson, a trial court must hold a
competency hearing when there is evidence before the
court that objectively creates a bona fide question as to
whether the defendant is competent to stand trial."213

murder case does not necessarily mean that a defendant is
incompetent or acting irrationally); see also Taylor v. Horn
504 F.3d 416, 435 (3d Cir. 2007) ("Taylor's desire to confess
and receive the death penalty as punishment, and refusal to
allow witnesses during the penalty phase, are not indications
that he was incompetent. These actions are consistent with
Taylor's repeatedly expressed desire to plead guilty and
accept the consequences.").

210 See Roberts v. Dretke, 381 F.3d 491, 494, 498 (5th Cir.
2004) (concluding that the defendant's instruction to trial
counsel to "steer the trial towards imposition of the death
penalty" was not irrational nor evidence of incompetency, but
instead suggested that the defendant was "quite capable of
conversing with his trial counsel regarding trial strategy, and
was not only able to participate in his defense but was also
able to direct it").

21128 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1).

212383 U.S. 375, 385, 86 S. Ct. 836, 15 L. Ed. 2d 815 (1966)
(holding that a trial court must hold a competency hearing
when there is evidence before the court that objectively
creates a bona fide question as to whether the defendant is
competent to stand trial); see also Roberts v. Dretke, 381 F.3d

"In determining whether there is a 'bona fide doubt' as to
the defendant's competence, [a] court considers: (1) any
history of irrational behavior, (2) the defendant's
demeanor at trial, and (3) any prior medical opinion on
competency."?14 "If the trial court received evidence,
viewed objectively, that should have raised a
reasonable doubt as to competency, yet failed to make
further inquiry, the defendant has been denied a fair
trial." [**37] 215 Austin asserts that the state trial court's
failure to hold a standalone pretrial competency hearing
denied him a fair trial. He also contends that regardless
of whether the state trial court's initial pretrial finding of
competency was proper, the information about his
mental health history presented at trial should have
alerted the state trial court then to the possibility that
Austin was not competent—in other words, the
information created a bona fide doubt as to Austin's
competency such that an additional hearing was
necessary.

Because we conclude that Austin has failed to
demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that he
was not competent to stand trial, waive counsel, or
plead guilty, we similarly reject his procedural claim that
the state ftrial court was required to hold a pretrial
competency hearing and that because it did not, he was
denied a fair trial. In concluding that Austin could waive
counsel and proceed pro se, the state trial court made
an implicit finding that no bona fide doubt as to
competency existed and that a standalone competency
hearing was therefore not required.2'® We presume that
this factual finding is correct under § 2254(e)(1) and,
as [**38] noted above, Austin has failed to overcome
that presumption by clear and convincing evidence. If
we were to consider, in the alternative, the competency
determination [*782] as a mixed question of law and
fact subject to de novo review, rather than a purely
factual finding, Austin has still failed to demonstrate he
was not competent. We therefore conclude that this
procedural claim is without merit.

213 Roberts v. Dretke, 381 F.3d 491, 497 (5th Cir. 2004)
(citation omitted) (citing Pate, 383 U.S. 375, 86 S. Ct. 836, 15
L. Ed. 2d 815 (1966)).

214 Mata v. Johnson, 210 F.3d 324, 329 (5th Cir. 2000).

218 jd. (citing Carter v. Johnson, 131 F.3d 452, 459 n.10 (5th
Cir. 1997)).

491, 497 (5th Cir. 2004) (articulating the holding in Pate v.
Robinson).
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216 See Roberts v. Dretke, 381 F.3d 491, 498 (5th Cir. 2004).
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Nor is Austin entitled to relief based on his claim that the
state ftrial court failed to inquire about Austin's
competency adequately after hearing evidence during
Austin's trial about his past mental health issues that
contradicted what Austin had told the court during
earlier competency proceedings. M[?] To the
extent that this procedural claim, not adjudicated on the
merits by the state court, presents questions of law or
mixed questions of law and fact, we review de novo.2'7

In response to several specific questions from the state
trial judge during the pretrial hearing to consider Austin's
request to proceed pro se, Austin stated that he had not
had mental health issues in the past, and had not been
treated nor received counseling for mental health
issues. However, during trial, contrary evidence [**39]
was adduced. Though this evidence clearly contradicted
what Austin had previously told the state court, the trial
court knew, prior to the pretrial hearing, that Austin had
"a very bad problem with depression” and that Austin
contemplated suicide often when depressed.2'8 None of
the evidence presented during Austin's capital murder
trial undermines confidence in the state trial court's well-
supported pretrial finding of competence, a finding
based on Austin's demeanor, Dr. Brown's evaluation,
the opinion of Austin's counsel, and the court's
interactions with Austin, including correspondence from
Austin indicating an ability to reason logically and
strategically. As noted above, "[m]ental illness and
incompetence are not necessarily coexistent
conditions."1® The state trial court's failure to conduct
an additional hearing as to Austin's competency does
not warrant habeas relief,

217 See Henderson v. Cockrell, 333 F.3d 592, 598 (5th Cir.
2003).

218 See CR at 16 (letter from Austin to the trial court before
trial).

219 L aHood v. Davis, 653 F. App'x 253, 263 (5th Cir. 2016)
(citing McCoy v. Lynaugh, 874 F.2d 954, 960-61 (5th Cir.
1989); United States v. Williams, 819 F.2d 605, 608 (5th Cir.
1987)); see also Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 181 n.16, 95
S. Ct. 896, 43 L. Ed. 2d 103 (1975) (recognizing that "a suicide
attempt need not always signal 'an inability to perceive reality
accurately, to reason logically and to make plans and carry
them out in an organized fashion" (quoting David F.
Greenberg, Involuntary Psychiatric Commitments to Prevent
Suicide, 49 N.Y.U. L. REV. 227, 236 (1974))).
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HN11[#] Competence to plead guilty or to waive the
right to counsel is measured by the same standard as
competence to stand trial.?2% Nonetheless, "[a] finding
that a defendant is competent to stand trial . . . is not all
that is necessary before he may be permitted [**40] to
plead guilty or waive his right to counsel."?21 A trial court
must also "satisfy itself that the [defendant's] waiver of
his constitutional rights is knowing and voluntary."222
Before granting a defendant's [*783] clear and
unequivocal request to proceed pro se, the trial judge
"must caution the defendant about the dangers of such
a course of action so that the record will establish that
'he knows what he is doing and his choice is made with
eyes open."?22 To be voluntary, a plea must "not be the
product of 'actual or threatened physical harm, or . . .
mental coercion overbearing the will of the
defendant."224 A defendant pleading guilty must also be
competent, have notice of the charges against him,
understand the consequences of his plea, and have
available the advice of competent counsel.225 HN12[ %]
To the extent Austin's claim involves subsidiary factual
determinations made by the state trial court, we apply §
2254(e)(1)'s presumption of correctness, which Austin
must rebut by clear and convincing evidence.?2® We

220 Godinez v. Moran, 509 U.S. 389, 398, 113 S. Ct. 2680, 125
L. Ed. 2d 321 (1993).

221 |d. at 400.

222 |d at 400-01 ("In this sense there is a 'heightened' standard
for pleading guilty and for waiving the right to counsel, but it is
not a heightened standard of competence."); see also Farefta
v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 807, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d
562 (1975) (holding that the Sixth and Fourteenth
amendments include the "right to proceed without counsel"
when a criminal defendant "voluntarily and intelligently elects
to do so").

223 |Jnited States v. Cano, 519 F.3d 512, 516 (5th Cir. 2008)
(quoting United States v. Martin, 790 F.2d 1215, 1218 (5th Cir.
1986)); see also Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S. Ct.
2525, 45 1. Ed. 2d 562 (1975).

224 Matthew v. Johnson, 201 F.3d 353, 365 (5th Cir. 2000)
(quoting Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 750, 90 S. Ct.
1463, 25 L. Ed. 2d 747 (1970)).

225 |
228 See Miller v. Fenton, 474 U.S. 104, 112, 106 S. Ct. 445, 88

L. Ed. 2d 405 (1985) (recognizing the presumption of
correctness to subsidiary fact questions under the prior
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review de novo questions of law and mixed questions of
law and fact.227

Before accepting Austin's waiver of counsel, the state
trial court confirmed that Austin knew and [**41]
understood the charges against him, as well as the
possible punishment if convicted.?28 The court informed
Austin of his right to court-appointed counsel and
explained the risks and disadvantages to proceeding
pro se.?2® The court also inquired whether Austin's
waiver of counsel was made voluntarily, intelligently,
and knowingly.?®® During this exchange, Austin
explained that he wanted to proceed pro se so that he
would be able to make his own decisions about trial
strategy.23! HN13[®*] A defendant has a '"right to
conduct his own defense," even though exercising that
right "usually increases the likelihood of a trial outcome
unfavorable to the defendant."?32 The right to self-
representation "is based on the fundamental legal
principle that a defendant must be allowed to make his
own choices about the proper way to protect his own
liberty."233 Although Austin may not have been trying to
"protect his own liberty," he clearly expressed to the
state trial court his wish to make his own decisions
about trial strategy. An improper denial of Austin's right
to self-representation by the state trial court would have
amounted to structural error requiring reversal.234

Before accepting Austin's guilty plea, the state [**42]
trial court again confirmed that Austin understood the
charges against him and the possible punishment.23° |t
also [*784] admonished Austin that he had a right to a
jury trial and asked Austin a series of questions to

version of 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d)); Barnes v. Johnson, 160 F.3d
218, 222 (5th Cir. 1998).

221 See Henderson v. Cockrell, 333 F.3d 592, 598 (5th Cir.
2003).

228 2RR9.

229 2RR9-12.
230 2RR12.
212RR13-14.

232 \Weaver v. Massachusetts, 137 S. Ct. 1899, 1908, 198 L.
Ed. 2d 420 (2017) (quoting McKaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S.
168, 177 n.8, 104 S. Ct. 944, 79 L. Ed. 2d 122 (1984)).

233 Id.

234 See id.

235 9RR4.

Page 22 of 41

determine if his plea was voluntary.236 The court asked
Austin if he was of sound mind.2%” |t explained the
consequences of pleading guilty.23® The court
specifically found, based on its prior evaluation of
Austin's competency to stand trial at the first Faretta
hearing as well as prior conversations with Austin, that
Austin was "mentally competent to enter [a] plea of
guilty" and that he was "doing so freely and voluntarily
with full knowledge of the consequences."?39

The requirements for a valid guilty plea and waiver of
counsel are clearly met. Austin contends that his mental
illness and the conditions of his confinement rendered
both his guilty plea and his waiver of trial counsel invalid
because they were not knowing and voluntary.240 In
light of our conclusion that the trial court's finding of
competency was well-supported and correct even if
reviewed de novo as a mixed question of law and fact,
the evidence of depression or other mental illness does
not render an otherwise effective [**43] waiver
involuntary.?*'  Similarly, Austin has failed to
demonstrate that the conditions of his confinement
rendered his decisions involuntary or undermined his
otherwise effective waiver. Further, Austin's letter to the
trial court approximately a month before the start of trial
reflected he was no longer dissatisfied with the
conditions of his confinement and no longer suffering
from any depression.?*2 Even with the complained-of
conditions removed, Austin indicated, consistent with his

238 9RR4-5 ("Has anyone reached any agreement with you to
get you to enter your plea?"; "Has anybody promised you
anything to get you to enter your plea?"; "Has anybody
threatened you to get you to enter your plea?").

Z7T9RRS.

238 ,ld
239 9RR6.
240 Austin Br. at 102.

241 See Johnson v. United States, 344 F.2d 401, 403-04 & n.4
(5th Cir. 1965) (separating the voluntariness inquiry from the
mental competence inquiry and determining that because the
trial judge had “carefully, thoroughly, and separately
interrogated each of the defendants to ascertain whether the
plea as to each separate indictment was freely, voluntarily,
and understandably made" and had found that each plea was,
"there is no suggestion, either in the records and papers or in
the evidence on the 2255 proceeding, which even raises any
question about this conclusion, either then or now").

242 See CR at 58.
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prior statements to the court, that he would not contest
the charges against him.243

As previously noted, Austin has not presented clear and
convincing evidence sufficient to overcome the state
trial court's determination that he was competent to
waive counsel and plead guilty.?** Our independent
review confirms that Austin's plea and waiver of counsel
were not the product of state coercion or otherwise
rendered involuntary.

\'

Austin contends that his appointed trial counsel for the
seven-month period before he was allowed to proceed
pro se was ineffective for failing to undertake significant
discovery or investigation into Austin's competency, and
for failing to ask Austin more questions at the
Farefta [**44] hearing (Issue 13). The district court held
that Austin could not show prejudice from counsel's
allegedly deficient performance [*785] because the
evidence supported the state trial court's conclusion that
Austin was competent. M[’f‘] We review the district
court's conclusions of law and its conclusions of mixed
law and fact de novo.24°

M['f‘] Under the familiar test of Strickland v.
Washington, a successful ineffective assistance of trial
counsel claim requires a petitioner to show that (1)
"counsel's performance was deficient” and (2) that "the
deficient performance prejudiced the defense."?4® Trial
counsel "has a duty to make reasonable investigations
or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular
investigations unnecessary."?4’ In the context of mental
health investigation, "[t]rial counsel provides deficient
performance if he fails to investigate a defendant's
medical history when he has reason to believe that the
defendant suffers from mental health problems."248

Trial counsel in this case testified that he never doubted

243 -’d
244 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1).

245 Jones v. Cain, 227 F.3d 228, 230 (5th Cir. 2000).

246 Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct.
2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984).

247 Id. at 691.

248 Roberts v. Dretke, 381 F.3d 491, 498 (5th Cir. 2004).
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his client's competence,?4? and, though Austin points to
the lack of investigation performed, he does not allege
any facts that would have alerted counsel to the need to
investigate Austin's competency. [**45] As we have
stated before, suicidality and depression are not
necessarily indications of incompetence. Additionally, a
mental health evaluation was conducted prior to the
Faretta hearing, which determined Austin to be
competent.

Even if Austin had shown counsel's failure to investigate
to be deficient performance under Strickland, Austin has
wholly failed to support his allegation that counsel's
performance  prejudiced his defense.2°0Strickland
requires Austin to show a "reasonable probability that,
but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the
proceeding would have been different."2>! Austin is
correct that he need only show "a probability sufficient to
undermine confidence in the outcome."2°2 However, he
has failed to do so. His briefing claims that had the
district court correctly applied this standard, he would be
entitled to relief.

We agree with the district court that the evidence
presented both to the state trial court and in post-
conviction proceedings strongly supports the state trial
court's determination that Austin was competent. The
fact that Austin sought the death penalty is not, in and of
itself, sufficient to call into serious doubt his competence
to proceed to [**46] trial in light of the other evidence
before the court. His letters and colloquy with the judge
do not suggest an inability to understand the
proceedings or charges against him. To the contrary,
Austin remained articulate and focused in his aim of
representing himself and refusing to present a
defense.2%3 The court-ordered independent evaluation
further supports the state trial court's conclusion that
Austin was, in fact, competent to represent himself
[*786] at trial.?>* Finally, though Austin details various

249 2RR4.

250 Bell v. Cone, 535 U.S. 685, 695, 122 S. Ct. 1843, 152 L.
Ed 2d 914 (2002) ("Without proof of both deficient
performance and prejudice to the defense . . . the sentence or
conviction should stand.").

251 Sirickland, 466 U.S. at 694.

252 |g
253ROA.645-47.
254 ROA.648.
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psychiatric treatments, interactions with mental health
professionals, and the opinions of experts hired post-
conviction, nothing suggests he suffered any impairment
that would bear on his competency to stand trial.2%°
Even if the affidavits Austin submitted from medical
professionals may be considered on federal habeas
review since they were not presented to the state
courts, an issue we pretermit because we are denying
relief on the merits with respect to this issue, this
evidence does not alter our conclusion. Based on our
review of the record, Austin's assertion that a more
thorough investigation would have cast the competency
proceedings in such a different light as to undermine
confidence [**47] in their outcome is unpersuasive.

Vi

Austin contends that he did not receive a fair trial
because five jurors gave false or misleading answers
during voir dire, indicating that they could consider
mitigating evidence and vote for a life sentence when in
fact, they were pre-disposed to imposing the death
penalty (Issue 19). He relies on statements from those
jurors obtained during the post-conviction investigation.

A

M[?] "A juror is biased if his 'views would prevent or
substantially impair the performance of his duties as a
juror in accordance with his instructions and his
oath."2%6  Austin relies upon McDonough Power
Equipment, Inc. v. Greenwood, in which the Supreme
Court observed that "[o]ne touchstone of a fair trial is an
impartial trier of fact—'a jury capable and willing to
decide the case solely on the evidence before it."257
The McDonough Power Equipment case concerned a
direct appeal in a civil, personal injury suit in which the
jury found in favor of the defendant.2® The losing
plaintiff contended that a new trial was required because

255 See ROA.652-54.

286 Hatten v. Quarterman, 570 F.3d 595, 600 (5th Cir. 2009)
(quoting Soria v. Johnson, 207 F.3d 232, 242 (5th Cir. 2000)).

257 McDonough Power Equip., Inc. v. Greenwood, 464 U.S.
548,554, 104 S. Ct. 845,78 L. Ed. 2d 663 (1984) (quoting
Smith v. Phillips, 455 U.S. 209, 217, 102 S. Ct. 940, 71 L. Ed.

2d 78 (1982)).

258 Id. at 549-50.
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a juror failed to disclose during voir dire that his son had
sustained a broken leg as a result of the explosion of a
truck tire.2%® The Supreme Court reasoned [**48] that
"[t]o invalidate the result of a three-week trial because of
a juror's mistaken, though honest response to a
question, is to insist on something closer to perfection
than our judicial system can be expected to give."2%0
The Court then said, "[w]e hold that to obtain a new trial
in such a situation, a party must first demonstrate that a
juror failed to answer honestly a material question on
voir dire, and then further show that a correct response
would have provided a valid basis for a challenge for
cause."?®! The Fifth Circuit has assumed, without
deciding, "that a McDonough theory of juror bias would
be sufficient to obtain federal habeas relief,"262 and we
will do the same in the present case.

[*787] It is well-settled that M["F] a juror who will
automatically vote for the death penalty is challengeable
for cause.?53 Austin contends that none of the jurors
indicated during voir dire that he or she would
automatically vote for the death penalty or refuse to
consider mitigating evidence and therefore that there
was no reason to challenge any juror for cause.?%%
Austin asserts that his entitlement to habeas relief can
be determined from the transcript of voir dire when
compared to post-trial statements from five jurors [**49]
made approximately two years after trial. Austin does
not contend that the trial court erred in failing to hold an
evidentiary hearing.26® We will therefore consider only
the voir dire transcript and the post-trial statements.

Austin asserts that the jurors' post-trial statements
establish that they misled the trial court during voir dire
because the jurors confirmed to the court that they could
consider mitigating evidence, when in fact they would
not and were thus unqualified to serve.286 The federal

299 Id. at 550-51.
260 Id. at 555.
261 |d. at 556.

262 Montoya v. Scott, 65 F.3d 405, 419 (5th Cir. 1995).

263 See, e.g., Morgan v. lllinois, 504 U.S. 719, 729, 112 S. Ct.
2222 119 L. Ed. 2d 492 (1992).

284 Austin Br. at 109-10.
265 Oral Argument at 25:40 (July 12, 2017).
266 ROA.108-09; Austin Reply Br. at 60.
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district court did not consider whether Austin's evidence
supported a claim of "actual prejudice,"?®” nor whether
Austin was required to rebut, or had rebutted, by clear
and convincing evidence, 258 any implied finding by the
state trial court that the jurors were unbiased. Nor did
the district court consider whether the jurors' allegedly
misleading answers were due to inadequate questioning
on voir dire, or were a deliberate attempt to mislead the
court.269

Because of our disposition of the jury bias claim, we will
assume, without deciding, that the state trial court made
no express or implied findings that the jurors were
competent and unbiased. We will further assume,
without [**50] deciding, that there are no factual issues
decided by the state courts to which AEDPA deference
is due under 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1).

B

Austin's brief in our court focuses primarily upon William
Gibbs, one of the five jurors that Austin contends was
biased. Gibbs's voir dire contained the following
exchanges:
THE COURT: And if the evidence called for it,
[could you] answer [the special issues] in such a
way that you know a life sentence would result?
GIBBS: Yes.
THE COURT: | take it, then — and correct me if I'm
wrong — that you would be guided by the evidence,
listen to all of the evidence and answer the
questions according to the evidence, wherever that
might take you?
GIBBS: Yes.

PROSECUTION: . . . Tell us first in your own
words, what are your feelings on the death penalty?

[*788] GIBBS: | am foritand - - I'm for it. | think it's

267 See Gomez v. United States, 245 F.2d 344 (5th Cir. 1957)
(suggesting waivers of challenges to jurors premised on
"actual prejudice” or "fundamental incompetence" differ from
challenges based only on statutory disqualification).

268 See 28 U.S.C. §2254(e); Virgil v. Dretke, 446 F.3d 598, 610
n.52 (5th Cir. 2006).

269 See United States v. Scott, 854 F.2d 697, 700 n.12 (5th Cir.
1988) (comparing cases of deliberate or unreasonable
omissions to cases involving inadequate or unspecific
guestioning).

necessary for a crime deterrent, and that's about it.

PROSECUTION: . . . Okay. Can you consider,
then, in your mind that [the first special issue],
depending on the evidence, could be answered
either yes or no?

GIBBS: Yes.

PROSECUTION: Can you consider that in Issue
No. 2 that it could be answered in a yes or no
fashion?

GIBBS: Yes.

PROSECUTION: . . . Do you feel that you [**51]
can participate in that - - the deliberations,
deliberating with the jury and assess the death
penalty if the law and the evidence supports it?
GIBBS: Yes.

PROSECUTION: . . . are you saying that if you
know that the defendant is representing himself and
you know that he has a death wish, if the law and
the evidence supports assessing the death penalty,
are you saying you still could not assess the death
penalty?

THE COURT: In other words, if the evidence called
for answering those questions in such a way that
you answered the first one yes and the second one
no, you know the death penalty would result?
GIBBS: Yes.

THE COURT: Would the fact that you feel that you
would be giving a defendant something that he
wanted cause you in any way to change your
answers based on the evidence?

GIBBS: No.

THE COURT: So, then, would you - - would you, |
guess, honor your oath as a juror and base your
verdict to those questions on the evidence; and if
that's what the evidence proved to you, you would
answer them in that way?

GIBBS: Yes.

THE COURT: Even if you feel like it's kind of unfair
to give him what he would want?

GIBBS: Exactly. That's just the way that | feel.
That's not the way that - - if that's [**62] what the
law states, then that's how, | guess, | would have to
vote. But | mean - -

THE COURT: Your personal opinion - -

GIBBS: Personal feelings, | would have to say no;
but | would say | would vote the death penalty if
that's what the law stated and - -
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THE COURT: And the evidence showed?
GIBBS: Yes.270
In his post-trial statement, Juror Gibbs made the
following assertions:
| believe that 'an eye for an eye' is correct. If you Kill
someone you should face the death penalty.
Once someone is guilty of capital murder | believe
that the only appropriate penalty is the death
penalty. | do not think that there is anything that
would be mitigating so that a person should not get
the death penalty, this includes the person being
insane.

Once | heard that Perry Austin had admitted to
intentionally killing a nine year old boy | was only
going to vote one way—I was going to vote 'yes' he
was a future danger and 'no' there was nothing
mitigating. | was not going to [*789] vote for
anything other than the death penalty.2”"

The voir dire and post-trial statements of the other four
jurors are set forth in section VI(C) below. As noted,
Austin relies only on the post-trial statements to support
his contention that each [**53] of these jurors was
dishonest in answering questions posed during voir dire.
We conclude that the district court was foreclosed from
considering any of the jurors' post-trial statements by
Federal Rule of Evidence 606(b)(1) and the Supreme
Court's decisions applying that Rule. Therefore, the
district court did not err in failing to grant habeas relief
on Austin's juror bias claim.

HN18['1“'] Rule 606(b)(1) provides:

(b) During an Inquiry Into the Validity of a Verdict or
Indictment.

(1) Prohibited Testimony or Other Evidence. During
an inquiry into the validity of a verdict or indictment,
a juror may not testify about any statement made or
incident that occurred during the jury's
deliberations; the effect of anything on that juror's or
another juror's vote; or any juror's mental processes
concerning the verdict or indictment. The court may
not receive a juror's affidavit or evidence of a juror's
statement on these matters.272

The text of the rule is clear, and it explicitly directs that
"a juror may not testify about . . . the effect of anything

210 56RR32-33, 38-40, 43-44.
271 Pet. Ex. 65 at 007525-007526.

272 Fed. R. Evid. 606(b)(1).
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on that juror's . . . vote . . . or any juror's mental
processes concerning the verdict or indictment." The
Rule further provides, "[tlhe court may not receive a
juror's affidavit or evidence of a juror's statement [**54]
on these matters." Each of the post-trial statements by
jurors comes within these prohibitions.

The Supreme Court squarely held in Warger v. Shauers
that "Rule 606(b) applies to juror testimony during a
proceeding in which a party seeks to secure a new trial
on the ground that a juror lied during voir dire."?’3 The
Court rejected the argument that the inquiry under
McDonough "begins and ends with what happened
during voir dire," and therefore that Rule 606(h) should
be inapplicable.2’4 The Court reasoned that "[w]hether
or not a juror's alleged misconduct during voir dire had a
direct effect on the jury's verdict, the motion for a new
trial requires a court to determine whether the verdict
can stand."275 The Court further explained:

[A] party's right to an impartial jury remains
protected despite Rule 606(b)'s removal of one
means of ensuring that jurors are unbiased. Even if
jurors lie in voir dire in a way that conceals bias,
juror impartiality is adequately assured by the
parties' ability to bring to the court's attention any
evidence of bias before the verdict is rendered, and
to employ nonjuror evidence even after the verdict
is rendered.?76

The Ninth Circuit has similarly applied Rule 606(b) in a
direct criminal appeal in [**65] which a juror's post-trial
affidavit averred that other jurors had discussed the
evidence against the defendant "and made [*790] up
their minds about his guilt before the start of
deliberations."?’” In denying relief, the court explained

273 Warger v. Shauers, 135 S. Ct. 521, 525, 190 L. Ed. 2d 422
(2014).

214 |d_at 528 (quoting a party's brief).
275 Id.

2718 |d. at 529; see also Tanner v. United States, 483 U.S. 107,
127, 107 S. Ct. 2739, 97 L. Ed. 2d 90 (1987) (explaining that
"[tihe suitability of an individual for the responsibility of jury
service, of course, is examined during voir dire," and "after the
trial a party may seek to impeach the verdict by nonjuror
evidence of misconduct").

277 United States v. Leung, 796 F.3d 1032, 1034 (9th Cir.
2015).
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that "[tlhe notion that egregious juror conduct will not
necessarily result in relief from the verdict may seem
antithetical to our system of due process."?’® But the
Ninth Circuit discerned that "[tlhe Rule . . . exists for
good reason—it protects jurors from harassment and
maintains the integrity and finality of jury verdicts."27®
The court observed, "[w]hile persistent inquiry into
internal jury processes could 'in some instances lead to
the invalidation of verdicts reached after irresponsible or
improper juror behavior,' our very system of trial by jury
might not 'survive such efforts to perfect it."280

M[’f‘] The only exception that the Supreme Court
has made to Rule 606(b)(1)'s prohibitions is "when, after
the jury is discharged, a juror comes forward with
compelling evidence that another juror made clear and
explicit statements indicating that racial animus was a
significant motivating factor in his or her vote to
convict."?81 The Court reasoned in Pena-Rodriguez v.
Colorado that "[a]ll forms [**66] of improper bias pose
challenges to the trial process. But there is a sound
basis to treat racial bias with added precaution."?82 The
Court concluded that "[a] constitutional rule that racial
bias in the justice system must be addressed—
including, in some instances, after the verdict has been
entered—is necessary to prevent a systemic loss of
confidence in jury verdicts, a confidence that is a central
premise of the Sixth Amendment trial right."283 There is
no suggestion or indication of racial animus or bias in
the present case, and the Supreme Court has not
recognized an exception to Rule 606(b) that would apply
to the post-trial statements at issue here.

278 Id. at 1036.

279 Id.

280 Id_ (quoting Tanner. 483 U.S. at 120); see also United
States v. Davis, 960 F.2d 820, 828 (9th Cir. 1992) (rejecting a
defendant's argument in a direct criminal appeal "that his sixth
amendment right to an impartial jury was violated because
one juror stated during a post-trial interview that, '[ffrom the
first day | knew [Davis] was guilty," reasoning that "[t]he juror's
statement reflects his personal feelings and beliefs concerning
Davis" and that "[tlhe statement is insufficient to set aside a
verdict").

281 Pena-Rodriquez v. Colorado, 137 S. Ct. 855, 861, 197 L.
Ed. 2d 107 (2017).

282 Id_at 869.

283 I
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In our prior, unpublished opinion in this case granting a
COA to Austin on his jury bias claim, we reasoned:

[Plost-trial interviews concern the honesty of
statements made by the jurors during voir dire—not
statements made during deliberations, the effect of
something on the jurors' votes, or the jurors' mental
processes concerning the verdict. Rule 606(b) does
not bar admission of post-trial statements to prove
that the jurors failed to answer a material question
honestly during voir dire.2%4

That analysis was clearly incorrect in light of the
Supreme Court's decision and reasoning [**57] in
Warger v. Shauers, and, after full briefing and plenary
consideration, we now disavow our prior reasoning and
our discussion of Rule 606(b) in granting a COA on
Austin's jury bias claim. Though we cited Warger in a
footnote, our analysis of that decision was not in-depth
and was [*791] inaccurate.?8%

This court's decision in Hatten v. Quarterman,?86 which
we also cited in a footnote in our opinion and order
granting a COA on Austin's jury bias claim,28” involved
unusual circumstances and does not support Austin's
contention that the post-trial statements at issue are
admissible to impeach the jury's verdict and require a
new ftrial. In Hatten, questions as to whether a juror had
been truthful during voir dire and was biased were
raised in the midst of trial, before the case was
submitted to the jury.?88 The juror in question testified
during a hearing that was held to ascertain whether he
had lied on his juror questionnaire about whether he had
a "drug problem," among other issues.?89 Though this

284 Austin v. Davis, 647 F. App’x 477, 493 (5th Cir. 2016) (per
curiam).

285 |d. at 493 n.63.

286 570 F.3d 595 (5th Cir. 2009).

287 Austin, 647 F. App'x at 493 n.63.

288 Hatten, 570 F.3d at 600-02.

289 |d ;- see also id_at 600 (reflecting that the claims in the
subsequent federal habeas proceeding were that "Hatten [the
defendant] complains that Hollins's [the juror's] bias is
reflected by the facts that: (a) Hollins lied on his juror
questionnaire and during his questioning regarding his drug
use; (b) Hollins concealed the scope of his relationship with
Isaac Robinson, the victim's father, and with Hatten's [the
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court discussed the juror's post-trial affidavit, in which he
stated that that "he did, in fact, have a drug problem at
the time of the trial and that his drug use affected his
judgment,">®® we concluded that his response to [**58]
the jury questionnaire had been ambiguous.2®’
Importantly to the issue now before us, we concluded
that even if the affidavit called into question the juror's
truthfulness in responding to the questionnaire, the juror
had actually testified at the hearing during trial about his
guestionnaire response, the district court had concluded
that the juror's post-trial affidavit should not be credited
over that testimony, and we found no basis for
overturning the district court's factual finding in this
regard.292 The salient point is that in Hatten, there was
no actual holding by this court that a post-trial affidavit
could or did impeach a verdict. Only an implication can
be drawn from Hatten that if a post-trial affidavit
demonstrated a juror's bias, the affidavit could be used
to impeach the verdict and a new trial would be
necessary. An implication is not a holding. In any event,
to the extent that it could be argued that Hatten
contained such a holding, Hatten is inconsistent with the
Supreme Court's subsequent decision in Warger and
the Supreme Court's explication of Warger and Tanner
in Pena-Rodriguez.293

The post-trial statements of the five jurors are
inadmissible [**59] by virtue of Rule 606(b). Austin has
no other evidence that any of these jurors were less
than candid during voir dire. Austin's jury bias claim
therefore fails.

[*792] C

defendant's] stepfather; and (c) Hollins [the juror] was
threatened with prosecution during trial and consequently
must have favored the prosecution”).

290 Id. at 602.
291 Jdf.

292 See id.

293 See Pena-Rodriguez v. Colorado, 137 S. Ct. 855, 865-67,
197 L. Ed. 2d 107 (2017) (observing that "since the enactment
of Rule 606(b), the Court has addressed the precise question
whether the Constitution mandates an exception to it in just
two instances" and noting that the Sixth Amendment did not
require an exception in either instance) (citing Warger v.
Shauers, 135 S. Ct. 521, 529, 190 L. Ed. 2d 422 (2014) and
Tanner v. United States, 483 U.S. 107, 125, 107 S. Ct. 2739,
97 L. Ed 2d 90 (1987)).
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As an alternative basis for affirming the district court's
judgment with respect to Austin's juror bias claim, we
conclude that even were the jurors' posttrial statements
admissible, Austin has not demonstrated that a juror
"failed to answer honestly a material question on voir
dire," and "that a correct response would have provided
a valid basis for a challenge for cause."?%4

Two special issues were to be submitted to the jury, and
potential jurors were questioned about these issues
during voir dire. The first special issue was "[d]o you find
from the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that there
is a probability that the defendant, Perry Allen Austin,
would commit criminal acts of violence that would
constitute a continuing threat to society."?%° The second
special issue was "[d]o you find from the evidence,
taking into consideration all of the evidence, including
the circumstances of the offense, the defendant's
character and background, and the personal moral
culpability of the defendant, Perry Allen Austin, that
there is a sufficient mitigating [**60] circumstance or
circumstances to warrant that a life imprisonment rather
than a death sentence be imposed."2%

Before we consider each of the five jurors' specific voir
dire and post-trial statements, we note that none of
these jurors was asked if he or she could consider a
specific type of mitigation evidence or categories of
mitigation evidence. They were only asked whether they
could potentially answer the special issues so as to
impose a life sentence if the law and evidence so
required. We also note that the record reflects that the
murder victim's age, nine years old, was not revealed to
the jurors until the punishment phase commenced,
which was after voir dire had been completed.29’

Juror Erwin

The relevant portion of Juror Erwin's voir dire consisted
of the following exchanges:
THE COURT: And if the evidence called for it,

294 McDonough Power Equip.. Inc. v. Greenwood, 464 U.S.
548, 556, 104 S. Ct. 845, 78 L. Ed. 2d 663 (1984).

295 Pet. Ex. 36 at 001611; see also Tex. Code Crim. Proc. Ann.
art. 37.071 § 2(b)(1) (West Supp. 2002).

296 Pet. Ex. 36 at 001612; see also Tex. Code Crim. Proc. Ann.
art. 37.071 § 2(e)(1) (West Supp. 2002).

27 9RR17.
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[could you] answer [the special issue] in such a way
that you know a life sentence would result?

ERWIN: Yes.

THE COURT: | take it, then, sir, that you would
listen to the evidence, follow the law and be guided
by the evidence and the law, wherever that might
take you in this trial?

ERWIN: Whatever that is, yes.

ERWIN: There's a few cases | think you [**61]
should get the death penalty, but that's just me.
PROSECUTION: Okay, and that would be what?
What cases would those be?

ERWIN: Anything had to do with hurting the elderly
PROSECUTION: Okay.

ERWIN: - - or kids.

PROSECUTION: Children?

ERWIN: Children

PROSECUTOR: Okay. Can you see how Special
Issue No. 2 can be answered [*793] either yes or
no depending on what evidence you hear in the
courtroom?
ERWIN: Yes. 298

Erwin's post-trial statement included the following:
| believe that if you are found guilty of capital
murder the only appropriate penalty is the death
penalty. The only thing that would make that
different is if the person was insane.
After Perry Austin admitted he did the murder the
case was pretty simple. He wanted the death
penalty and we were happy to give it to him.29?

The first paragraph of the post-trial statement reflects
Erwin's beliefs as of the date of the statement. It does
not say that Erwin held these beliefs at the time of voir
dire. Two years after a trial, a juror's beliefs may have
changed, particularly after participating in a capital trial
and voting to impose a death sentence. But even if
Erwin thought during voir dire that the only circumstance
warranting a life sentence [**62] as opposed to a death
sentence would be insanity when the crime was
committed, his responses to the questions he was
asked during voir dire are consistent with that view. He
was not asked to identify what factors would cause him
to vote in favor of a life sentence. He was only asked if

298 4RR18-31.
299 Pet. Ex. 68 at 007541-007542.
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there were circumstances in which he could vote for a
life sentence, and his post-trial statement confirms that
there was at least one such circumstance.

The second paragraph of the post-trial statement does
not contradict anything that Erwin said in response to
questions during voir dire. Nothing in the second
paragraph is an assertion that the evidence called for a
life sentence but that Erwin ignored that evidence. Erwin
was not required to vote for a life sentence simply
because there was mitigating evidence. Austin admitted
to murdering a child, and during his pro se closing
statement, Austin himself set forth facts that he said
supported answering the two special issues in a way
that would result in a death sentence. Erwin's brief
characterization in his post-trial statement of why the
jury voted as it did does not contradict anything that
Erwin said during voir dire. In fact, Erwin candidly
revealed [**63] during voir dire that he thought that
somecne who killed an elderly person or a child should
receive the death penalty. We do not consider whether
there may have been cause to strike Erwin based on his
voir dire testimony or his post-trial statement because
Austin has not met the first prong of McDonough, that
Erwin was dishonest during voir dire. There is no
evidence of dishonesty.

Juror Condon

Juror Condon's voir dire contained the following relevant
exchanges:
THE COURT: And if the evidence called for it,
[could you] answer [the special issues] in such a
way that you know a life sentence would result?
CONDON: Yes.
THE COURT: All right. | take it, Mr. Condon, your
feelings are that you would listen to everything, be
guided by the evidence and the law, wherever that
might take you?
CONDON: Yes.

PROSECUTION: . . . Can you tell us in your own
words what your feelings are on the death penalty?

CONDON: Well, | feel that in certain cases it's
justifiable punishment for - - [*794] never been
asked to put it in words, | guess. If someone
commits a premeditated act of violence against
someone else, | think it's justifiable they be repaid
in kind.
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PROSECUTION: . . . Could you participate in
the [**64] jury deliberations and assessing the
death penalty if the evidence and the law directs
you to?

CONDON: Yes.

PROSECUTION: Okay. Do you understand - - can
you perceive that [the second special] issue could
be answered either yes or no as well?

CONDON: Yes.

PROSECUTION: . . . Let's say you were king of the
world. If you were the king, would your kingdom
have a death penalty?
CONDON: Yes.
PROSECUTION: And why?
CONDON: | just feel that certain crimes deserve the
ultimate punishment, | guess.3%°
In his post-conviction statement, Condon made the
following assertions:
For me, if somebody is not insane and Kkills
somebody, especially a child, the only appropriate
penalty is the death penalty. Other than showing
that it was an accident or the person was insane |
do not think that any other considerations are
relevant. If you are found guilty of capital murder
you should get the death penalty.

When | was asked at the time the jury was selected
whether | could consider voting for life | said yes
and | was thinking about a situation where
someone was insane and did not know what they
were doing.30"

The first paragraph of the post-trial statement reflects
Condon's views as of the date of the statement. [**65] It
does not say that Condon held these view during voir
dire. But even if he held those views during voir dire,
nothing in the first paragraph or the second paragraph
contradicts Condon's voir dire testimony. When asked to
"tell us in your own words what your feelings are on the
death penalty," Condon responded, "[i[f someone
commits a premeditated act of violence against
someone else, | think it's justifiable they be repaid in
kind." That is a categorical statement. It is entirely
consistent with both the first and second paragraphs of
Condon's post-trial statement, as is Condon's statement
during voir dire that "l just feel that certain crimes
deserve the ultimate punishment." Condon was not

300 5RR5-17.
801 Pet. Ex. 67 at 007533-007534, 007537-007538.
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asked during voir dire whether the only circumstance
that would cause him to vote for a life sentence would
be the insanity of the defendant. Austin has not
established the first requirement of McDonough, which
is that Condon failed to answer honestly a material
question.

Juror Gibbs

Gibbs's voir dire contained the following exchanges:
THE COURT: And if the evidence called for it,
[could you] answer [the special issues] in such a
way that you know a life sentence would result?
GIBBS: Yes.

THE COURT: | [**66] take it, then — and correct
me if I'm wrong — that you would be guided by the
evidence, listen to all of the evidence and answer
the questions [*795] according to the evidence,
wherever that might take you?

GIBBS: Yes.

PROSECUTION: . . . Tell us first in your own
words, what are your feelings on the death penalty?
GIBBS: | am for it and - - I'm for it. | think it's
necessary for a crime deterrent, and that's about it.

PROSECUTION: . . . Okay. Can you consider,
then, in your mind that [the first special issue],
depending on the evidence, could be answered
either yes or no?

GIBBS: Yes.

PROSECUTION: Can you consider that in Issue
No. 2 that it could be answered in a yes or no
fashion?

GIBBS: Yes.

PROSECUTION: . . . Do you feel that you can
participate in that - - the deliberations, deliberating
with the jury and assess the death penalty if the law
and the evidence supports it?

GIBBS: Yes.

PROSECUTION: . . . are you saying that if you
know that the defendant is representing himself and
you know that he has a death wish, if the law and
the evidence supports assessing the death penalty,
are you saying you still could not assess the death
penalty?

THE COURT: In other words, if the [**67] evidence
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called for answering those questions in such a way
that you answered the first one yes and the second
one no, you know the death penalty would result?
GIBBS: Yes.
THE COURT: Would the fact that you feel that you
would be giving a defendant something that he
wanted cause you in any way to change your
answers based on the evidence?
GIBBS: No.
THE COURT: So, then, would you - - would you, |
guess, honor your oath as a juror and base your
verdict to those questions on the evidence; and if
that's what the evidence proved to you, you would
answer them in that way?
GIBBS: Yes.
THE COURT: Even if you feel like it's kind of unfair
to give him what he would want?
GIBBS: Exactly. That's just the way that | feel.
That's not the way that - - if that's what the law
states, then that's how, | guess, | would have to
vote. But | mean - -
THE COURT: Your perscnal opinion - -
GIBBS: Personal feelings, | would have to say no;
but | would say | would vote the death penalty if
that's what the law stated and - -
THE COURT: And the evidence showed?
GIBBS: Yes 302

In his post-trial statement, Juror Gibbs made the

following assertions:

| believe that 'an eye for an eye' is correct. If you Kill
someone you should face [**68] the death penalty.

Once someone is guilty of capital murder | believe
that the only appropriate penalty is the death
penalty. | do not think that there is anything that
would be mitigating so that a person should [*796]
not get the death penalty, this includes the person
being insane.

Once | heard that Perry Austin had admitted to
intentionally Killing a nine year old boy | was only
going to vote one way—I was going to vote 'yes' he
was a future danger and 'no' there was nothing
mitigating. | was not going to vote for anything other
than the death penalty.303

The first two paragraphs reflect Gibbs' belief as of the
date of his statement. They are not evidence that he
held these views during voir dire. The third paragraph

3025RR32-33, 38-40, 43-44.
303 Pet. Ex. 65 at 007525-007526.
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reflects Gibbs' weighing of all the evidence. As
discussed above, there is no evidence that before or
during voir dire, Gibbs had "heard that Perry Austin had
admitted to intentionally killing a nine year old boy." The
record reflects that D.K.'s age was not in evidence until
after voir dire.3%4 When the facts were presented during
trial, Austin gave the fact that Austin intentionally killed a
nine-year-old child controlling weight. He did not say he
would do otherwise in his voir [**69] dire testimony.

Juror Tamayo

The relevant portions of juror Tamayo's voir dire are as
follows:
THE COURT: And | guess the other part of that
would be if the evidence called for it, could you
answer [the special issues] in such a way that a life
sentence would result?
TAMAYO: Yeah.
THE COURT: So | guess my question is can you
assure us that you would be guided by the
evidence and the law and answer those questions
accordingly, regardless of which result it might be?
TAMAYO: Yeah.
THE COURT: Yeah?
TAMAYO: Yes.

PROSECUTION: Well, why don't you tell me in your
own words what you think of the death penalty and
what purpose do you think it serves?

TAMAYO: Well, | think it's working. I'm for it.

PROSECUTION: . . . You may hear something
that's sufficient enough for you that you think even
though he's a capital murderer and he's probably
going to be dangerous, he ought to receive life
instead of death. Okay. Does that question make
sense to you?

TAMAYO: It does.

PROSECUTION: If you were the king and it's your
kingdom and you get to write the laws, would your
kingdom have a death penalty?

TAMAYO: Well, yeah. | think, yeah, it would.
PROSECUTION: Why?

TAMAYO: Because if, you know, the
evidence [**70] proves that he's going to keep, you
know, having - - making trouble and stuff, well, then

304 9RR17.
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get rid of him, forget it.

PROSECUTION: . . . Hypothetically, let's assume
during the course of the trial, if you're selected to sit
on the jury, you find out not only that he's
representing himself but that he has a death wish.
He's not asking any questions. He just sits there,
and he wants y'all to give him the death penalty.
How does that make you feel?

TAMAYO: Well, it's not whether he wants it or not.
It's just whether it's given to him or not.

[*797] PROSECUTION: Based on the law and

evidence?

TAMAYO: Right.39°
Juror Tamayo's post-trial
following:

The death penalty is especially appropriate for child

killers. | do not consider mental illness to be

mitigation because it is too easy for defendants to
lie and manipulate circumstances.396

statement contained the

Tamayo's post-trial statement does not say that he held
these views during voir dire. The statement reflects his
beliefs two years after trial. In any event, the statement
expresses the weight that Tamayo would give to two
factors. His belief that the death penalty is especially
appropriate for child killers and that he does not
consider mental illness [**71] to be mitigating is simply
how he weighs such evidence. He does not consider
mental illness to be "a sufficient mitigating
circumstance," and the special issue asked only if there
is "a sufficient mitigating circumstance or
circumstances." If Austin's position were correct, a
prospective juror would be required to confirm during
voir dire that he or she would vote for a life sentence if
there were evidence of mental illness, at least in some
circumstances. Neither the law nor the issues put to
Austin's jury requires this. The Supreme Court has long
recognized that evidence of mental illness is a two-
edged sword when a jury is deciding whether a death
sentence is appropriate.307

305 5RR46-60.
306 Pet, Ex. 85 at 007645.

307 See Brewer v. Quarterman, 550 U.S. 286, 292-93, 127 S.
Ct. 1706, 167 L. Ed. 2d 622 (2007) ("As did Penry's, Brewer's
mitigating evidence served as a 'two-edged sword' because it
tended to confim the State's evidence of future
dangerousness as well as lessen his culpability for the
crime.").
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Juror Finnegan

Juror Finnegan's voir dire proceeded, in relevant part,
as follows:
THE COURT: And, on the other hand, if the
evidence called for it, [could you] answer [the
special issues] in such a way that a life sentence
would result?
FINNEGAN: Absolutely.
THE COURT: All right. So then | take it, Mr.
Finnegan, what you're telling us is that you would
listen to all of the evidence, follow the law and
answer those questions according to the law and
the evidence, wherever that might lead you?

FINNEGAN: Absolutely. [**72]

PROSECUTION: Okay. Is there anything about
your experience working with the F.B.l. or having
been a police officer for as many years as you had
that would affect your ability to be a juror in a
criminal case?

FINNEGAN: I'd say no.

PROSECUTION: Okay. Anything about your
experience in law enforcement dealing with defense
attorneys or prosecutors that would affect your
ability to be a juror in a criminal case?

FINNEGAN: No. Purely professional.
PROSECUTION: Okay. All right. Now, why don't
you tell me, Mr. Finnegan, if you will, what your
feelings are about the death penalty and what
purpose do you think it serves in our society?
FINNEGAN: Feelings?

PROSECUTION: Yes, sir.

FINNEGAN: First, it's a necessary evil - -
PROSECUTION: Okay.

FINNEGAN: - - | would say. And the reason being
is that I'm a - - what right [*798] do | have to take
another life? However, along those same lines,
there are certain crimes which | consider heinous
crimes which | think the person, if he or she has
absolutely no remorse and possesses [sic] a
continuing threat, | could absolutely be in favor of.

PROSECUTION: . . . [W]hen you say "heinous
crimes," what types of offenses came to your mind
where you thought the death penalty might [**73]
be appropriate?

FINNEGAN: Violent crimes against a child.
PROSECUTION: Okay.

FINNEGAN: That would be, you know - - and purely
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innocent type of victim without any defense,
something along those lines. That's what first issue
came to my mind.

PROSECUTION: Can you see how special issue
No. 2 can be answered yes or no just depending on
what you hear in the courtroom?
FINNEGAN: | do.308
In his post-trial statement, Juror Finnegan made the
following assertions:
| believe that once Austin was found guilty of the
murder of the victim the only appropriate sentence
was death in accordance with Texas law. | believe
that the prosecutors chose me to be on Austin's jury
because Perry wanted to die and Perry knew that
with me working in law enforcement | would
sentence him to death. Perry allowed me to stay on
his jury.309

Nothing in Finnegan's post-trial statement indicates that
he was dishonest in responding to questions during voir
dire. Finnegan's statement refers to "the victim," not
murder victims generically. Finnegan did not say that he
would automatically vote for the death penalty in every
case.3'0 The victim in this case was a nine-year-old
boy. For the reasons discussed above, Finnegan's post-
trial [**74] statement is evidence of the weight that he
gave to the nature of the crime, not evidence that
Finnegan failed to respond truthfully to inquiries during
voir dire.

None of the post-trial statements establish that a juror
answered a question dishonestly during voir dire.

Vil

Austin contends that the district court erred in denying
his request for an evidentiary hearing (lssue 1). HN20[
'f‘] Section 2254(e)(2) controls whether a habeas
petitioner may receive an evidentiary hearing in federal
district court on the claims for which the applicant failed
to develop the factual basis in state courts.3'! |t

308 5RR66-83.
809 Pet. Ex. 94 at 007738-007739.

310 See Morgan v. Illinois, 504 U.S. 719, 729, 112 S. Ct. 2222
119 1 Ed 2d 492 (1992) ("A juror who will automatically vote
for the death penalty in every case will fail in good faith to
consider the evidence of aggravating and mitigating
circumstances as the instructions require him to do.").
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"constrains the discretion of district courts to grant
evidentiary hearings," even "[w]here section 2254(d)
does not apply."®'2 The phrase "failed to develop"
means a "lack of [*799] diligence, or some greater
fault, attributable to the prisoner or the prisoner's
counsel."313

The parties dispute whether Austin was diligent in
pursuing his competency claims, such that § 2254(e)(2)
does not apply. We need not resolve the issue with
regard to Austin's incompetency claims. H_NZ_‘[[?] "A
district court may refuse an evidentiary hearing where
there is not 'a factual dispute which, if resolved in [the
prisoner's] favor, would entitle him to relief."3% We
note [**75] that the district court granted Austin time
and funding to investigate his claims,®1® and concluded
that an evidentiary hearing was unnecessary to resolve
the claims presented in his petition.3'® Austin still fails to
adduce evidence that creates a factual dispute that, if
resolved in his favor, would entitle him to relief on his
competency claim. Austin's experts certainly opine that
he suffered from depression and suicidality. But, as
previously discussed, mere presence of mental illness
does not render a defendant incompetent. The district
court did not abuse its discretion in denying an
evidentiary hearing on the issue of competence.

With respect to the jury bias claim, it appears that Austin
pursued an evidentiary hearing in the federal district
court only on the issue of competence.3!” Austin now

311 Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 420, 429, 120 S. Ct. 1479, 146
L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000); Norman v. Stephens, 817 F.3d 226, 234
(5th Cir. 2016).

312 | oden v. McCarty, 778 F.3d 484, 494 (5th Cir. 2015); see
also Cullen v. Pinholster, 563 U.S. 170, 185-86, 131 S. Ct.
1388, 179 L. Ed. 2d 557 (2011) ("At a minimum, . . . §
2254(e)(2) still restricts the discretion of federal habeas courts
to consider new evidence when deciding claims that were not
adjudicated on the merits in state court.").

313 Norman, 817 F.3d at 234 (quoting Williams, 529 U.S. at
432).

314 |d_at 235 (quoting Clark v. Johnson, 202 F.3d 760, 766 (5th
Cir. 2000)).

315ROA.1915; ROA.1924.

316 ROA.2747-48; ROA.2766 (noting that the court would "call
for an evidentiary hearing if it determines that one is
necessary").

317 ROA.2126-31 (motion for evidentiary hearing); ROA.2133
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concedes that further factual development with regard to
his juror bias claim is not necessary.318 However, out of
an abundance of caution, and to the extent he sought
an evidentiary hearing in relation to his juror bias claims
in his briefing in our court,?1® we address whether the
district court erred in failing to conduct an evidentiary
hearing regarding juror bias. We conclude that the
district [**76] court did not abuse its discretion in
denying an evidentiary hearing.

We can determine from the record that the post-trial
juror statements at issue can be reconciled with each
juror's statements during voir dire. Further factual
development in an evidentiary hearing is not warranted.
Austin does not identify another factual dispute
regarding his juror bias claim which might independently
require further factual development.

* % %

For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM the district
court's judgment denying relief on Austin's claims.

Concur by: PRISCILLA R. OWEN

Concur

PRISCILLA R. OWEN, Circuit Judge, concurring:

| write separately to provide additional reasons that
habeas relief should be denied in this case.

In Pena-Rodriguez, the Supreme Court observed that
before Rule 606(b)'s adoption the Court had "noted the
possibility of [*800] an exception to the [common-law
no-impeachment rule] in the 'gravest and most important
cases."! "Yet since the enactment of Rule 606(b)," the

(exhibit list for Austin's motion showing exhibits appearing to
relate only to Austin's mental health).

318 Oral Argument at 25:40 (July 12, 2017).

319 Austin Br. at 47 ("Another factual dispute requiring relief if
decided in Petitioner's favor is whether jurors in the case were
biased, in particular, whether the disqualifying bias they now
express was present at the time of trial.").

1 Pena-Rodriguez v. Colorado, 137 S. Ct. 855, 865-66, 197 L.

Court continued, it "has addressed the precise question
whether the Constitution mandates an exception to [the
common-law no-impeachment rule] in just two
instances."?> Those two instances were Tanner,® in
which "the Court rejected a Sixth Amendment exception
for evidence that some [**77] jurors were under the
influence of drugs and alcohol during the trial,"* and
Warger, in which "[lhe Court again rejected the
argument that, in the circumstances there, the jury trial
right required an exception to the no-impeachment
rule."® The Court had noted in Warger that "[tlhere may
be cases of juror bias so extreme that, almost by
definition, the jury trial right has been abridged. If and
when such a case arises, the Court can consider
whether the usual safeguards are or are not sufficient to
protect the integrity of the process."” Neither the
Supreme Court nor this court has recognized an
exception to Rule 606(b) in a case like the present one.

An exception to the no-impeachment rule should not be
recognized here. Even assuming arguendo that one or
more of the five jurors answered a material question
dishonestly during voir dire, habeas relief remains
unwarranted. The record amply supports, and in fact
compels, the conclusion that Austin had resolved to
accept all jurors that the State accepted and that if,
during voir dire, the five jurors had expressed the views
contained in their post-trial statements, Austin would not
have challenged any of those jurors for cause, because
Austin's trial strategy [**78] was to obtain the death
penalty. Austin cannot now claim in a habeas
proceeding that had he known the jurors' actual views,
or had he known that they had predilections and a bias
in favor of the death penalty, he would have challenged
them for cause and thereby preserved the issue for
appeal or collateral review. The record is clear that he

Pless, 238 U.S. 264, 269, 35 S. Ct. 783, 89 L. Ed. 1300
(1915)).

21d.

3 Tanner v. United States, 483 U.S. 107, 107 S. Ct. 2739, 97 L.
Ed. 2d 90 (1987).

4 Pena-Rodriguez, 137 S. Ct. at 866 (citing Tanner, 483 U.S.
at 125).

5 Warger v. Shauers, 135 S. Ct. 521, 190 L. Ed. 2d 422 (2014).

6 Pena-Rodriguez, 137 S. Ct. at 866 (citing Warger, 135 S. Ct.
at 529).

Ed. 2d 107 (2017) (quoting United States v. Reid, 53 U.S. 361,
12 How. 361, 366, 13 1. Ed 1023 (1852) and McDonald v.

"Warger, 135 S. Ct. at 529 n.3.
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would not have challenged any of the five jurors for
cause during the trial even had there been a basis for
doing so.

It is undisputed that when voir dire occurred, Austin
intended to plead guilty, and after the jurors were
seated, Austin entered a guilty plea in their presence.
The jury was empaneled only to decide whether Austin
would receive a life sentence or a death sentence.
During closing arguments, Austin personally argued to
the jury that, because of the nature of his crime and
because of his past and future dangerousness, it should
answer the two questions submitted in a way that would
require imposition of the death penalty. The Supreme
Court has never held that, consistent with a defendant's
trial strategy, a defendant may knowingly accept a
biased juror and then, after a change of heart in
collateral proceedings, obtain automatic reversal [**79]
because of that juror's bias.

[*801] To the contrary, the Supreme Court explained in
McDonough Power Equipment, Inc. v. Greenwood, the
primary case on which Austin relies, that "[i]t is not clear
from the opinion of the Court of Appeals whether the
information stated in Greenwood's affidavit was known
to respondents or their counsel at the time of the voir
dire examination."® Importantly, the Court admonished
that "[i]f it were, of course, [defendants] would be barred
from later challenging the composition of the jury when
they had chosen not to interrogate [the potentially
biased juror] further upon receiving an answer which
they thought to be factually incorrect."® The Supreme
Court cited a decision from the Eighth Circuit in support
of this conclusion,’® which held that "[the right to
challenge the panel or to challenge a particular juror
may be waived, and in fact is waived by failure to
seasonably object."! The Eighth Circuit explained that

It is established that failure to object at the time the
jury is empaneled operates as a conclusive waiver
if the basis of the objection is known of [sic] might

8 McDonough Power Equipment, Inc. v. Greenwood, 464 U.S.
548,550 n.2, 104 S. Ct. 845, 78 L. Ed. 2d 663 (1984).

91d.

10/d. (citing Johnson v. Hill, 274 F.2d 110, 115-116 (8th Cir.
1960)).

" Johnson, 274 F.2d at 116 (quoting Batsell v. United States,
217 F.2d 257, 260 (8th Cir. 1954) (citing Carruthers v. Reed,
102 F.2d 933, 939 (8th Cir. 1939))).
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have been known or discovered through the
exercise of reasonable diligence, or if the party is
otherwise [**80] chargeable with knowledge of the
ground of the objection.?

Similarly, the Eleventh Circuit has held that reversal of a
verdict is inappropriate when a defendant permits a
potentially or actually biased juror to be seated as part
of trial strategy.’3

The point of citing these authorities is twofold. First,
Austin may well have elicited the same information that
is contained in the jurors' post-trial statements had he
questioned these jurors during voir dire.'* Second, and
more importantly, even had the jurors expressed during
voir dire what they said in their post-trial statements,
Austin would have had to have asserted a challenge for
cause to have preserved a claim of juror bias for
consideration on appeal or in a habeas proceeding. The
[*802] record establishes that Austin would not have
challenged them for cause.

Prior to trial Austin declared that he would accept every
juror that the State accepted and that he would not

12 |d. (quoting Batsell, 217 F.2d at 260 (citing 50 C.J.S. Juries
§ 251)); see also United States v. Pennington, 168 F.3d 1060,
1067 (8th Cir. 1999) (holding in a direct criminal appeal that
the defendant "waived this [juror bias] issue by not challenging
the juror when the jury was empaneled because the basis for
the objection was then known"). But see Franklin v. Anderson,
434 F.3d 412, 426-28 (6th Cir. 2006) (holding in a habeas
proceeding that a juror "was biased because she could not
understand the law," that "[t]here is no situation under which
the impaneling of a biased juror can be excused,” that "the
State can [accordingly] make no argument that [the
defendant's] trial counsel acted strategically in keeping [the
biased juror] on the panel" and that "[{]Jo permit this would be
to allow trial counsel to waive the defendant's right to an
impartial jury").

13 See generally United States v. Simmons, 961 F.2d 183, 186
(11th Cir. 1992) (holding that a district court did not commit
plain error by failing to excuse, sua sponte, certain jurors for
cause, because defense counsel's failure to exercise two
remaining peremptory strikes "may well have been a strategic
decision to retain the four jurors in question”).

14 See generally Robinson v. Monsanto Co., 758 F.2d 331, 335
(8th Cir._1985) (holding in a civil case that "the right to
challenge a juror is waived by failure to object at the time the
jury is empaneled if the basis for objection might have been
discovered during voir dire").
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exercise any peremptory challenges.!® During voir dire
at least two of the jurors that Austin now contends were
biased made statements that should have at least
prompted inquiry, if not challenges for cause, by
Austin [**81] regarding bias or pre-judgment of the
issues to be decided by the jury.

During the voir dire of Juror Erwin, the following
exchange occurred:
ERWIN: There's a few cases | think you should get
the death penalty, but that's just me.
PROSECUTION: Okay, and that would be what?
What cases would those be?
ERWIN: Anything had to do with hurting the
elderly—
PROSECUTION: Okay.
ERWIN: —or kids.
PROSECUTION: Children?
ERWIN: Children.

Similarly, during the voir dire of Juror Finnegan, this
exchange occurred:
PROSECUTION: Okay. All right. Now, why don't
you tell me, Mr. Finnegan, if you will, what your
feelings are about the death penalty and what
purpose do you think it serves in our society?
FINNEGAN: Feelings?
PROSECUTION: Yes, sir.
FINNEGAN: First, it's a necessary evil—
PROSECUTION: Okay.

FINNEGAN: —I would say. And the reason being is
that I'm a—what right do | have to take another life?
However, along those same lines, there are certain
crimes which | consider heinous crimes which |
think the person, if he or she has absolutely no
remorse and possesses [sic] a continuing threat, |
could absolutely be in favor of.

PROSECUTION: [W]hen you say "heinous crimes,"
what types of offenses came to your [**82] mind
where you thought the death penalty might be
appropriate?

FINNEGAN: Violent crimes against a child.
PROSECUTION: Okay.

FINNEGAN: That would be, you know—and purely
innocent type of victim without any defense,
something along those lines. That's what first issue
came to my mind.

Though Austin's sentence for the murder of a child

15 See generally Reporter's Record vols. 3-8; CR at 20.
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would depend on the jury's findings in favor of either life
or death, Austin remained silent throughout voir dire. He
has offered no reason for failing to question Erwin or
Finnegan as to the views they expressed during voir
dire regarding the death penalty when a child was the
victim. He has not asserted in habeas proceedings that
his counsel (himself) was ineffective for failing to
question these jurors during voir dire or for failing to
challenge them for cause. His only contention is that, if
he had known during voir dire the substance of the five
jurors' post-trial statements, he would have had grounds
to challenge each of them for cause. If grounds to
remove them for cause did exist, and had those grounds
been revealed during voir dire, then it would have been
incumbent upon Austin actually to raise challenges for
cause. Otherwise, as the Eighth Circuit [**83] cogently
explained, "[ilf a defendant is allowed to . . . forego
challenges for-cause to a biased juror and then allowed
to have the conviction [*803] reversed on appeal
because of that juror's service, that would be equivalent
to allowing the defendant to plant an error and grow a
risk-free trial."1®

It rings hollow for Austin now to contend that had he
known the five jurors' views he would have challenged
them for cause. Austin's actions, and more importantly
inactions, in declining to ask any questions during voir
dire, deciding before trial to accept all jurors the State
accepted, and declining to exercise any preemptory
challenges are entirely consistent with his trial strategy,
which he set forth in letters to the trial court. Prior to
trial, Austin advised the trial court that he was "still firm
about [his] decision to not fight this case" and that "since
[he was] not going to put up any type of defense," he
had "decided that it [was] not necessary for [him] to
review [his] case file."1”

The Supreme Court has never held that juror bias is
structural error requiring automatic reversal. In addition
to its discussion in McDonough,'® the Supreme Court
has indicated that when grounds for cause to [**84]
challenge a juror are apparent, the defendant must

16 United States v. Johnson, 688 F.3d 494, 501-02 (8th Cir.
2012) (quoting United States v. Brazelton, 557 F.3d 750, 755
(7th Cir. 2009) (internal quotations marks and citations
omitted)).

7 CR at 58 (letter from Austin to the trial court dated Feb. 19,
2002).

18 McDonough Power Equip.. Inc. v. Greenwood, 464 U.S.
548,550 n.2, 104 S. Ct 845, 78 L. Ed. 2d 663 (1984).
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properly preserve his right to challenge for cause.

In Ross v. Oklahoma, a defendant in a capital case
moved to excuse a potential juror for cause because
that member of the venire "declared that if the jury found
[the defendant] guilty, he would vote to impose death
automatically."’® When the trial court refused to excuse
the potential juror for cause, the defendant exercised a
peremptory challenge to prevent the seating of that
individual on the jury.2® The Supreme Court's actual
holding in Ross was that the trial court had erred in
refusing to strike the person for cause, but the Court
"reject[ed] the notion that the loss of a peremptory
challenge constitutes a violation of the constitutional
right to an impartial jury" because "[w]e have long
recognized that peremptory challenges are not of
constitutional dimension."?! The Court concluded that
"[s]o long as the jury that sits is impartial, the fact that
the defendant had to use a peremptory challenge to
achieve that result does not mean the Sixth Amendment
was violated."??2 The Court also said that "[i]t is well
settled that the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments
guarantee a defendant on trial for his life the right to an
impartial jury,"2® but the sentence [**85] following that
statement contained qualifiers material to the inquiry
presently before us. The Court said, "[h]ad [the biased
juror] sat on the jury that ultimately sentenced [the
defendant] to death, and had the petitioner properly
preserved his right to challenge the trial court's failure to
remove [the biased juror] for cause, the sentence would
have to be overturned."?* The prerequisite in the Court's
analysis of when a sentence would have to be
overturned was a challenge for cause that was denied
by the trial court.

[*804] The Supreme Court also discussed in Ross the
requirement of Oklahoma law "that a defendant who
disagrees with the trial court's ruling on a for-cause
challenge must, in order to preserve the claim that the
ruling deprived him of a fair trial, exercise a peremptory

18 Ross v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 81, 83-84, 108 S. Ct. 2273, 101
L. Ed. 2d 80 (1988).

20 d. at 84.
21]d. at 88.
2[d.

2 d. at 85.

24 [d. (emphasis added).
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challenge to remove the juror," and that "[e]ven then,
the error is grounds for reversal only if the defendant
exhausts all peremptory challenges and an incompetent
juror is forced upon him."5

In United States v. Martinez-Salazar, the Supreme
Court reiterated that reversal would be "require[d]" when
(1) a biased juror is seated after (2) the trial court
erroneously overruled an objection that the juror should
be excused for [*86] cause.?® In Martinez-Salazar, a
potential juror had indicated repeatedly and consistently
that he would favor the prosecution,27 and the trial court
erred in failing to dismiss that person for cause.?® The
actual holding of the Supreme Court was that even
though the defendant used a peremptory challenge to
remove the biased member of the venire and
subsequently exhausted his remaining peremptory
challenges, the defendant was "not deprived of any rule-
based or constitutional right," because the jury that
convicted him did not include a biased juror.2® But, in
dicta, the Court discussed when the seating of a biased
juror "would require reversal."** The Court first stated
that had the district court's erroneous refusal to dismiss
the potential juror for cause "result[ed] in the seating of
[a] juror who should have been dismissed for cause,"
then "that circumstance would require reversal."*! The
"circumstance" requiring reversal included the denial of
a challenge for cause. The Court then quoted its
statement in Ross: "Had [the biased juror] sat on the
jury that ultimately sentenced petitioner to death, and
had petitioner properly preserved his right to challenge
the trial court's failure to remove [the juror] [**87] for

25 |d. at 89 (citing Ferrell v. State, 1970 OK CR 139, 475 P.2d
825, 828 (Okla. Crim. App. 1970) and Stott v. State, 1975 OK
CR 132, 538 P.2d 1061, 1064-1065 (Okla. Crim. App. 1975)).

26 United States v. Martinez-Salazar, 528 U.S. 304, 316, 120
S.Ct 774, 145 L. Ed. 2d 792 (2000) (citing Ross v. Oklahoma,
487 U.S. 81, 85, 108 S. Ct. 2273, 101 L. Ed. 2d 80 (1988)).

27 |d. at 308.
28|d at 307 ("We focus on this sequence of events: the
erroneous refusal of a trial judge to dismiss a potential juror for

cause, followed by the defendant's exercise of a peremptory
challenge to remove that juror.").

29 Id.
30/d. at 316.

31]d. (quoting Ross, 487 U.S. at 85).
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cause, the sentence would have to be overturned."32

The Supreme Court's listings of "structural errors" that
require automatic reversal do not include jury bias,
either when it is raised in a direct appeal or in habeas
proceedings.3®> A plurality opinion of the [*805]
Supreme Court said in a direct criminal appeal that
"[tlhe right to an impartial adjudicator, be it judge or jury,
is" among the constitutional rights can never be treated

32 [d. (alterations in original) (quoting Ross v. Oklahoma, 487
U.S. 81, 87,108 S. Ct. 2273, 101 L. Ed. 2d 80 (1988)).

33 See, e.g., Weaver v. Massachusetts, 137 S. Ct. 1899, 1907-
09, 1911, 198 L. Ed. 2d 420 (2017) (explaining in a habeas
proceeding that "[t]he purpose of the structural error doctrine is
to ensure insistence on certain basic, constitutional
guarantees that should define the framework of any criminal
trial"; identifying "three broad rationales" for why the Court has
sometimes deemed a particular error structural: (1) when "the
right at issue is not desighed to protect the defendant from
erroneous conviction but instead protects some other interest"
and, "when exercised, 'usually increases the likelihood of a
trial outcome unfavorable to the defendant,™ such as "the
defendant's right to conduct his own defense"; (2) when the
"effects of the error are simply too hard to measure," such as
the denial of a defendant's "right to select his or her own
attorney”; and (3) when "the error always results in
fundamental unfairness," such as denying an indigent
defendant an attorney or failing "to give a reasonable-doubt
instruction"; emphasizing that "[a]n error can count as
structural even if the error does not lead to fundamental
unfairness in every case"; and holding that "when a defendant
raises a public-trial violation via an ineffective-assistance-of-
counsel claim, Strickland prejudice is not shown
automatically"); United States v. Davila, 569 U.S. 597 133
S. Ct. 2139, 2149, 186 L. Ed. 2d 139 (2013) (explaining that
the Court has "characterized as 'structural' 'a very limited class
of errors' that trigger automatic reversal because they
undermine the fairness of a criminal proceeding as a whole"
and observing that "[e]rrors of this kind include denial of
counsel of choice, denial of self-representation, denial of a
public trial, and failure to convey to a jury that guilt must be
proved beyond a reasonable doubt") (citations omitted); Neder
v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 8, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d
35 (1999) (identifying as structural errors "complete denial of
counsel," "biased trial judge," "racial discrimination in selection
of grand jury," "denial of self-representation at trial," "denial of
public trial," and "defective reasonable-doubt instruction"). But
see, e.g., Gray v. Mississippi, 481 U.S. 648, 668, 107 S. Ct.
2045, 95 L. Ed. 2d 622 (1987) (BLACKMUN, J., plurality
opinion). (holding in a direct criminal appeal that a harmless-
error analysis did not apply when a state trial court excused a
prospective juror for cause even though the juror was qualified
to serve and had not exhibited bias).
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as harmless error.®* But the Court has not held that
automatic reversal is required whenever a biased juror
is seated and a verdict is rendered by that jury. In
Gomez v. United States, the Supreme Court quoted the
plurality opinion in Gray,3° but Gomez did not involve a
biased juror. The Court held in Gomez, a direct criminal
appeal, that the harmless error rule did not apply when,
over the objection of the defendant, a magistrate judge
exceeded his jurisdiction when he presided over the
selection of a jury in a criminal case.36

Prior to the Supreme Court's decision in Olano,®” more
than one federal Circuit Court of Appeals held in the
context of a direct criminal appeal that a defendant's
failure to raise a juror's lack of [**88] impartiality would
not be considered if the issue was not raised at trial and
the factual basis of the bias claim was known at the time
of trial. In United States v. Uribe, a direct criminal appeal
involving convictions for drug ftrafficking, one of the
defendants, Rave, recognhized a juror during
empanelment,®® but Rave did not "raise the matter" in
the trial court.®® After a guilty verdict was returned, the
juror testified that he had rented a hoist to Rave and
"experienced some problems getting it back," but "that,
after some travail, Rave returned the equipment and
paid for its use."*? There was also evidence that there
were "hard feelings" between this juror and another
defendant with whom Rave was jointly tried because the
other defendant had not paid the juror for automobile
repairs.*! The First Circuit held that "[a]ithough [*806]
Rave . . . attempts to argue that [the juror's] presence
tainted his conviction, he never raised the matter below.

34 Gray, 481 U.S. at 668.

35 Gomez v. United States, 490 U.S. 858, 876. 109 S. Ct.
2237, 104 L. Ed. 2d 923 (1989) (quoting Gray, 481 U.S. at
668).

36 Id.

37 United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 732-37, 113 S. Ct.
1770, 123 L. Ed. 2d 508 (1993) (explaining, in a direct criminal
appeal, the plain-error doctrine embodied in Fed. R. Crim. P.
52(b), and setting forth its elements).

38 890 F.2d 554, 560 (1st Cir. 1989).

3 Id. at 560 n.4.
40 Id. at 560.

Hd.
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He is, therefore, foreclosed on appeal."*2 The court
reasoned that "[s]urely, the raise-or-waive rule is fully
operative in respect to these rulings"® and that the
"plain-error doctrine [is] to be invoked 'sparingly' and
only to avert 'miscarriage of justice."44

Similarly, [**89] in United States v. Rodriguez-Garcia, a
direct criminal appeal decided before Olano, the Tenth
Circuit affirmed a conviction and refused to consider a
claim of juror bias raised for the first time on appeal
when the basis for the bias could have been pursued
with the trial court.*® In that case, the defendant
contended "that he did not receive an impartial jury as
guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and [was]
therefore entitled to a new trial" because he knew and
had worked at a hospital with one of the jurors, and that
juror had not admitted to knowing him.4¢ The
defendant's "counsel failed to challenge this juror" and
raised the "claim of juror bias" for the first time on
appeal.*’” The Tenth Circuit reasoned that "[t]his court
has observed that 'there may be situations where the
litigant waives any objection to the composition of the
jury by failing to pursue the matter in timely fashion
[which] is consistent with the general rule that a
defendant, by accepting a jury, waives his right to object
to the panel.™#® This decision likewise indicates that the
Tenth Circuit did not view potential juror bias known to a
defendant or counsel as automatically requiring reversal
when no for-cause challenge was raised in [**90] the
trial court.4?

42 |d. at 560 n.4.

43 [d. (citing United States v. Griffin, 818 F.2d 97, 100 (1st Cir.
1987) and United States v. Frady, 456 U.S. 152, 163 n. 14,
102 S. Ct. 1584, 71 L. Ed. 2d 816 (1982)).

44 jd. (quoting Frady, 456 U.S. at 163 n.14).

45 United States v. Rodriguez-Garcia, 983 F.2d 1563, 1572-73
(10th Cir. 1993).

46 Jd. at 1572.

4 d.

48 |d_at 1572-73 (alteration in original) (quoting United States
v. Diaz-Albertini, 772 F.2d 654, 657 (10th Cir. 1985)).

49 See also United States v. Harris, 530 F.2d 576, 579-80 (4th

Even after Olano, as discussed above, the Eighth
Circuit has held that when the basis for a bias claim is
known at the time of trial and no for-cause challenge is
made, a defendant cannot obtain reversal on appeal,
because that would be tantamount to insuring a risk-free
trial.°? In Johnson, Juror S.R. stated during voir dire that
there was a possibility that she could not be objective
and might give more weight or find more credible the
testimony of a law enforcement officer because her
former roommate and very good friend was a parole and
probation officer.°! The Eighth Circuit concluded that
"by failing to object to the seating of Juror S.R. during
voir dire, [the defendant] 'intentional[ly] relinquish[ed] or
abandon[ed] . . . a known right" within the meaning of
Olano and "thereby waived his right to challenge the
[*807] impaneling of an allegedly biased juror on direct
appeal."2 The Eighth Circuit also disavowed a prior
decision in a habeas proceeding that had reasoned
"[w]hen a defendant fails to object to the qualifications of
a juror, he is without remedy only if he fails to prove
actual bias," reasoning that the habeas decision was
contrary to an earlier opinion of the Eighth Circuit, which
controlled. [**91] 3 The court further expressed its
conclusion that the earlier decision correctly set forth the
standard of review since otherwise a defendant could
choose to withhold an objection for cause, await a
verdict, then appeal and reverse an adverse
judgment.>*

In the present case, the district court denied Austin's
juror bias claim on the sole basis that "Austin had an
opportunity to question the potential jurors, and
challenge those he thought unsuitable, but he chose not

"[w]here the basis for a challenge to a juror could be timely
shown the failure of the defendant to object at the inception of
the trial constituted a waiver of his right to challenge the
constitution of the jury").

%0 See United States v. Johnson, 688 F.3d 494, 501-02 (8th
Cir. 2012).

511d. at 500.
52|d. at 501.

58 |d. (citing and quoting Johnson v. Armontrout, 961 F.2d 748,
751 (8th Cir. 1992)).

54 |d. at 501-02. But see United States v. Brown, 26 F.3d 1124,

Cir. 1976) (rejecting in a direct criminal appeal the defendant's
contention that "one of the jurors knew him before trial and
may have been prejudiced against him," reasoning that
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1126, 307 U.S. App. D.C. 60 (D.C. Cir. 1994) (concluding that
"plain error analysis is applicable to a sixth amendment claim
not raised at trial").
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to do s0"° and that "[h]e has therefore waived this
claim."® In our order granting a COA on Austin's juror
bias issue, we said that "claims based on actual bias, as
opposed to implied bias, are not waived by a failure to
object during voir dire."®” This was not intended as an
all-encompassing, broadly sweeping proposition of law.
The sole decision we cited for this statement was
vacated in its entirety by the grant of en banc rehearing
in our court®® and therefore was not a precedential
decision. Additionally, the statement in the vacated
opinion was dicta.’® A claim of actual bias may be
raised even if no objection was made during voir dire,
depending on the facts of a particular case and its
procedural posture. This would [**92] be the case, for
example, when neither a defendant nor her counsel had
a reason to know of the bias and voir dire questioning
would not have revealed the bias. But the decided
weight of the authorities in this area, discussed above,
concludes that there are circumstances when the failure
to object or move to strike a juror for cause precludes
reversal of the verdict on appeal or in habeas
proceedings based on juror bias.

To be clear, | am not suggesting that Austin waived his
claim of juror bias by failing to question the jurors during
voir dire. Rather, an alternate ground for affirming the
district court's judgment regarding the jury bias claim is
that one of McDonough's requirements—that besides
showing "that a juror failed to answer honestly a
material question on voir dire" a claimant must "further
show that a correct response would have provided a
valid basis for a challenge for cause"®® —necessarily
assumes that, had voir dire provided a valid basis for
making a for-cause challenge, the claimant would have
made the challenge. Because Austin made a conscious
decision as a matter of trial strategy [*808] to accept all
jurors accepted by the State, and because [**93] the
record supports the conclusion that Austin would not

% ROA.2799 (citing 3 Tr. at 3-79; 4 Tr. at 3-66; 5 Tr. at 3-90).

%6 /d.

57 Austin v. Davis, 647 F. App'’x 477, 493 (5th Cir. 2016).

58|d. at 493 n.64 (citing United States v. Wilson, 116 F.3d
1066, 1086-87 (5th Cir 1997), rev'd on other grounds, United
States v. Brown, 161 F.3d 256, 258 (5th Cir.1998) (en banc)).

59 See Wilson, 116 F.3d at 1087.

80 McDonough Power Equip., Inc. v. Greenwood, 464 U.S.

have challenged the jurors for cause had they
expressed during voir dire what they expressed in the
post-trial statements, Austin cannot now say that he has
met McDonough's requirements.

It is unclear whether, in a habeas proceeding, a
defendant would be entitled to have a jury's verdict set
aside upon establishing the elements of McDonough,
without an assessment of the impact of the
constitutional error on the state-court criminal trial. It is
also unclear whether 28 US.C. § 2111 applies. It
provides that "[o]n the hearing of any appeal or writ of
certiorari in any case, the court shall give judgment after
an examination of the record without regard to errors or
defects which do not affect the substantial rights of the
parties."®1 It would seem that in many if not most cases
when both prongs of McDonough are met the impact on
the trial would obviously be injurious or the substantial
rights of a party would be affected. But the present case
is a relatively unusual one. To the extent that the
analysis set forth by the Supreme Court in Fry v.
Pliler®2 and Brecht v. Abrahamson®® applies, any
constitutional error that occurred because any one of
the five [**94] challenged jurors participated in the
verdict did not have a substantial and injurious impact
on the verdict.

In assessing harmlessness on direct review, the
Government bears the burden of proving that a
constitutional error was "harmless beyond a reasonable
doubt."% On collateral review, however, "concerns
about finality, comity, and federalism,"®® mandate that a
federal habeas petitioner bears the burden, and the
standard is whether the error actually prejudiced him.66

6128 U.S.C. § 2111.

62551 U.S. 112, 127 S. Ct 2321, 168 L. Ed. 2d 16 (2007).

63507 U.S. 619, 113 S. Ct. 1710, 123 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1993).

84 Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L.
Ed. 2d 705 (1967).

8 Fry v. Pliler, 551 U.S. 112, 116, 127 S. Ct. 2321, 168 L. Ed.
2d 16 (2007).

68 Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619, 637, 113 S. Ct. 1710,
123 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1993); see also Fry. 551 U.S. at 117. 121-

548, 556, 104 S. Ct. 845, 78 L. Ed. 2d 663 (1984).
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22 (noting that Brecht "clearly assumed that the Kotteakos
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To determine whether an error actually prejudiced the
petitioner, courts inquire whether the error had "a
substantial and injurious effect or influence" on a jury
verdict,"” meaning "there is more than a [*809] mere
reasonable possibility that it contributed to the
verdict."8

In this case, Austin's guilt was not in question. He pled
guilty. During the trial on the question of the appropriate
penalty—life or death—Austin consistently vocalized
and pursued a strategy designed to persuade the jury to
answer the Texas special issues such that he received
the death penalty. Austin did not testify.89 He did cross-
examine one witness and make a closing statement;
during both, he [**95] only contested the State's
suggestion to the jury that he was a pedophile.”® Austin
expressed to the jury at closing that he would kill again
and explained why the jury should answer the special
issues such that he received a death sentence.”’
Although some evidence of Austin's mental health
history was presented to the jury during the sentencing
phase, Austin himself presented no mitigating evidence.
It cannot be said that any error had a substantial and

standard would apply in virtually all § 2254 cases" and
"suggested an exception only for the 'unusual case’ in which 'a
deliberate and especially egregious error of the trial type, or
one that is combined with a pattern of prosecutorial
misconduct, . . . infects the integrity of the proceeding™ and
holding that the Brecht standard applies "whether or not the
state appellate court recognized the error and reviewed it for
harmlessness under the ‘'harmless beyond a reasonable
doubt' standard set forth in Chapman"); Hogue v. Johnson,
131 F.3d 466, 498-99 (5th Cir. 1997) (concluding that the
Brecht standard applies to determine whether a constitutional
error was harmless in a federal habeas challenge even when
no state court reviewed petitioner's claim and therefore never
determined whether the error was harmless).

67 Brecht, 507 U.S. at 637, see also Fitzgerald v. Greene, 150
F.3d 357, 366 (4th Cir. 1998) ("Based upon the forgoing
circumstances, combined with the overwhelming evidence of
Fitzgerald's guilt, his propensity for future dangerousness, and
the vileness of his crimes, we are confident that Bradshaw's
presence on the jury did not result in actual prejudice to
Fitzgerald.").

88 Woods v. Johnson, 75 F.3d 1017, 1026 (5th Cir. 1996)
(emphasis in original); see also United States v. Bowen, 799
F.3d 336, 356 (5th Cir. 2015).

89 10RR78.
09RR125-26; 11RR15-18.
" 11RR16, 19-20.

injurious effect on the verdict.

End of Document
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IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FIFTH CIRCUIT

No. 13-70024

PERRY ALLEN AUSTIN,
Petitioner - Appellant

V.

LORIE DAVIS, DIRECTOR, TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF CRIMINAL
JUSTICE, CORRECTIONAL INSTITUTIONS DIVISION,

Respondent - Appellee

Appeal from the United States District Court
for the Southern District of Texas

ON PETITION FOR REHEARING

Before OWEN, ELROD, and HAYNES, Circuit Judges.
PER CURIAM:

IT IS ORDERED that the petition for rehearing is DENIED.

ENTERED FOR ? COURT:

s o

UNITED STATES CIRCUIT JUDGE
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Austin v. Davis

United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit
May 6, 2016, Filed
No. 13-70024

Reporter
647 Fed. Appx. 477 *; 2016 U.S. App. LEXIS 8456 **

PERRY ALLEN AUSTIN, Petitioner—Appellant, v.
LORIE DAVIS, DIRECTOR, TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF
CRIMINAL JUSTICE, CORRECTIONAL INSTITUTIONS
DIVISION, Respondent—Appellee.

Notice: PLEASE REFER TO FEDERAL RULES OF
APPELLATE PROCEDURE RULE 32.1 GOVERNING
THE CITATION TO UNPUBLISHED OPINIONS.

Prior History: [**1] Appeal from the United States
District Court for the Southern District of Texas. USDC
No. 4:04-CV-2387.

Austin v. Thaler, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 191265 (S.D.
Tex., Aug. 21, 2012)

Core Terms

competency, jurors, contends, state trial, district court,
asserts, waive counsel, state court, guilty plea, argues,
issues, competent to stand trial, federal district court,
voir dire, appointed, waived, trial court, proceedings,
segregation, questions, jurists, summary judgment,
sentence, murder, evidentiary hearing, death penalty,
incompetent, post-trial, suicide, bias

Case Summary

Overview

HOLDINGS: [1]-A Texas death row inmate was entitled
to a COA on his claim that the district court improperly
denied him an evidentiary hearing, as jurists of reason
could debate whether the inmate satisfied the diligence
requirement of 28 U.S.C.S. § 2254(e)(2); [2]-28
US.C.S. § 2254(e)(1) overrode the usual summary
judgment standard, but only when the state court had
made a specific factual finding. A COA was warranted
as to whether the district court correctly applied the
standard; [3]-Reasonable jurists could debate whether

the district court applied the correct standard in
examining the state trial court's competency
determinations; [4]-No COA was warranted on a Brady
claim because the inmate could have obtained the
records at issue; [9]-A COA was warranted as to some
jurors but not others on a claim of actual bias in
considering mitigating evidence.

Outcome
Request for COA granted in part and denied in part.

LexisNexis® Headnotes

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Appeals > Certificate of Appealability

HN1[.‘.] Appeals, Certificate of Appealability

The Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act of
1996, Pub. L. No. 104-132, 100 Stat. 1214, requires a
federal habeas petitioner to obtain a certificate of
appealability (COA) before an appellate court may
review a district court's denial of relief. 268 U.S.C.S. §
2253(c)(1)(A). A COA may issue if the applicant has
made a substantial showing of the denial of a
constitutional right. § 2253(c)(2). A petitioner must show
that reasonable jurists could debate whether the petition
should have been resolved in a different manner or that
the issues presented were adequate to deserve
encouragement to proceed further. In a death penalty
case, the court resolves any doubts as to whether a
COA should issue in the petitioner's favor.

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Review > Standards of
Review > Contrary & Unreasonable Standard
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Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Review > Scope of Review

HN2[.".] Standards of
Unreasonable Standard

Review, Contrary &

If habeas claims have been adjudicated on the merits in
State court proceedings, 28 U.S.C.S. § 2254(d) applies.
Under § 2254(d), a federal court's review is limited to
the evidence presented in the state court proceeding. 28
U.S.C.S. § 2254(d)(2) limits review under § 2254(d)(1)
to the record before the state court that adjudicated the
claim on the merits. Further, a federal court may not
grant relief unless a state court decision was (1)
contrary to, or involved an unreasonable application of,
clearly established Federal law, as determined by the
Supreme Court, or (2) based on an unreascnable
determination of the facts in light of the evidence
presented in the State court proceeding. 28 U.S.C.S. §
2254(d)(1)-(2).

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Review > Burdens of Proof

Evidence > Burdens of Proof > Clear & Convincing
Proof

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Review > Standards of
Review > Presumption of Correctness

HN3[.‘£] Review, Burdens of Proof

A clear-and-convincing-evidence standard under 28
US.C.S. § 2254(e)(1) applies to a state court's factual
determinations. This provision attaches a presumption
of correctness to a state court's determination of a
factual issue and requires a petitioner to rebut this
presumption by clear and convincing evidence. 28
U.S.C.S. § 2254(e)(1).

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Review > Burdens of Proof

Evidence > Burdens of Proof > Clear & Convincing
Proof

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Review > Standards of
Review > Deference

Page 2 of 18

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Review > Standards of
Review > Contrary & Unreasonable Standard

HN4[.‘L] Review, Burdens of Proof

The clear-and-convincing evidence standard of 28
US.C.S. § 2254(e)(1)—which is arguably more
deferential to the state court than is the unreasonable-
determination standard of § 2254(d)(2)—pertains only to
a state court's determinations of particular factual
issues, while § 2254(d)(2) pertains to the state court's
decision as a whole.

Civil Procedure > ... > Summary
Judgment > Entitlement as Matter of
Law > Appropriateness

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Procedure > Court Rules

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Review > Standards of
Review > Presumption of Correctness

HN5[.‘L] Entitlement as Matter of

Appropriateness

Law,

A federal habeas court applies the ordinary summary
judgment standards, except when they conflict with the
habeas rules. When 28 US.C.S. § 2254(e)(1)'s
presumption of correctness attaches to a particular state
court finding of fact, it overrides the ordinary rule that, in
a summary judgment proceeding, all disputed facts
must be construed in the light most favorable to the
nonmoving party.

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Appeals > Standards of
Review > De Novo Review

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Appeals > Standards of Review

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Evidentiary Hearings > Review of Denials

HN6[.“.] Standards of Review, De Novo Review

A court of appeals reviews the application of 28
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U.S.C.S. § 2254(e)(2) de novo, but the court of appeals
reviews the district court's decision to grant or deny an
evidentiary hearing for abuse of discretion.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Evidentiary Hearings > State Prisoners

HN7[1’.] Evidentiary Hearings, State Prisoners

28 U.S.C.S. § 2254(e)(2) bars an evidentiary hearing if
a petitioner fails to develop the factual basis of a claim
in State court, subject to exceptions.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Evidentiary Hearings

HN8[.*.] Habeas Corpus, Evidentiary Hearings

A district court must consider whether a hearing could
enable an applicant to prove the petition's factual
allegations, which, if true, would entitle the applicant to
federal habeas relief.

Civil Procedure > ... > Summary
Judgment > Entitlement as Matter of
Law > Appropriateness

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Procedure > Court Rules

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Review > Standards of
Review > Presumption of Correctness

HNQ[A‘.] Entittement as Matter of Law,

Appropriateness

The ordinary summary judgment standard applies in a
habeas proceeding only to the extent that it does not
conflict with the habeas statutes. Therefore, 28 U.S.C.S.
§ 2254(e)(1)—which mandates that findings of fact
made by a state court are presumed to be correct—
overrides the ordinary rule that, in a summary judgment
proceeding, all disputed facts must be construed in the
light most favorable to the nonmoving party.

Civil Procedure > Judgments > Summary

Page 3 of 18

Judgment > Entitlement as Matter of Law

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Review > Standards of
Review > Presumption of Correctness

HN10[.“L] Summary Judgment, Entitlement as Matter
of Law

By the terms of 28 U.S.C.S. § 2254(e)(1), Smith v.
Cockrell's modified summary judgment standard applies
only when a state court has made a specific factual
finding, not to the entire case.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Review > Burdens of Proof

Evidence > Burdens of Proof > Clear & Convincing
Proof

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Review > Standards of
Review > Presumption of Correctness

HN11 [;‘.] Review, Burdens of Proof

28 U.S.C.S. § 2254(e)(1) requires a petitioner to rebut
the presumption of correctness that attaches to a state
court's determination of a factual issue by clear and
convincing evidence.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary
Proceedings > Pretrial Motions &
Procedures > Competency to Stand Trial

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of
Review > Clearly Erroneous Review > Findings of
Fact

HN12[&%]  Pretrial Motions &
Competency to Stand Trial

Procedures,

Whether a defendant suffers from a mental disorder or
incapacitating mental illness is a question of fact
reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard, but a
reviewing court takes a "hard look" at the ultimate
competency finding. The reviewing court reviews a
district court's decision regarding competency of a
defendant to stand trial, when a hearing has been
conducted in federal court, as a mixed question of law
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and fact.

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Jurisdiction > Cognizable
Issues > Questions of State Law

HN13[.".] Cognizable Issues, Questions of State
Law

Federal habeas relief is unavailable for state law

violations.

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Entry of
Pleas > Guilty Pleas > Competency

Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary
Proceedings > Pretrial Motions &
Procedures > Competency to Stand Trial

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Entry of
Pleas > Guilty Pleas > Knowing & Intelligent
Requirement

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Entry of
Pleas > Guilty Pleas > Voluntariness

Criminal Law &
Procedure > Counsel > Waiver > Standards

HN14[.".] Guilty Pleas, Competency

Competency to waive counsel or plead guilty is a two-
part inquiry. First, the defendant must be competent to
stand trial. Second, the waiver or guilty plea must be
knowing and voluntary.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary
Proceedings > Pretrial Motions &
Procedures > Competency to Stand Trial

HN15%]  Pretrial Motions &
Competency to Stand Trial

Procedures,

Competency to stand trial turns on a defendant's
capacity to understand the nature and object of the
proceedings against him, to consult with counsel, and to
assist in preparing his defense.

Page 4 of 18

Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary
Proceedings > Pretrial Motions &
Procedures > Competency to Stand Trial

HN16[&]  Pretrial Motions &
Competency to Stand Trial

Procedures,

The focus of a competency inquiry is the defendant's
ability to understand the proceedings.

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Discovery &
Inspection > Brady Materials > Brady Claims

HN17[;‘.] Brady Materials, Brady Claims

The prosecution violates Brady if it suppresses evidence
that is favorable to the defense, material either to guilt or
punishment, and not discoverable through due
diligence.

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Discovery &
Inspection > Brady Materials > Duty of Disclosure

HN18[.!’.] Brady Materials, Duty of Disclosure

Brady does not obligate the State to furnish a defendant
with exculpatory evidence that is fully available to the
defendant through the exercise of reasonable diligence.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Counsel > Right to
Counsel

Legal Ethics > Client Relations > Conflicts of
Interest

HN19[..".] Counsel, Right to Counsel

A defendant has a right to counsel free from conflicts of
interest. But an attorney's duty to advocate for his client
is limited to legitimate, lawful conduct and counsel
cannot assist the client in violating the law.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Counsel > Right to
Counsel > Critical Stage

HNZO[.".’.] Right to Counsel, Critical Stage
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The right to counsel applies to pretrial critical stages that
are part of the whole course of a criminal proceeding in
which defendants cannot be presumed to make critical
decisions without counsel's advice.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Counsel > Right to
Counsel > Critical Stage

Criminal Law & Procedure > Counsel > Effective
Assistance of Counsel > Tests for Ineffective
Assistance of Counsel

HN21[.“2] Right to Counsel, Critical Stage

Unlike a claim under Strickland v. Washington, prejudice
is presumed in certain circumstances described in
United States v. Cronic. A Cronic violation occurs if a
defendant is denied counsel at a critical stage of trial or
if counsel entirely fails to subject the prosecution's case
to meaningful adversarial testing. The rationale of
Cronic applies only when counsel's failure to test the
prosecutor's case is "complete"; counsel must fail to
oppose the prosecution throughout the proceeding as a
whole.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Juries &
Jurars > Disqualification & Removal of Jurors > Bias

Criminal Law & Procedure > Juries & Jurors > Voir
Dire > Questions to Venire Panel

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Challenges for
Cause > Bias & Impartiality > Capital Cases

HN22[..*..] Disqualification & Removal of Jurors, Bias

To establish a claim of jury bias arising from voir dire, a
party must show that a juror failed to answer honestly a
material question on voir dire, and that a correct
response would have provided a valid basis for a
challenge for cause. A capital murder defendant may
challenge for cause the inclusion of a juror who will
automatically vote to impose the death penalty.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Juries & Jurors > Jury
Deliberations > Privacy of Deliberations

Evidence > ... > Competency > Jurors > Deliberatio
ns
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Criminal Law & Procedure > Juries & Jurors > Voir
Dire > Questions to Venire Panel

HN23[&]
Deliberations

Deliberations, Privacy of

Jury

Fed. R. Evid. 606(b) limits the admissibility of juror
testimony during an inquiry into the validity of a verdict.
Specifically, Rule 606(b) prohibits a juror from testifying
about any statement made or incident that occurred
during the jury's deliberations; the effect of anything on
that juror's or another juror's vote; or any juror's mental
processes concerning the verdict. Fed. R. Evid.
606(b)(1). Rule 606(b) does not bar admission of post-
trial statements to prove that the jurors failed to answer
a material question honestly during voir dire.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Juries &
Jurors > Disqualification & Removal of
Jurors > Inquiry

Evidence > ... > Competency > Jurors > Deliberatio
ns

Criminal Law & Procedure > Juries & Jurors > Voir
Dire > Questions to Venire Panel

HN24[.".] Disqualification & Removal of Jurors,
Inquiry

In its most common form, juror misconduct occurring
before deliberations (and before trial) involves giving
false answers on voir dire. Misconduct of this sort can
be proved by means of affidavits or testimony by jurors,
although not by means of statements made during
deliberations by the juror in question.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Juries & Jurors > Voir
Dire > Appellate Review

Criminal Law & Procedure > Juries &
Jurors > Disqualification & Removal of Jurors > Bias

Criminal Law &
Procedure > ... > Reviewability > Preservation for
Review > Exceptions to Failure to Object

HN25[$] Voir Dire, Appellate Review

Claims based on actual juror bias, as opposed to
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implied bias, are not waived by a failure to object during
voir dire.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Juries &
Jurars > Disqualification & Removal of Jurors > Bias

HNZG[.".] Disqualification & Removal of Jurors, Bias

Juror impartiality is a question of fact.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Appeals > Procedural
Matters > Records on Appeal

HN27[.*.] Procedural Matters, Records on Appeal

To establish a claim of incompleteness of the record on
appeal, a petitioner must show the omission of a
substantial and significant portion of the record.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Capital
Punishment > Cruel & Unusual Punishment

HNZB[J'.] Capital Punishment, Cruel & Unusual
Punishment

The U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit has
repeatedly upheld Texas's execution protocol, which
calls for the administration of a lethal dose of a single
drug, pentobarbital.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Review > Antiterrorism & Effective Death
Penalty Act

HN29[."L] Review, Antiterrorism & Effective Death
Penalty Act

The Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act of
1996's standard of review cannot be waived.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Capital
Punishment

Criminal Law & Procedure > Habeas
Corpus > Procedure

Page 6 of 18

HN30[¥%] Sentencing, Capital Punishment

When a death-row inmate seeks to withdraw his habeas
petition, a habeas court must conduct an inquiry into the
defendant's mental capacity, either sua sponte or in
response to a motion by the petitioner's counsel, if the
evidence raises a bona fide doubt as to his competency.

Counsel: For PERRY ALLEN AUSTIN, Petitioner -
Appellant: Richard John Bourke, Christine Marie
Lehmann, Louisiana Capital Assistance Center, New
Orleans, LA.

For LORIE DAVIS, DIRECTOR, TEXAS DEPARTMENT
OF CRIMINAL JUSTICE, CORRECTIONAL
INSTITUTIONS DIVISION, Respondent - Appellee:
Jeremy Craig Greenwell, Esq., Assistant Attorney
General, Office of the Attorney General, Postconviction
Litigation Division, Austin, TX.

Judges: Before OWEN, ELROD, and HAYNES, Circuit
Judges.

Opinion

[*480] PER CURIAM:"

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2254, Perry Allen Austin, a
Texas death-row inmate, requests a certificate of
appealability (COA) following the district court's denial of
his petition for a writ of habeas corpus and request for
an evidentiary hearing. Austin raises twenty-one (21)
issues. His request for a COA is granted in part and
denied in part.

Because Austin's claims relate primarily to his alleged
mental illness, we begin by briefly outlining his mental-
health history. In 1975, at age fifteen, [**2] Austin
attempted suicide and was diagnosed with an
adolescent adjustment reaction in a mixed personality.
In 1978, he raped one of his adolescent sisters at
gunpoint and attempted to rape another, before robbing
a third, older sister and his mother. Awaiting trial, he
again attempted suicide, and a psychiatrist diagnosed

"Pursuant to 571 Cir. R. 47.5, the court has determined that
this opinion should not be published and is not precedent
except under the limited circumstances set forth in 57H CIrR. R.
47.5.4.
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him as having a "severe personality disturbance with
schizoid thinking and anti-social features" and "latent
borderline schizophrenia." A jury convicted Austin of
rape, attempted rape, and aggravated robbery.

Following this conviction, Austin was released on parole
in 1991 and began a sexual relationship with J.O., a
fourteen-year-old female. Through J.O., Austin met
D.K., a nine-year-old male. D.K. disappeared in August
1992. While investigating D.K.'s disappearance, police
discovered Austin's relationship with J.O. and charges
were brought against Austin. He pled guilty to sexual
assault of a child and received a thirty-year sentence. In
April 1993, D.K.'s remains were found. Although there
was physical evidence connecting Austin to D.K.'s
murder and Austin admitted that D.K. had been in his
vehicle the day of D.K.'s disappearance, police did not
believe they had [**3] sufficient evidence to prove
Austin was responsible for D.K.'s murder.

Austin alleges that prison conditions caused his mental
health to deteriorate after he was incarcerated for
sexually assaulting J.O. In 1995, he stabbed another
prisoner and received an additional twenty-year
sentence. By this point, Austin was confined in
administrative segregation.

In September 2000, Austin wrote a letter to a Houston
police officer, stating that he would confess to D.K.'s
murder if he would be guaranteed the death penalty.
Austin  was interviewed at the state prison and
confessed orally and in writing to slitting D.K.'s throat
with a knife because Austin was angry at D.K.'s brother
for allegedly stealing drugs from Austin's car. Austin was
indicted for capital murder on February 15, 2001. On
March 21, Mack Arnold was appointed to represent
Austin.

On May 15, 2001, Austin sent a letter to the state trial
court asking to waive counsel and plead guilty. He
indicated he would accept a death sentence and not
appeal. He also stated that his mental stability was
declining and that he had [*481] resumed the use of
drugs. Arnold filed a motion to have Dr. Jerome Brown,
a clinical psychologist, examine Austin. The [**4] court
granted the motion on July 13. On July 19, Austin sent a
letter to the court asking to be removed from
administrative segregation, stating that he was suffering
from depression and frequently contemplated suicide.
During an in camera conference, the court told Austin
that a psychological evaluation must occur before the
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Faretta' hearing, which would address whether Austin
was competent to waive counsel.

Dr. Brown interviewed Austin on September 20 and
prepared a report. The report acknowledged Austin's
use of alcohol and psychotropic drugs in prison, but
otherwise, it did not mention any past or present mental
health issues. Dr. Brown found that Austin did not show
signs of mental illness and concluded that he was
competent to stand trial.

The state court held a Faretta hearing on October 11,
2001. The court expressly relied on Dr. Brown's report.
Arnold, Austin's counsel, opined that Austin was
competent. The court's questions to Austin primarily
focused on his understanding of the possible
consequences of representing himself and of the
charges against him, but the court asked four questions
about Austin's mental-health history. Arnold briefly
questioned Austin, inquiring only [**56] about Arnold's
representation of Austin. The court issued findings and
granted Austin's motion to proceed to trial pro se but
appointed Arnold as standby counsel.

Austin did not participate in jury selection and pleaded
guilty. During the punishment phase, Austin briefly
cross-examined one witness about his relationship with
J.0. In closing argument, Austin contended that he was
not a pedophile, but with respect to Texas's two special-
issues, he told the jury that he would commit further acts
of violence in prison and that there were no mitigating
circumstances. The jury answered Texas' special issues
such that a death sentence was imposed.

The court held a second Faretta hearing in which Austin
waived appellate counsel. The state court appointed
standby appellate counsel. Austin's case was
automatically appealed to the Texas Court of Criminal
Appeals (TCCA). He filed no brief, and the TCCA
affirmed his conviction.2 Two months later, the state trial
court found Austin competent and permitted him to
waive the right to habeas counsel. Proceeding pro se,
Austin waived the pursuit of post-conviction relief. Six
days before his scheduled execution date, Austin
moved to have state habeas counsel [**6] appointed
and indicated he wished to pursue post-conviction relief.
The trial court withdrew the execution date and

1 Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed.
2d 562 (19795).

2See Austin v. State, No. 74372, 2003 WL 1799020 (Tex.
Crim. App. Apr. 2, 2003).
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appointed counsel, but the TCCA denied Austin's
motion to file an untimely habeas petition.3

Austin timely filed a federal habeas petition. The State
argued that Austin's claims were procedurally defaulted,
but the district court held that the TCCA applied a new
rule that could not be the basis of a procedural default.
The court denied Austin's motion for an evidentiary
hearing, granted summary judgment to the State, and
denied Austin a COA. Austin now seeks a COA from
this court.

[*482] Il

As an initial matter, the State contends, in a lengthy
footnote in its brief, that the federal district court erred in
concluding that Austin's claims for relief (other than
Issue 21 in our court) were not procedurally defaulted.
The TCCA held that Austin's application for habeas
relief was untimely. That court reasoned that under Tex.
Crim. Pro. Art. 11.071 § 4(a), which required Austin to
file his habeas petition no later than 180 days after the
appointment of counsel or 45 days after the State's brief
was filed, Austin's petition was time-barred [**7] after
45 days had passed following the State's waiver of its
right to file a brief. The federal district court concluded
that since Austin's case was the first in which the TCCA
had construed § 4(a) in this manner, it was not a
procedural rule that was regularly followed and therefore
could not be the basis for procedurally defaulting
Austin's state habeas claims.

Because reasonable jurists could debate whether the
TCCA's ruling was one that could serve as an adequate
state procedural ground on which to deny federal
habeas review, we do not resolve the question today.
We will consider it in connection with the appeal of the
issues on which we today grant a COA to Austin.

HN1["F] The Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty
Act of 1996 (AEDPA)* requires a federal habeas

3 See Ex Parte Austin, No. 59,527-01 (Tex. Crim. App. July 6,
2004), available at
http //www search_txcourts.gov/SearchMedia.aspx ?MediaVersi
oniD=a0dc5220-2918-4cff-alfc-
57bb35291ce7&coa=coscca&DT=0PINION&MedialD=852244
e8-e3f3-4d2d-b424-7c05a03bb973 .
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petitioner to obtain a COA before an appellate court
may review a district court's denial of relief.°> A COA
may issue if the applicant has "made a substantial
showing of the denial of a constitutional right."® A
petitioner must show that "reasonable jurists could
debate whether . . . the petition should have been
resolved in a different manner or that the issues
presented were adequate to deserve encouragement to
proceed further."” [**8] In a death penalty case, we
resolve "any doubts as to whether a COA should issue"
in the petitioner's favor.®

M[?] If claims have been "adjudicated on the merits
in State court proceedings,” 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d)
applies. Under § 2254(d), a federal court's review is
limited to "the evidence presented in the state court
proceeding."® Further, a federal court may not grant
relief unless a state court decision was (1) "contrary to,
or involved an unreasonable application of, clearly
established Federal law, as determined by the Supreme
Court," or (2) "based on an unreasonable determination
of the facts in light of the evidence presented in the
State court proceeding."?

HN3[7I"] A clear-and-convincing-evidence standard
under § 2254(e)(1) applies to a state court's factual
determinations.’” This provision [*483] attaches a

4Pub. L. No. 104-132, 100 Stat. 1214.

5See 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(1)(A).

8/d. § 2253(c)(2).

7 Miller-El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322, 336, 123 S. Ct. 1029, 154
L. Ed. 2d 931 (2003) (quoting Slack v. McDaniel, 529 U.S.
473,484, 120 S. Ct. 1595, 146 L. Ed. 2d 542 (2000)) (internal
quotation marks omitted).

8 Medellin v. Dretke, 371 F.3d 270, 275 (5th Cir. 2004)
(quoting Hernandez v. Johnson, 213 F.3d 243, 248 (5th Cir.

2000)).

928 U.S.C. § 2254(d)(2); see also Cullen v. Pinholster, 563
U.S. 170, 185, 131 S. Ct. 1388, 179 L. Ed. 2d 557 (2011)
(limiting review under § 2254(d)(1) to the record before the
state court that adjudicated the claim on the merits).

028 U.S.C. § 2254(d)(1)-(2).

:_See Blue v. Thaler, 665 F.3d 647, 654 (5th Cir. 2011) (HN4[
4] "The clear-and-convincing evidence standard of §
2254(e)(1)—which is 'arguably more deferential' [**9] to the
state court than is the unreasonable-determination standard of
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presumption of correctness to a state court's
"determination of a factual issue" and requires a
petitioner to rebut this presumption by "clear and
convincing evidence."1?

M[?] We apply the ordinary summary judgment
standards, except when they conflict with the habeas
rules.”™ When § 2254(e)(1)'s presumption of
correctness attaches to a particular state court finding of
fact, it "overrides the ordinary rule that, in a summary
judgment proceeding, all disputed facts must be
construed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving
party."M

Austin also challenges the district court's denial of an
evidentiary hearing. H_NS[?] We review the application
of § 2254(e)(2) de novo,’™ but we review the district
court's decision to grant or deny an evidentiary hearing
for abuse of discretion.'®

We will identify the issues Austin has presented in our
court by the same number Austin has used in his brief in
our court. In many instances, Austin has included in a
parenthetical following his statement of an issue a
reference to the Roman numeral he assigned to claims
he asserts that he presented in his federal district court
application for [**10] a writ of habeas corpus. We
include Austin's parenthetical references.

v

Austin contends that the district court erred in denying
his motion for an evidentiary hearing (lssue 1). He
argues that neither 28 US.C. § 2254(d) nor the
Supreme Court's decision in Cullen v. Pinholster'” apply

§ 2254(d)(2)—pertains only to a state court's determinations of
particular factual issues, while § 2254(d)(2) pertains to the
state court's decision as a whole." (foothotes omitted) (quoting
Wood v. Allen, 558 U.S. 290, 301, 130 S. Cf. 841, 175 L. Ed.
2d 738 (2010))).

1228 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1).

13Smith v. Cockrell, 311 F.3d 661, 668 (5th Cir. 2002),
abrogated on other grounds by Tennard v. Dretke, 542 U.S.
274, 124 S. Ct. 2562, 159 L. Ed. 2d 384 (2004).

g,

15 Conner v. Quarterman, 477 F.3d 287, 293 (5th Cir. 2007).

16 See Schriro v. Landrigan, 550 U.S. 465, 475, 127 S. Ct
1933, 167 L. Ed. 2d 836 (2007).
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because there was no decision on the merits in state
court. He further contends that § 2254(e)(2)'® does not
apply unless the applicant has shown a lack of diligence
in failing to develop the factual basis of a claim in state
court proceedings. He argues that he "pursued claims in
state court through the filing of his state post-conviction
petition but it was defaulted [by the Texas Court of
Criminal Appeals] applying a new rule of Texas
procedure." He asserts that there are factual disputes
regarding his mental state and its impact on his waiver
of counsel and his guilty plea, and that if these factual
issues are resolved in his favor, he would be entitled to
relief.

Jurists of reason can debate whether Austin has
satisfied § 2254(e)(2)'s diligence requirement."® Further,
many of Austin's claims [**11] turn on conflicting expert
[*484] opinions.2® Jurists of reason can debate
whether the district court abused its discretion by
denying an evidentiary hearing.2! We grant a COA on
this issue.

v

Austin argues that the district court erred in holding that
under 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e), the court could not construe
the factual allegations in Austin's response to the State's
motion for summary judgment in Austin's favor (Issue 2).
The district court reasoned that Austin's factual
allegations had been adversely resolved by express or
implicit findings of the state trial court and that Austin
had failed to demonstrate by clear and convincing

17563 U.S. 170, 131 S. Ct. 1388, 179 L. Ed. 2d 557 (2011).

8 See HN7[7|“] 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(2) (barring an evidentiary
hearing if a petitioner fails "to develop the factual basis of a
claim in State court," subject to exceptions not relevant here).

8 Cf. Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 420, 437, 120 S. Ct. 1479,
146 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000) ("[Nln the usual case . . . the prisoner
[must], at a minimum, seek an evidentiary hearing in state
court in the manner prescribed by state law." (emphasis
added)).

20 Cf. Hall v. Quarterman, 534 F.3d 365, 371-72 (5th Cir. 2008)
(per curiam).

21 See Landrigan, 550 U.S. at 474 (explaining that M[?] a
district court must consider whether a "hearing could enable
an applicant to prove the petition's factual allegations, which, if
true, would entitle the applicant to federal habeas relief").
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evidence that the presumption of correctness in §
2254(e)(1) should not apply.

Austin argues that our court's decision in Smith v.
Cockrell?? is not controlling. In that case, we explained
that M[?] the ordinary [**12] summary judgment
standard applies in a habeas proceeding only to the
extent that it does not conflict with the habeas
statutes.?3 Therefore, "§ 2254(e)(1)—which mandates
that findings of fact made by a state court are 'presumed
to be correct'—overrides the ordinary rule that, in a
summary judgment proceeding, all disputed facts must
be construed in the light most favorable to the
nonmoving party."24

Austin  contends that Smith's modified summary
judgment standard is dicta. Although our opinion in
Smith did not mention the inapplicability of the "light
most favorable" standard when discussing the evidence,
it is clear that we did not view the evidence in the light
most favorable to Smith.2°> The discussion and
application of §2254(e)(1) in Smith is not dicta.

Austin contends that Smith conflicts with our decision in
Clark v. Johnson.?® But Clark held only that summary
judgment rules apply in habeas proceedings "as a
general principle."?’ We noted that the district court
viewed the facts in the light most favorable to Clark,28
but we did not discuss the interaction between §
2254(e)(1) and the light-most-favorable standard. HN70[
'1“] By the terms of § 2254(e)(1), Smith's modified
summary judgment standard applies [**13] only when a
state court has made a specific factual finding, not to the
entire case. Clark is consistent with Smith.

We note that in Smith, the Texas courts denied habeas
relief on the merits. However, in the present case, the

22311 F.3d 661, 668 (5th Cir. 2002), abrogated on other
grounds by Tennard v. Dretke, 542 U.S. 274, 124 S. Ct. 2562,
159 L. Ed. 2d 384 (2004).

23 /g,
24 [
25 See id. at 682.

%6 202 F.3d 760 (5th Cir. 2000).

27 |d. at 764, 768.

2 |d. at 768.
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Texas courts did not consider Austin's habeas claims on
the merits. Although the state trial court made factual
findings regarding Austin's competency, Austin
contends that he has presented evidence that the state
trial court's evaluation of Austin prior to trial and prior to
waiver of appellate counsel was inadequate. Jurists of
reason [*485] could debate whether the federal district
court correctly applied the summary judgment standard
in the present case, and we grant a COA on Issue 2.

Vi

Austin asserts in Issue 3 that the federal district court
erred in crediting and relying upon evidence offered by
the State in its summary judgment motion and attached
affidavits. Austin argues that the State attached an
affidavit from an expert witness, Dr. Brown, stating that
new information not available at the time of trial would
not have changed his opinion and that he continues to
believe that Austin was competent. Austin argues that
this opinion is directly rebutted by his [**14] experts. He
argues that no court, including the state trial court,
heard his experts' testimony, there was no opportunity
to cross-examine Dr. Brown, and there is no basis for
assessing the credibility of experts. Austin asserts that
summary judgment is not available even under a clear
and convincing standard if the non-movant (in this case
Austin) is able to present testimony that, if accepted,
would entitle him to relief. Austin asserts that the federal
district court relied upon the State's new evidence and
ignored Austin's new evidence regarding Austin's
competency, waiver of counsel, guilty pleas, Brady
claims, and claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at
a Faretta hearing. Austin further contends that the
federal district court adopted the State's claims
regarding the circumstances of Austin's confinement
and the effect of these circumstances on his mental
health in spite of factual disputes.

These arguments assert that the federal district court's
procedure was tainted, and we are persuaded by this
court's reasoning in an unpublished decision?® that they
are not separate grounds for relief from the state court
judgment. We will consider these arguments in
connection with Austin's [**15] substantive claims.

Vi

2 Kelly v. Dretke, 111 F. App'x 199, 201 n.1 (5th Cir. 2004).
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Austin argues that the district court erroneously applied
§ 2254(e)(1)'s®° deferential standard to questions of law
and mixed questions of law and fact (Issue 4). Austin
contends that the district court applied § 2254(e)(1) to
the state court's conclusions that Austin was competent
to waive counsel, to plead guilty, and to stand trial.

We held in United States v. McKnight that

M['f‘] [wlhether a defendant "suffers from a
mental disorder or incapacitating mental illness is a
question of fact reviewed under the clearly
erroneous standard" but this Court takes a "hard
look" at the ultimate competency finding. Moody v.
Johnson, 139 F.3d 477, 482 (5th Cir. 1998) (citation
omitted). This Court reviews a district court's
decision regarding competency of a defendant "to
stand ftrial, when a hearing has been conducted in
federal court, as a mixed question of law and fact."
1d.31

In McKnight, a direct criminal appeal, we concluded that
because the district court did not clearly err in relying on
expert testimony, even though that testimony was
sharply disputed by other expert testimony, the district
court [**16] did not abuse its discretion in denying a
defendant's [*486] motion to withdraw his guilty plea
on the basis that he was mentally ill and incompetent at
the time that he pled guilty.

Reasonable jurists could debate whether the district
court in the present case applied the correct standard
under AEDPA in examining the state trial court's
determinations that Austin was competent to waive
counsel, to plead guilty, and to stand trial. We grant a
COA on this issue.

Vi

Austin faults the state trial court for failing to empanel a
jury to determine competency in accordance with Texas
law. But M[?] federal habeas relief is unavailable
for state law violations.®2

30 M[’t‘] 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1) (requiring a petitioner to
rebut the presumption of correctness that attaches to a state
court's "determination of a factual issue" by clear and
convincing evidence).

31570 F.3d 641, 648 (5th Cir. 2009).

32 F g., Swarthout v. Cooke, 562 U.S. 216, 219, 131 S. Ct.
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Within the same issue, Austin contends that the trial
court never made a finding that Austin was competent to
stand trial and therefore that the federal district court
erred in deferring to a finding of competence to stand
trial (Issue 5). Austin acknowledges that the state court
found him competent to waive counsel and to represent
himself at trial and subsequently found Austin
competent to enter a plea of guilty. M[’?‘]
Competency to waive counsel or plead guilty is a two-
part inquiry.3 First, the defendant must be "competent
to stand trial." [**17] 3¢ Second, the waiver or guilty plea
must be "knowing and voluntary."3® Because the state
trial court accepted Austin's waiver of counsel and guilty
plea, the question is whether the court determined
Austin was competent to stand trial.

Austin's state trial counsel requested a competency
evaluation. An expert was appointed by the court to
conduct that evaluation, and the expert concluded that
Austin was competent to stand trial. At the beginning of
Austin's Faretta hearing, counsel stated that he had
always believed that Austin was competent to stand
trial; he explained that he only requested an evaluation
"out of an abundance of caution." The state trial court
judge noted that Dr. Brown's evaluation was "probative
information" in making the decision to allow Austin to
represent himself. Dr. Brown expressly concluded that
Austin was competent to stand trial. The judge also
questioned Austin:

THE COURT: Have you ever

mentally incompetent?

[AUSTIN]: No, ma‘am.

THE COURT: Have you ever been treated for any

mental health disorder?

[AUSTIN]: No, ma‘am.

been declared

THE COURT: . . . Ever have any mental health
problems while you were in the Army?
[AUSTIN]: No, ma‘am.

THE COURT: Ever seek any [**18] mental health
counseling while you were in the Army?
[AUSTIN]: No, ma‘am.

859, 178 L. Ed. 2d 732 (2011) (citing Estelle v. McGuire, 502
US. 62 67 112 S. Ct. 475, 116 L. Ed. 2d 385 (1991)).

33 Godlinez v. Moran, 509 U.S. 389, 401, 113 S. Ct. 2680, 125
L. Ed 2d 321 (1993).

34 Id. at 400.

35 g
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After further questioning, the state court found that
Austin could "understand the implications and dangers
of self-representation." The court also found that Austin
had been "informed of the general nature of the offense
charged and the possible [*487] penalties, although
the Court finds he is fully aware of those."

M["f‘] Competency to stand trial turns on a
defendant's "capacity to understand the nature and
object of the proceedings against him, to consult with
counsel, and to assist in preparing his defense."*¢ The
court's findings, explicitly relying on Dr. Brown's
evaluation concluding Austin was competent, reflect that
the court determined that Austin was competent to
stand trial.3” We deny a COA on this issue.

IX

In Issue 6, Austin asserts that the deferential standard
of review of factual determinations required by §
2254(e)(1) should not have been applied to the state
trial court's findings of competence to plead guilty, stand
trial and waive counsel because inadequate procedures
were utilized by the state trial court in
determining [**19] competence. Because this issue is
intertwined with Issues 8, 9 and 10, on which we grant a
COA infra, we grant a COA on issue 6 as well.

X

Austin asserts in Issue 7 that the district court erred in
holding that habeas relief should not be granted even if
the state trial court failed to provide adequate
procedural due process in determining Austin's
competency to stand trial because Austin failed to
demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that he
was incompetent to stand trial. Austin asserts that this
issue in our court pertains to Claims Il and Il that he
asserted in the federal district court.

Austin contends that when a bona fide doubt as to
competence exists and an inadequate inquiry was
made, relief should be granted even if the petitioner has
not proven his incompetence to stand trial. Austin cites

3 Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 171. 95 S. Ct. 896, 43 L.
Ed. 2d 103 (1975).

37 See Godinez, 509 U.S. at 401 n.12 (HN16['1“] "The focus of
a competency inquiry is the defendant's . . . ability to
understand the proceedings.").
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the Supreme Court's decisions in Pate v. Robinson3®
and Dusky v. United States,3® and decisions of this and
another circuit court.*® Austin relatedly contends that
the district court erred in denying relief under Pate
unless Austin proved by clear and convincing evidence
that he was incompetent. Because reasonable jurists
could debate whether the district court erred in this
regard, we [**20] granta COA on Issue 7.

Xl

In Issue 8 (Claim II), Austin argues that the district court
erred in granting summary judgment on his claim that
the state trial court denied due process by failing to
conduct an adequate inquiry into his pre-trial
competency. Austin discusses evidence that he
contends raised a bona fide doubt as to his competency
and notes that the state court sua sponte ordered a
competency evaluation. Austin contends that the state
trial court's process thereafter was inadequate because
the court proceeded on inadequate information and
conducted no hearing to resolve conflicting evidence,
there was no adversarial testing of the evidence, the
competency evaluation [*488] failed to meet prevailing
standards for forensic mental health assessments, and
the state trial court's colloquy with Austin was shallow.
We grant a COA on this issue.

X

Austin asserts in Issue 9 (Claim [ll) that the district court
erred in granting summary judgment on the claim that
the state trial court denied due process when it failed to
make adequate further inquiries into competence when
new evidence came to light. Austin argues that after the
first Faretta hearing, prior to and during trial, [**21]
additional information came to light, including: that
Austin had suffered from serious mental illness from
early childhood, he had been subject to prior mental
health assessments as a juvenile and in the army, he
had pled not guilty by reason of insanity to an earlier
offense and a psychologist had testified in support of

38383 U.S. 375 86 S. Ct. 836, 15 L. Ed. 2d 815 (1966).

39362 U.S. 402, 80 S. Ct. 788, 4 L. Ed. 2d 824 (1960).

40 Roberts v. Dretke, 381 F.3d 491, 497-98 (5th Cir. 2004),
McGregor v. Gibson, 248 F.3d 946, 952-54 (10th Cir. 2001)
(en banc).
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that plea, he had a history of suicide attempts, he was
seeking the death penalty as a method of suicide, he
had lied to the state trial court in the colloquy about his
competency, and he was consulting a psychologist
while awaiting trial.

We grant a COA on this issue.

Xin

In Issue 10 (Claims IV and XXIV), Austin contends that
the district court erred in granting summary judgment on
the claim that he was subjected to a capital trial and
sentenced to death when not competent in violation of
his substantive due process rights. Austin contends that
there is evidence from experts that at the time of trial
and of his waivers of counsel, Austin suffered from
severe depression and active suicidality in combination
with pre-frontal lobe dysfunction that drove him to seek
the death penalty irrationally and involuntarily as a
means of committing suicide and deprived him of
his [**22] ability to make rational decisions in relation to
his case. Austin contends that the federal district court
failed to refer to any of Austin's affirmative evidence of
incompetence and instead relied on the State's
evidence. We grant a COA on this issue.

Xv

Austin asserts in Issue 11 that the district court erred in
granting summary judgment on his claims that the State
violated Brady v. Maryland*! by failing to produce
certain records pertaining to his competency to stand
trial, which were in the custody of the Texas Department
of Criminal Justice (TDCJ). M['f‘] The prosecution
violates Brady if it suppresses evidence that is favorable
to the defense, material either to guilt or punishment,
and not discoverable through due diligence.*?

Austin's Brady claim fails because he cannot show that
the State suppressed the TDCJ records. L-[_N_‘I_B[’l"]
"Brady does not obligate the State to furnish a
defendant with exculpatory evidence that is fully
available to the defendant through the exercise of
reasonable diligence."*® Austin argues that a defendant

#13730U.5.83,83S. Ct. 1194, 10L. Ed 2d 215 (1963).

42 See Graves v. Cockrell, 351 F.3d 143, 153-54 (5th Cir.

with a history of mental illness cannot be expected to
assist counsel in locating records detailing his
condition.** But Austin's mental health was a prominent
issue [**23] throughout the state trial proceedings, and
the TDCJ records were [*489] readily obtainable
through ordinary discovery. Had Austin or counsel
wished to pursue a competency defense, they could
have requested the records from the State. We deny a
COA on this issue.

XV

Austin asserts three claims of ineffective assistance of
counsel (Issues 12, 13 and 14).

A

Austin alleges that appointed counsel Mack Arnold, who
briefly represented Austin before he was allowed to
proceed pro se, had an actual conflict of interest (Issue
12 (Claim VII)). Arnold informed the sheriff's office that
Austin had expressed an intent to kill another inmate,
and as a result, Austin was moved to administrative
segregation. Austin argues that Arnold did not inform
him of this disclosure to the sheriff's office and did not
honor his requests to assist him in being removed from
segregation. Arnold told Austin that there were other
explanations for the segregation. This segregation
increased Austin's suicidal depression, he contends.

M['f‘] A defendant has a right to counsel free from
conflicts of interest.#® But an attorney's duty to advocate
for his client is "limited to legitimate, lawful conduct" and
counsel cannot [**24] "assist[] the client in . . . violating
the law."*6 Arnold's decision to report Austin's threat did
not violate Austin's rights.

With regard to Arnold's actions after the move to

43 See Reed v. Stephens, 739 F.3d 753, 788 (5th Cir. 2014)
(quoting Kutzner v. Cockrell, 303 F.3d 333, 336 (5th Cir.
2002)).

44 See United States v. Spagnoulo, 960 F.2d 990, 994 (11th
Cir. 1992).

4 Wood v. Georgia, 450 U.S. 261, 271, 101 S. Ct. 1097, 67 L.
Ed. 2d 220 (1981).

46 Nix v. Whiteside, 475 U.S. 157, 166, 106 S. Ct. 988, 89 L.

2003).
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Ed.2d 123 (1986).
A-55



Appendix C

647 Fed. Appx. 477, *489; 2016 U.S. App. LEXIS 8456, **24

segregation,M[?] the right to counsel applies to
"pretrial critical stages that are part of the whole course
of a criminal proceeding . . . in which defendants cannot
be presumed to make critical decisions without
counsel's advice."*” Austin's placement in segregation
occurred wholly outside the context of his trial—the
sheriff, not the court, placed him in segregation. Further,
Austin's placement in segregation did not require him to
make critical decisions about his pending case. We
deny a COA on this claim (Issue 12).

B

Austin had appointed counsel for seven months, until
his request to proceed pro se was granted. He asserts
in Issue 13 (Claim VIII) that his counsel was ineffective
during this period of time with respect to the
determination of competency to stand trial and to waive
counsel. Austin argues that no discovery or investigation
regarding Austin's competency was conducted by his
counsel and that at the Farefta hearing, counsel asked
Austin only four questions. Those questions were aimed
at preserving [**25] counsel's reputation, Austin
contends, and were asked only after the state trial court
had ruled that Austin was competent.

The district court concluded that even were there
ineffective assistance of counsel in this regard, there
was no prejudice because the evidence supported the
state trial court's conclusion that Austin was competent.
Austin contends that he was not required to prove that if
counsel had been adequate, the trial court would likely
have found him competent. He asserts that he was only
required to establish that confidence in the outcome of
the competence [*490] determination is undermined by
counsel's failure to perform adequately.

This issue is intertwined with other issues regarding the
competency proceedings in the state trial court, and we
therefore grant a COA on issue 13.

Cc

In Issue 14 (Claim VIII), Austin asserts that the district
court erred in applying Strickland v. Washington®® rather

41 L afler v. Cooper, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 1385, 182 L. Ed. 2d 398
(2012).

48466 US. 668 692, 104 S. Ct 2052, 80 IL. Ed. 2d 674

than United States v. Cronic*® when the court granted
summary judgment on the claim that counsel was
ineffective regarding the question of Austin's
competency and waiver of counsel. Austin contends that
his attorney's lack of preparation for and performance at
the Faretta hearing amounted [**26] to a constructive
denial of counsel and therefore that prejudice should be
presumed based on United States v. Cronic.

HN21[?] Unlike a claim under Strickland v.
Washington, prejudice is presumed in certain

circumstances described in Cronic. A Cronic violation
occurs if a defendant is denied counsel at a critical
stage of trial or if counsel "entirely fails to subject the
prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing."*9
The rationale of Cronic applies only when counsel's
failure to test the prosecutor's case is "complete";
counsel must fail to oppose the prosecution "throughout
the . . . proceeding as a whole."s?

Austin points to several decisions that have analyzed
counsel's performance in pre-trial proceedings under
Cronic. First, he cites the Tenth Circuit's opinion in
United States v. Collins.32 |n Collins, Cronic applied
because defense counsel remained silent during the
competency hearing due to his pending motion to
withdraw.?® Arnold, however, participated in Austin's
hearing, though his questions did not lend support to a
finding that Austin was incompetent. Arnold additionally
expressed his opinion at the hearing that Austin was
competent.

Austin also relies on the Third Circuit's [**27] decision
in Appel v. Horn.%* In that case, because the defendant
attempted to waive counsel, his appointed attorneys did
not believe they were actually his counsel.®® The court
refused to accept the defendant's waiver of counsel and

(1984).

48466 U.S. 648, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 80 L. Ed. 2d 657 (1984).

%0 /d. at 659.

51 Bell v. Cone, 535 U.S. 685, 696-97, 122 S. Ct. 1843, 152 L.
Ed. 2d 914 (2002).

52 430 F.3d 1260 (10th Cir. 2005).

53 d. at 1266.

84 250 F.3d 203 (3d Cir. 2001).

55 |d. at 215.
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ordered a psychiatric evaluation.%¢ The attorneys failed
to investigate, did not provide the court-appointed
psychiatrist with any information, and did not attempt to
litigate the competency determination in any way—in
short, they "did nothing to investigate or prepare for the
competency determination."®’

In the present case, Arnold sought expert evaluation: he
filed a motion explaining that Austin had "exhibited
some highly unusual behavior in the last several
months" and requested that Brown evaluate Austin.
Arnold noted that Brown's assistance would be vital and
would impact aspects of the case, including mental-
health defenses. Unlike Appel, where the [*491] court
appointed the expert sua sponte and counsel did
nothing, Arnold initially sought an expert to raise mental-
health-related issues. Arnold's failure to contest
competency was not "complete." We deny a COA on
Austin's Cronic claim.

XvI

In Issue 15 (Claims X, Xl and XVIII), Austin asserts that
the district [**28] court erred in concluding that he was
required to prove by clear and convincing evidence that
his waivers of counsel and his guilty plea were
voluntary. Austin contends that no deference to factual
findings was due under § 2254(d) because his state
habeas claims were denied on procedural grounds and
that waiver of a constitutional right is not a determination
of fact subject to a presumption of correctness under §
2254(e)(1). He further asserts that in collateral review of
a waiver of counsel, it is incumbent upon the state to
prove an intentional relinquishment or abandonment of
a known right or privilege. He cites the Supreme Court's
decision in Brewer v. Williams,”® and three circuit court
decisions.?® This issue is intertwined with other issues

% |d. at 206.
5T |d. at 215-16.

%8 430 U.S. 387, 404, 97 S. Ct. 1232, 51 L. Ed. 2d 424 (1977).

5 Sanchez v. Mondragon, 858 F.2d 1462, 1464 (10th Cir.
1988), overruled on other grounds by United States v. Allen,
895 F.2d 1577 (10th Cir. 1990); Myers v. Rhay, 577 F.2d 504,
509 (9th Cir. 1978); Felder v. McCotter, 765 F.2d 1245 1249
(5th Cir. 1985), abrogated on other grounds by Patterson v.
lllinois, 487 U.S. 285, 108 S. Ct. 2389, 101 L. Ed. 2d 261
(1988).
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regarding Austin's competency as to which we have
granted a COA, and we grant a COA as to this issue as
well.

XVil

In Issue 16 (Claims X and XVIII), Austin contends that
his waivers of trial, appellate, and post-conviction
counsel were not knowing, voluntary or intelligent.

With regard to trial counsel, he argues that even if he
was competent to stand trial, competence is only one
aspect of a defendant's [**29] state of mind. Austin
contends that his waiver of trial counsel was not
knowing, intelligent or voluntary due to his mental iliness
and the conditions of his confinement. He also contends
the state trial court asked only four "pro forma"
questions at the hearing on Austin's motion to proceed
pro se and that Dr. Brown, who evaluated Austin's
competence, made no reference to Austin's
"psychologically aversive conditions of confinement."

Regarding waiver of appellate and post-conviction
counsel, Austin contends that the state trial court's
waiver colloquy was inadequate. When the court asked
Austin whether he had been treated for any mental
health disorders, Austin said "no," and the court did not
question him further even though the court had heard
evidence that Austin received mental health treatment
ONn numerous occasions.

Because the resolution of these issues is intertwined
with other issues on which we have granted a COA, we
grant a COA as to Issue 16.

Xviil

Austin argues in Issue 17 (Claim XIl) that his guilty plea
was not voluntarily and intelligently made. He asserts
that he was incompetent and not in control of his mental
faculties when he pled guilty. He also asserts that
conditions [**30] of his confinement resulted in State-
induced emotions that negated the voluntariness of his
plea and that his plea was the product of mental iliness
and coercive and unconstitutional conditions in which he
was confined. This [*492] issue is inseparable from
others regarding Austin's competency and mental state,
and we grant a COA as to this issue.

XIX
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Austin contends that the state trial court violated his
right to a trial by jury when it directed a verdict at the
guilt phase of trial and that the federal district court
erred in granting summary judgment in favor of the
State on this claim (Issue 18 (Claim XllIl)). The state trial
court accepted Austin's plea after a lengthy colloquy,
during which the court asked Austin whether he
understood "that in entering a plea of guilty to capital
murder, you are essentially admitting each and every
element necessary to establish your guilt for the offense
of capital murder." Austin responded, "Yes, ma'am."
Austin asserts, however, that he was not told that this
plea would waive his right to a jury trial and notes he
was told that the law provided that he must have a jury
trial and that he would receive a jury trial. The issue of
his guilt was submitted [**31] to the jury, and the court
directed the jury to return a verdict of guilty. A written
judgment was entered stating that the right to trial by
jury had not been waived and that the jury verdict found
Austin guilty.

Following Austin's guilty plea, the state court proceeded
with a jury trial on the punishment phase. After the close
of the evidence regarding punishment, the court
instructed the jury to find Austin guilty on the verdict
form and then to deliberate regarding the appropriate
punishment. The jury answered questions that
determined the sentence that would be imposed. Austin
was informed that the trial was being conducted for the
specific purpose of having the jury determine Austin's
punishment. Reasonable jurists could not debate
whether Austin was unconstitutionally denied a jury trial
on the question of his guilt in light of his plea of guilty.
We deny a COA on this issue.

XX

Austin asserts in Issue 19 (Claims XV and XVI) that his
Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights were violated
because the jury was not unbiased and that the district
court erred in granting summary judgment on this issue.
He contends that several jurors stated in voir dire that
they could consider mitigating evidence but that
in [**32] post-trial interviews, they stated that mitigating
evidence was irrelevant in certain types of cases. Austin
asserts that these jurors concealed actual bias.

M['f‘] To establish a claim of jury bias arising from
voir dire, a party must show that "a juror failed to answer
honestly a material question on voir dire, and . . . that a
correct response would have provided a valid basis for a
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challenge for cause."80 A capital murder defendant may
challenge for cause the inclusion of a juror who will
automatically vote to impose the death penalty.®’

The federal district court held that Austin had waived
this issue because he had failed to challenge and
question the jurors during voir dire. In this court, the
State additionally contends that the post-trial interviews
and unsworn statements of jurors are inadmissible
under HN23['17] Federal Rule of Evidence 606(b), which
limits the admissibility of juror testimony during an
inquiry into the validity of a verdict. Specifically, Rule
606(b) prohibits a juror from testifying [*493] "about
any statement made or incident that occurred during the
jury's deliberations; the effect of anything on that juror's
or another juror's vote; or any juror's mental processes
concerning the verdict."82 Here, the post-trial
interviews [**33] concern the honesty of statements
made by the jurors during voir dire—not statements
made during deliberations, the effect of something on
the jurors' votes, or the jurors' mental processes
concerning the verdict. Rule 606(b) does not bar
admission of post-trial statements to prove that the
jurors failed to answer a material question honestly
during voir dire.?3

The State also submits that Austin [**34] waived his
jury bias claims by failing to object to the inclusion of

80 See McDonough Power Equip., Inc. v. Greenwood, 464 U.S.
548, 556, 104 S. Ct. 845, 78 L. Ed. 2d 663 (1984).

81 Morgan v. lllinois, 504 U.S. 719, 729, 112 S. Ct. 2222, 119
L. Ed. 2d 492 (1992).

62 Fed. R. Evid. 606(b)(1).

63 Compare Warger v. Shauers, 135 S. Ct. 521, 524, 190 L.
Ed 2d 422 (2014) (explaining that Rule 606(b) renders
inadmissible an affidavit containing a juror's statements made
during deliberations that allegedly revealed the juror's
dishonesty during voir dire), with Hatten v. Quarterman, 570
F.3d 595, 602-03 (5th Cir. 2009) (analyzing an affidavit
containing a juror's post-trial statements and concluding that
the affidavit did not establish that he dishonestly answered any
material question during voir dire). See generally CHRISTOPHER
B. MUELLER & LAIRD C. KIRKE_&TRICK, 3 FEDERAL EVIDENCE §
6:21 (4th ed. 2015) (HN24[*] "In its most common form,
misconduct occurring before deliberations (and before trial)
involves giving false answers on vair dire . . . . Misconduct of
this sort can be proved by means of affidavits or testimony by
jurors, although . . . [not] by means of statements made during
deliberations by the juror in question." (footnotes omitted)).
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any of the jurors during voir dire. But M[?} claims
based on actual bias, as opposed to implied bias, are
not waived by a failure to object during voir dire.54
Because Austin contends the jurors were actually
biased, his jury bias claims are not waived.

HN26[ %] Juror impartiality is a question of fact.55 Upon
empaneling a juror, the trial court may have made an
implicit finding of impartiality entitled to deference under
28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1).56 We need not resolve that
issue at this stage. We grant a COA on the jury bias
claims relating to Jurors Gibbs, Condon, Erwin,
Finnegan, and Tamayo, because reasonable jurists
could debate whether these jurors were actually biased,
in light of their statements in voir dire and in post-trial
affidavits.

We deny a COA on the jury bias claims relating to
Jurors Maddox and Phillips. Juror Maddox stated during
voir dire that he could vote to impose either a life or
death sentence, as the evidence warranted. In his post-
trial [**38] interview, he said:
| believe that when somebody is found guilty of very
violent murders especially against children and
premeditated or repeated crimes the death penalty
should be imposed. If it is shown that a person has
a serious mental illness or defect this is a situation
where the jury should consider not imposing the
death penalty.

Maddox's statement merely evinces an affirmative
willingness to consider mental illness as a mitigating
factor. It does not demonstrate an unwillingness to
consider other mitigating evidence. Reasonable jurists
could not disagree that Austin has failed to rebut the
implied finding of impartiality by clear and convincing
evidence [*494] with respect to Maddox. We deny a
COA on this claim.

Juror Phillips also indicated she could impose a life or
death sentence as warranted by the evidence. In her

64 See United States v. Wilson, 116 F.3d 1066, 1086-87 (5th
Cir. 1997), rev'd on other grounds, United States v. Brown,
161 F.3d 256, 258 (5th Cir. 1998) (en banc).

85 See Thompson v. Kechane, 516 U.S. 99, 111, 116 S. Ct.
457. 133 L. Ed. 2d 383 (1995).

86 See Virgil v. Dretke, 446 F 3d 598, 610 n.52 (5th Cir. 2006)
(explaining that trial court made implicit findings of impartiality
by accepting prospective jurors, and that § 2254(e)(1)
deference applies to those findings).
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post-trial statement, she said:

[1If you kill a child and know what you are doing and
you are convicted by a jury of your peers and
there's overwhelming evidence, then that's it, you
should get the death penalty. If, however, you don't
know what you are doing when you commit the
murder you should be taken off the streets and
given psychiatric help for the rest of your life. [**36]
Phillips's statement, like Maddox's, does not show an
unwillingness to consider all constitutionally relevant
mitigating evidence. We also deny a COA on this claim.

XXI

In Issue 20 (Claims XIX and XX), Austin alleges that he
was denied his right to meaningful appellate review
because transcripts of hearings pertaining to his
competency and the voluntariness of his waiver of
counsel are not in the record. He contends that the
Eighth Amendment mandates comprehensive direct
review of capital convictions, asserting that appellate
review is an indispensable safeguard against
arbitrariness. M?] To establish his claim, Austin
must show the omission of a "substantial and significant
portion of the record."6”

Austin argues that the trial court relied on information
discussed at meetings, titled "agreed setting" meetings,
in ascertaining Austin's competence. During the Faretta
hearing, the trial court alluded to a prior conversation it
had had with Austin, during which Austin had expressed
his desire to proceed pro se. While Austin now
complains that this prior meeting was unrecorded, the
record demonstrates that at that meeting, the trial court
explained that Austin would need to undergo a
psychological [**37] evaluation and receive a full
Faretta hearing prior to waiving counsel. In other words,
at the prior meeting, the court cautioned Austin that
certain procedures needed to be followed before it could
find him competent to proceed pro se. The record is
wholly inconsistent with Austin's claim that the court
relied on any untranscribed conversation to arrive at its
competency finding.

Austin also argues that the court admitted relying on an
unspecified, untranscribed conversation following its
acceptance of Austin's guilty plea, prior to the

67 See United States v. Delgado, 672 F.3d 320, 343 (5th Cir.
2012) (en banc) (quoting United States v. Selva, 559 F.2d
1303, 1306 (5th Cir. 1977)).
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punishment trial. At that proceeding, the trial court
explained that its competency finding was based on the
court-ordered psychological evaluation and on "prior
conversations with Mr. Austin [and] his persistence in
entering his plea of guilty before the jury for many
months." Consistent with the court's explanation, it
made this competency finding nearly six months after
the initial Fareffa hearing. Additionally the record
contains several letters Austin wrote to the trial court
professing his competence and expressing his desire to
waive counsel and plead guilty. The record conclusively
establishes that the trial court's competency
determination [**38] was made based on evidence
presented at transcribed hearings. Austin has failed to
demonstrate the absence of a substantial and significant
portion of the record.58 We deny a COA.

[*495] XXII

In issue 21 (Claims XXXI, XXXII and XXXIII), Austin
argues that the method of execution to be used by the
State constitutes cruel and unusual punishment in
violation of the Eighth Amendment. This challenge fails
because M[?] we have repeatedly upheld Texas's
execution protocol, which calls for the administration of
a lethal dose of a single drug, pentobarbital.®® The
Supreme Court's recent decision in Glossip v. Gross
does not change our analysis.”® Because our precedent
forecloses Austin's challenge to Texas's current single-
drug protocol, we deny a COA. Because of this
disposition, we do not address Austin's contention that
he may challenge in a habeas petition a state's drug
protocol for lethal injections in carrying out a death
sentence or his contention that he is entitled to
discovery regarding the State's drug protocol.

XX

We note that the parties agreed that § 2254(d)'s
deferential [**39] standard does not apply to any of

88 See United States v. Gieger, 190 F.3d 661, 667 (5th Cir.
7999) (holding that failure to transcribe seventy-two bench
conferences did not constitute reversible error).

89 See, e.g., Ladd v. Livingston, 777 F.3d 286, 289 (5th Cir.
2015), cert. denied, 135 S. Ct. 1197, 191 L. Ed. 2d 149
(2015).

0 See Glossip v. Gross, 135 S. Ct 2726, 192 L. Ed. 2d 761

Austin's claims. However, we have held that HN29[ %]
AEDPA's standard of review cannot be waived.”! In
their briefing on the merits, the parties should address
whether the state trial court's determination that Austin
was competent triggers the application of § 2254(d) to
his substantive competency claim.

* K *

For the foregoing reasons, IT IS ORDERED that
Austin's request for a COA is GRANTED IN PART. It is
GRANTED as to Issues 1, 2, 3, 4,6, 7, 8,9, 10, 13, 15,
16, 17 and 19 (with respect to Jurors Gibbs, Condon,
Erwin, Finnegan, and Tamayo, only).

Austin's request for a COA is DENIED IN PART. It is
DENIED as to Issues 5, 11, 12, 14, 18, 19 (with respect
to Jurors Maddox and Phillips only), 20 and 21.72

End of Document

" See Ward v. Stephens, 777 F.3d 250, 257 & n.3 (5th Cir.
2015).

72\We note that Austin has submitted to the court multiple
letters expressing a desire to be quickly executed. In
September 2014, Austin asked to abandon his appeal.
Austin's counsel, in a response requested by this court, stated
that each time Austin had expressed a desire to drop his
appeal and be executed, he had changed his mind and
instructed counsel to continue the appeal, and that "Austin
suffers from a serious mental illness that is both cyclical and
exacerbated [**40] by the conditions of confinement." We
remanded to the district court for the limited purpose of making
findings as to Austin's competency to withdraw his appeal.
Before the district court held its competency hearing, Austin
withdrew his motion to withdraw his appeal and asked this
court to expedite his COA review. Since that time, Austin has
sent the court two more pro se letters stating a desire to be
executed and for his appeal to be denied. In his most recent
letter, Austin stated, "l repeat again my refusal to cooperate
with any type of mental health examination."

As we explained in our opinion remanding to the'c‘ijstrict court
for a hearing on Austin's competence, HN30[®] "when a
death-row inmate seeks to withdraw his habeas petition, 'a
habeas court must conduct an inquiry into the defendant's
mental capacity, either sua sponte or in response to a motion
by petitioner's counsel, if the evidence raises a bona fide
doubt as to his competency.™ Austin v. Stephens, 596 F. App'x
277, 281 (5th Cir. 2015) (quoting Mata v. Johnson, 210 F.3d

(2015); see also Ladd, 777 F.3d at 290.

Page 18 of 18

324, 329-30 (5th Cir. 2000)).
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Appendix

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
HOUSTON DIVISION

PERRY ALLEN AUSTIN,

Petitioner,

VS. CIVIL ACTION NO. H-04-2387

RICK THALER,

w W W W W W W W

Respondent.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Petitioner Perry Allen Austin is a Texas death row inmate. This case is before the Court
on Austin’s Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Doc. # 38), and Respondent Rick
Thaler's Motion for Summary Judgment (Doc. # 62). Having carefully considered the Amended
Petition, the Summary Judgment Motion, all the arguments and authorities submitted by counsel,
and the entire record, the Court is of the opinion that Thaler's Motion for Summary Judgment
must be granted, and Austin’s Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus should be denied.

l. Backaround

In 1991, while on parole, Austin began having sexual relations with 14 year did 9.0.

Tr. at 118, 166-68. Through J.O., Austin became acquainted with K.Kl. at 25, 154.
Through K.K., he became acquainted with K.K.’s nine year old brother, D.K. Id. at 155.

On August 19, 1992, Austin went to the home of K.K. and D.K., looking for K.K., who

was not home. D.K. and Austin got into Austin’s car to go look for K.K. When D.K. failed to

return home, his mother contacted police. Police searched for D.K. but did not find him. After

! All individuals identified by their initials were minors during the events relevant to

this case.

“Tr.” refers to the transcript of Austin’s trial.

1/30
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several days, a Houston homicide detective entered the investigation. During the investigation,
the detective discovered that Austin was having sexual relations with J.O. Austin was arrested
and charged with sexual assault. While confessing to sexual assault, Austin admitted that D.K.
was in his car on the day he disappeared. Austin pled guilty to sexual assault and was sentenced
to 30 years. 9 Tr. at 22-162; 10 Tr. at 2-7.

On April 23, 1993, D.K.’s skeletal remains were found in a landfill in Harris County. 9
Tr. at 36, 65-67. D.K. had been tied uf. at 69, 75. Police obtained a search warrant for
blood and hair samples from Austin and to search Austin’s car. 10 Tr. at 19-21. The FBI found
rope in Austin’s trunk that was similar to the rope found with D.K. 9 Tr. at 123-25, 134-35, 141-
43. Authorities did not think this was enough to charge Austin with D.K.’s murder. 10 Tr. at 22.

In January 2001, Austin sent a letter to the detective investigating D.K.'s murder in
which Austin admitted killing D.K. 10 Tr. at 24-25. The detective obtained both a written and
recorded confession in which Austin admits cutting D.K.’s throat because he was angry at K.K.
for stealing drugs from Austin’s trunk. Austin’s statement included some information that the
police had not disclosed to the public. Id. at 26-35.

Austin was indicted on February 15, 2001, for the capital murder of nine year old D.K.
CR at 2 Prior to trial, Austin sent at least two letters to the trial court stating that he did not
want an attorney to represent hial. at 5-6, 20. Austin’s appointed trial counsel filed a motion
seeking a psychiatric examination. Dr. Jerome Brown evaluated Austin and concluded that he
was competent to stand trial. 1d. at 11, 28-30.

On October 11, 2001, the trial court conducted a hearing pursuaRar&dta v.

California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975), to determine if Austin was competent to waive counsel. The

“CR” refers to the Clerk’s Record of trial papers.
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court concluded that he was, appointed standby counsel, and granted Austin’s request to
represent himself. 2 Tr. at 3-19. Austin pled guilty to capital murder. 9 Tr. at 3-4.

During the penalty phase, the State presented evidence that, at age 19, Austin attempted
to rape his sixteen year old sister, and succeeded in raping his seventeen year old sister, at
gunpoint. When their mother and older sister arrived home, Austin confronted them with a gun,
stole money from them, and took his older sister's car. He was convicted of offenses arising
from that incident and sent to prison. While on parole from that sentence, he began his
relationship with J.O., resulting in his 30 year sentence for sexual assault. While serving that
sentence, Austin stabbed another inmate. He was prosecuted for aggravated assault and received
another 20 year sentence.

Austin, acting as his own attorney, cross-examined one of the State’s witnesses. He also
presented evidence that he was introduced to J.O. by J.O.’s mother, who Austin previously dated,
and that he and J.O. were romantically involved. 9 Tr. at 125-26.

Following the punishment hearing, the jury found that there was a probability that Austin
would commit future acts of criminal violence, and that there was insufficient mitigating
evidence to warrant a life sentence. Accordingly, the trial court sentenced Austin to death. CR
at 77-80.

The trial court then held a secoRdretta hearing on Austin’s request to waive appellate
and habeas counsel. The court again concluded that Austin was competent to waive counsel,
granted his request to represent himself, and appointed standby counsel. 12 Tr. at 3-9; CR at 32-
33. Pursuant to Texas law, the conviction and sentence were automatically appealed to the

Texas Court of Criminal Appeals (“TCCA”). The TCCA affirmedustin v. StateNo. 74,372

3/30
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(Tex. Crim. App. Apr. 12, 2003). Austin did not semktiorari from the Supreme Court of the
United States.

Two months after the TCCA affirmed Austin’s conviction and sentence, the trial court
again found that Austin was competent, and accepted his waiver of habeas counsel. The court
accepted Austin’s waiver of further appeals and scheduled his execution for September 8, 2003.
CR at 84-85. On September 2, 2003, Austin filed a motion for a stay of execution and a motion
for appointment of counsel to allow him to seek state habeas corpus relief. On September 3,
2003, the trial court withdrew its execution order. The court appointed attorney Dick Wheelan to
represent Austin in state habeas corpus proceedings.

On June 21, 2004, Austin filed an application for a writ of habeas corpus in state district
court. Ex Parte AustinNo. 59,527-01, SH-01. Austin also filed a motion for leave to file an
out-of-time application. The TCCA denied the motion, thereby preventing the trial court from
considering Austin’s application. SH-01 at cover.

On June 21, 2004, Austin also filed his first federal petition for a writ of habeas corpus.
On May 19, 2005, this Court granted Austin leave to amend his petition for the purpose of
adding record citations and additional argument in support of the claims raised in his original
petition. The order noted that “Austin specifically states that . . . he does not seek to raise any
new claims.” (Doc. # 29). On July 18, 2005, Austin filed an amended petition containing
several new claims. On November 29, 2005, Austin filed an unopposed motion to stay and abate
his federal proceedings so that he could return to state court and exhaust his new claims. The

TCCA dismissed his application as an abuse of the writ on April 5, 2BR@arte AustinNo.

“SH” refers to the transcript of Austin’s state habeas corpus proceedings.

4130
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59,527-02 (Apr. 5, 2006). On November 28, 2006, Austin filed his second amended petition in
this court.

[. Applicable L egal Standards

A. The Anti-Terrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act

This federal petition for habeas corpus relief is governed by the applicable provisions of
the Anti-Terrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act (“AEDPA”). S¢eodford v. Garcealb38
U.S. 202, 205-08 (2003)kindh v. Murphy 521 U.S. 320, 335-36 (1997). Under the AEDPA,
federal habeas relief based upon claims that were adjudicated on the merits by the state courts
cannot be granted unless the state court’s decision (1) “was contrary to, or involved an
unreasonable application of, clearly established federal law, as determined by the Supreme Court
of the United States” or (2) “was based on an unreasonable determination of the facts in light of
the evidence presented in the State court proceeding.” 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d); Early v,. B3atker
U.S. 3, 7-8 (2002); Kitchens v. Johns@B0 F.3d 698, 700 (5th Cir. 1999).

For questions of law or mixed questions of law and fact adjudicated on the merits in state
court, this Court may grant habeas relief under 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2254(d)(1) only if the state court
decision “was contrary to, or involved an unreasonable application of, clearly established
[Supreme Court precedent] 3eeKittelson v. Dretke426 F.3d 306, 318 (5th Cir. 2005). Under
the “contrary to” clause, this Court may afford habeas relief only if “the state court arrives at a
conclusion opposite to that reached by . .. [the Supreme Court] on a question of law or if the
state court decides a case differently than . . . [the Supreme Court] has on a set of materially
indistinguishable facts.”"Dowthitt v. Johnson230 F.3d 733, 740-41 (5th Cir. 2000) (quoting

Williams v. Tayloy 529 U.S. 362, 406 (2000)), cert. denig82 U.S. 915 (2001)).

5/30
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The “unreasonable application” standard permits federal habeas corpus relief only if a
state court decision “identifies the correct governing legal rule from [the Supreme Court] cases
but unreasonably applies it to the facts of the particular state prisoner’s case” or “if the state
court either unreasonably extends a legal principle from [Supreme Court] precedent to a new
context where it should not apply or unreasonably refuses to extend that principle to a new
context where it should applyWilliams, 529 U.S. at 406. “In applying this standard, we must
decide (1) what was the decision of the state courts with regard to the questions before us and (2)
whether there is any established federal law, as explicated by the Supreme Court, with which the
state court decision conflictsHoover v. Johnsgrl93 F.3d 366, 368 (5th Cir. 1999). A federal
court’'s “focus on the ‘unreasonable application’ test under Section 2254(d) should be on the
ultimate legal conclusion that the state court reached and not on whether the state court
considered and discussed every angle of the evidemeal v. Puckeft239 F.3d 683, 696 (5th
Cir. 2001),aff'd, 286 F.3d 230 (5th Cir. 2002) (en banc), cert. deb@Ed U.S. 1104 (2003%ee
also Pape v. Thale645 F.3d 281, 292-93 (5th Cir. 2011). The focus for a federal court under
the “unreasonable application” prong is “whether the state court’s determination is ‘at least
minimally consistent with the facts and circumstances of the cakk.{guotingNeal 239 F.3d
at 696, andHennon v. Cooperl09 F.3d 330, 335 (7th Cir. 19973ge alsdGardner v. Johnsgn
247 F.3d 551, 560 (5th Cir. 2001) (“Even though we cannot reverse a decision merely because
we would reach a different outcome, we must reverse when we conclude that the state court
decision applies the correct legal rule to a given set of facts in a manner that is so patently
incorrect as to be ‘unreasonable.™)

The AEDPA precludes federal habeas relief on factual issues unless the state court’s

adjudication of the merits was based on an unreasonable determination of the facts in light of the
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evidence presented in the state court proceediige28 U.S.C. § 2254(d)(2)Martinez v.
Caldwell 644 F.3d 238, 241-42 (5th Cir. 2011). The state court’s factual determinations are
presumed correct unless rebutted by “clear and convincing evidence.” 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1);
see alsalackson v. Anderspril2 F.3d 823, 824-25 (5th Cir. 199¢grt. denied522 U.S. 1119
(1998). This Court may only consider the factual record that was before the state court in
determining the reasonableness of that court’s findings and conclustuien v. Pinholster
_US.  ,131S.Ct. 1388 (2011). Review is “highly deferentdddford v. Visciotti537

U.S. 19, 24 (2002)per curian), and the unreasonableness standard is “difficult [for a petitioner]

to meet.” Harrington v. Richte662 U.S. |, 131 S.Ct. 770, 786 (2011).

B. Summary Judgment Standard in Habeas Cor pus Proceedings

In ordinary civil cases, a district court considering a motion for summary judgment is
required to construe the facts of the case in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.
SeeAnderson v. Liberty Lobby77 U.S. 242, 255 (1986) (The “evidence of the nonmovant is to
be believed, and all justifiable inferences are to be drawn in his favor”). “As a general principle,
Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, relating to summary judgment, applies with
equal force in the context of habeas corpus cas€satk v. Johnson202 F.3d 760, 764 (5th
Cir.), cert. denied 531 U.S. 831 (2000). This principle is limited, however; Rule 56 applies
insofar as it is consistent with established habeas practice and proc8der&mith v. Cockrell
311 F.3d 661, 668 (5th Cir. 2002) (citing Rule 11 of the Rules Governing Section 2254 Cases).
Therefore, 8§ 2254(e)(1) — which mandates that findings of fact made by a state court are
“presumed to be correct” — overrides the ordinary summary judgment rule that all disputed facts
must be construed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving p&ée id Unless the

petitioner can “rebut[] the presumption of correctness by clear and convincing evidence”
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regarding the state court’s findings of fact, those findings must be accepted as et
Thus, the Court may not construe the facts in the state petitioner's favor where the prisoner’s
factual allegations have been adversely resolved by express or implicit findings of the state
courts, and the prisoner fails to demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that the
presumption of correctness in 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1) should not apphe Marshall v.
Lonberger 459 U.S. 422, 432 (1983Bumner v. Mata449 U.S. 539, 547 (1981Emery v.
Johnson 940 F.Supp. 1046, 1051 (S.D. Tex. 1996§d, 139 F.3d 191 (5th Cir. 1997gert.
denied 525 U.S. 969 (1998).
I1l.  Analysis

Austin’s amended petition raises 34 claims for relief. They are addressed in turn below.

A. Procedural Default

Thaler contends that all of Austin’s claims are procedurally defaulted. The procedural
default doctrine may bar federal review of a claim. “When a state court declines to hear a
prisoner’s federal claims because the prisoner failed to fulfill a state procedural requirement,
federal habeas is generally barred if the state procedural rule is independent and adequate to
support the judgment.”Sayre v. Andersor238 F.3d 631, 634 (5Cir. 2001). The Supreme
Court has noted that

[in all cases in which a state prisoner had defaulted his federal
claims in state court pursuant to an independent and adequate state
procedural rule, federal habeas review of the claims is barred
unless the prisoner can demonstrate cause for the default and actual
prejudice as a result of the alleged violation of federal law, or
demonstrate that failure to consider the claims will result in a
fundamental miscarriage of justice.

Coleman v. Thompspb01 U.S. 722, 750 (1991). “This doctrine ensures that federal courts give

proper respect to state procedural rule§lover v. Cain 128 F.3d 900, 902 {5Cir. 1997)
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(citing Coleman 501 U.S. at 750-51}ert. denied 532 U.S. 1125 (1998%ee alsdEdwards v.
Carpenter 529 U.S. 446, 451 (2000) (finding the cause and prejudice standard to be “grounded
in concerns of comity and federalism”).
To be “adequate” to support the judgment, the state law ground must be both “firmly
established and regularly followedFord v. Georgia498 U.S. 411, 424 (1991). If the state law
ground is not firmly established and regularly followed, there is no bar to federal review and a
federal habeas court may go to the merits of the clddarr v. Columbia 378 U.S. 146, 149
(1964). An important consideration in determining whether an “adequate” state law ground
exists is the application of the state law ground to identical or similar clahm®&s v. Scott61
F.3d 333, 340-41 (5th Cir. 1995). The adequacy of a state law ground to preclude federal court
review of federal constitutional claims is a federal questidawlett v. Rose496 U.S. 356, 366
(1990).
[W]hen . . . a state court decision fairly appears to rest primarily on
federal law, or to be interwoven with federal law, and when the
adequacy and independence of any possible state law ground is not
clear from the face of the opinion, we will accept as the most
reasonable explanation that the state court decided the case the way
it did because it believed that federal law required it to do so.

Michigan v. Long463 U.S. 1032, 104041 (1983); see also Coleman v. Thongisbh.S. 722

(1991) (applying the presumption in the context of habeas).

1. Claims Raised In Original Federal Petition

Austin’s original federal petition raised 23 claims for relief. Respondent moved to
dismiss those claims as procedurally defaulted, and this Court denied that motion. While
acknowledging that the Court already rejected the argument that these claims are procedurally

defaulted, Respondent reasserts his position.
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As noted above, Austin originally waived post conviction counsel, then changed his mind
as his original execution date drew near. He obtained counsel and filed a habeas corpus
application in state court. On June 21, 2004, Austin, through counsel, filed a motion in the Texas
Court of Criminal Appeals for permission to file an out-of-time original application for state
habeas corpus relief. On July 6, 2004, the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals denied Austin’s
motion, holding that the application was untimely under Tex. Crim. Pro. art. 11.071 84(a).
In denying Austin’s motion, the Court of Criminal Appeals reasoned thiai aselitigant
is subject to the same time limitations as he would be if represented by counsel. Because art.
11.071 84(a) requires an application to be filed within 45 days after the State files its brief on
direct appeal and the State waived its right to file a brief on January 13, 2003, the Court of
Criminal Appeals reasoned that Austin’s state habeas application was due on or before February
27, 2003, almost 16 months before he requested permission to file an application. Thaler argued,
based on the Court of Criminal Appeals’ denial of Austin’s motion, that Austin has procedurally
defaulted all of his claims.
Article 11.071 84(a) of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure provides that
[a]n application for a writ of habeas corpus, returnable to the court
of criminal appeals, must be filed in the convicting court not later
than the 180th day after the date the convicting court appoints
counsel under Section 2 or not later than the 45th day after the date
the state's original brief is filed on direct appeal with the court of
criminal appeals, whichever date is later.
The complicating factor in this case is that the statute refers to “the date the state’s original brief
is filed on direct appeal,” but the State never filed an original brief on Austin’s direct appeal.
The Court of Criminal Appeals reasoned that the State’s waiver of its right to file a brief

commenced the filing period for Austin’s state habeas corpus application. The statute, however,

makes no mention of waiver commencing the limitations period. Moreover, neither the Court of
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Criminal Appeals’ Order denying Austin’s motion nor Thaler’s briefs on his motion to dismiss or
summary judgment motion point to any prior case law holding that such a waiver commences the
limitations period.

It appears that the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals never interpreted the statute to
commence the limitations period upon the State’s waiver of its right to file a brief on direct
appeal until it did so in Austin’s case. Therefore, it cannot be said that Texas “clearly
announce[d] the procedural rule or . . . strictly or regularly follow[ed] the procedural rule,”
Wheat v. Thigper793 F.2d 621, 625 {5Cir. 1986),cert. denied 480 U.S. 930 (1987), prior to
announcing and applying the rule in this case. “Novelty in procedural requirements cannot be
permitted to thwart review . . . .'Ford, 498 U.S. at 423 (internal quotation marks omitted).
Accordingly, this rule cannot be the basis for a procedural default, and the claims raised in
Austin’s original federal petition (Claims 1-23) are not procedurally defaulted.

2. Claims Raised In Amended Petition

Austin raised claims 24-34 for the first time in his amended petition. As noted above,
this Court subsequently stayed this case to allow Austin to return to state court to exhaust these
claims. The TCCA dismissed his application as an abuse of the writ.

The Texas abuse of the writ statute, article 11.071, § 5(a), provides, in relevant part, that
the TCCA may not consider a subsequent habeas application unless a petitioner can show either
that the claim could not have been timely raised in state court or that the claim raises a
compelling federal claim:

(a) If a subsequent application for a writ of habeas corpus is filed
after filing an initial application, a court may not consider the

merits of or grant relief based on the subsequent application unless
the application contains sufficient specific facts establishing that:

(1) the current claims and issues have not been and could
not have been presented previously in a timely initial

11730
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application or in a previously considered application filed
under this article . . . because the factual or legal basis for
the claim was unavailable on the date the applicant filed the
previous application;

(2) by a preponderance of the evidence, but for a violation
of the United States Constitution no rational juror could
have found the applicant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt;
or

(3) by clear and convincing evidence, but for a violation of
the United States Constitution no rational juror would have
answered in the state’s favor one or more of the special
issues that were submitted to the jury in the applicant’s
trial . . ..

TeEx. CoDE CRIM. PROC. ANN. art. 11.071. As written, the statute requires dismissal under § 5(a)
unless one of the exceptions set out in 88 5(a)(1), 5(a)(2), or 5(a)(3) has been met. The TCCA,
however, has held that to avoid dismissal under § 5(a), a petitioner must Isatisfije state
procedural requirement of 8§ 5(a)@nd the federal merits requirements of § 5(a)(2) or 5(a)(3).

Ex parte Campbell226 S.W.3d 418, 421 (Tex. Crim. App. 2007) (“We have interpreted [§ 5(a)]

to mean that. .. 1) the factual or legal basis for an applicant’s current claims must have been
unavailable as to all of his previous applications; and 2) the specific facts alleged, if established,
would constitute a constitutional violation that would likely require relief from either the
conviction or sentence.”). Austin notes that his new claims are based on changes to the Texas
death penalty statute enacted after he filed his original state application. Because the legal basis
of these claims was unavailable at the time he filed his original peiitonthey are based on
changes to the law enacted after his first petition, it is not clear that the TCCA’s dismissal was
based purely on state procedural grounds, and not on a determination of the merits of the claims.
Therefore, Austin’s claims are not procedurally defaulted.

B. Claims Related To Competency
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Ten of Austin’s claims rest on his argument that he was not competent to plead guilty,
waive counsel, and stand trial. Austin’s amended petition goes on at great length about his
mental health history and the conditions in the Texas prison system during his incarceration prior
to the capital murder confession. He argues that all of these factors show that he suffered from
suicidal depression and waived his rights in an attempt to commit state-assisted suicide. This,
Austin now argues, demonstrates that he was not competent to plead guilty, waive his right to
counsel, or stand trial.
Due process prohibits conviction by trial or guilty plea of a defendant who is mentally
incompetent.Drope v. Missouri420 U.S. 162, 171 (1975). Competence to stand trial is defined
as “the capacity to understand the nature and object of the proceedings against him, to consult
with counsel, and to assist in preparing his defense . Id..at 171. When there is reason to
believe that a defendant is incompetent, a trial court must make inquiry into his mental status.
See Pate v. Robinsp883 U.S. 375 (1966).
Austin argues that the mere fact that he pled guilty to capital murder and only minimally
contested the State’s penalty phase case demonstrates his incompetence. The Fifth Circuit,
however, has
decline[d] to adopt ger serule that, as a matter of law, a trial
court must doubt a defendant’s competency, or conclude that such
defendant does not understand the proceedings against him or
appreciate their significance . .. simply because it is obvious to
the court that the defendant is causing his trial to be conducted in a
manner most likely to result in a conviction and the imposition of
the death penalty.

Roberts v. Dretke381 F.3d 491, 498 {5Cir. 2004).

The trial transcript demonstrates that Austin conducted himself in a lucid manner.

Nonetheless, counsel requested a competency evaluation “out of an abundance of caution” 2 Tr.
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at 4, despite his opinion that Austin was competent. The trial court questioned Austin, and his
responses were intelligent and cohereBeeg e.g., 2 Tr. at 4-15. Austin specifically stated that

he understood the charges against him and the possibility of a death seideat®. Indeed,
Austin’s current theory, that he used his trial to commit state assisted suicide, is an admission
that he understood the charges against him and the possibility of a death sentence.

Moreover, the trial court granted counsel’s request for a competency evaluation, and Dr.
Jerome Brown evaluated Austin. Dr. Brown concluded that Austin was competent. CR at 28-
30.

Austin now argues that evidence of Austin’'s mental health history, as well as certain
medical records from Austin’s previous periods of imprisonment, were not produced to Dr.
Brown. In 2007, Dr. Brown signed an affidavit in which he stated that additional information
might have changed his opinion. Pet. Exh. 96. In 2008, however, Dr. Brown had an opportunity
to review the disputed records. He signed another affidavit reaffirming his original opinion that
Austin was competent at the time of his trial. Resp. Exh. A.

During the course of Austin’s state court proceedings, the trial court conducted at least
two Faretta hearings, concluding each time that Austin was competent to waive counsel, and
advising him of the consequences of doing so. Austin argues that the trial court failed to follow
state procedure by failing to convene a jury to determine competedegTEX. CODE CRIM.

ProcC. art. 46.06(2)(a). This provision of state law, however, requires a competency hearing only
when the trial court becomes aware of evidence that the defendant may be incompetent. Neither
the trial court nor Austin’s counsel saw any such evidence. In any event, a violation of state law
does not support federal habeas relief unless the violation was so egregious as to deny the

defendant due procesSee Fuller v. Johnspri58 F.3d 903, 908 (5th Cir. 1998) (citikggle v.
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Isaag 456 U.S. 107, 135, 102 S. Ct. 1558, 1575, 71 L. Ed. 2d 783 (1982)). The evidence
available to the trial court, based on Austin’s demeanor and responses to questions, letters to the
court, the impressions of Austin’s counsel, and the professional opinion of Dr. Brown, amply
support the finding that Austin was competard,, that he had “a rational as well as factual
understanding of the proceedings against him” and “ha[d] sufficient present ability to consult
with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understandimgliana v. Edwards554

U.S. 164, 170 (2008).

While Austin presents evidence that he may have suffered from mental iliness, he fails to
demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that he was incompetent. He is therefore not
entitled to relief on any of the claims based on the premise that he was incompetent to plead
guilty, stand trial, or waive counsel. Claims 1-4, and 24 depend entirely on the presupposition
that Austin was incompetent. These claims are therefore without merit. Claims 10, 11, 18, 21,
and 22 are more complex and are addressed below.

C. Voluntary, Knowing And Intelligent Waivers Of Counsel

In a related argument, Austin contends in claims 10, 11, and 18 that his waivers of
counsel and his guilty plea were not voluntary, knowing and intelligent because they were the
result of mental iliness, and “the shocking and coercive conditions of his confinement.” Under
the principles announced by the Supreme CouRairetta v. California 422 U.S. 806, 835-36
(1975), a competent criminal defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to represent himself at trial
if he waives his right to counsel, and a trial court cannot deny the defendant’s motion to proceed
pro seon the ground that the defendant lacks sufficient knowledge or understanding of the law.
The Faretta right is not, however, without limitation. The exercise of the right to self-

representation is contingent on the defendant’s knowing and intelligent waiver of the right to be
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represented by counsebee id at 835> TheFaretta court also noted that a court may terminate
the right to self-representation where the defendant fails to abide by courtroom rules and/or
engages in obstructionist condudtl. at 834 & n.46. Moreover, a trial court can appoint stand-
by counsel to assist the defendant (even over the defendant’s objection), so long as stand-by
counsel does not unduly impinge on the defendant’s self-representaiibnat 834 n.46;
McKaskle v. Wiggun#l65 U.S. 168, 174-79 (1984).
To ensure that a waiver is knowing and intelligent
[T]he trial judge must caution the defendant about the dangers of
such a course of action so that the record will establish that “he
knows what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes open.” In
order to determine whether the right to counsel has been
effectively waived, the proper inquiry is to evaluate the
circumstances of each case as well as the background of the
defendant.
United States v. Martii790 F.2d 1215, 1218'(sCir. 1986).

In this case, the trial court cautioned Austin that, by waiving counsel, he could not later
claim ineffective assistance of counsel, would be at a disadvantage compared to the prosecution
or a licensed defense lawyer, might fail to preserve issues for appeal, and would receive no
special consideration from the trial court. 2 Tr. at 10-11. The trial court also inquired to make
sure that Austin understood that he was charged with capital murder and faced a possible death
sentence. Id. at 9. The record clearly establishes that Austin’s waiver was knowing and
intelligent.

Aside from being knowing and intelligent, waivers of rights must be volun@eg.e.g.,

lowa v. Tovar541 U.S. 77, 87-88 (2004)nited States v. Pino Gonza)é36 F.3d 157, 159 {5

°In Godinez v. Moran509 U.S. 389, 399-402 (1993), the Supreme Court held that the standard
of competency for waiving the right to counsel is the same as the standard for determining
whether a defendant is competent to stand trial.
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Cir. 2011). Austin contends that the conditions of his confinement were so harsh that they
effectively coerced him into seeking a death sentence.

Respondent notes that, at the time Austin wrote his letter confessing to the murder, he
was classified as a “P2" inmate, meaning that he had the same security classification as a G2
general population inmate, but was in protective custody because he is homosexual and was
convicted of sexually assaulting a minor. G2 is the second least restrictive classification.

Upon his transfer to the Harris County jail for trial, Austin was placed in general
population. On May 1, 2001, he was transferred to the much more restrictive administrative
segregation because he requested protection from other inmates and because he threatened
another inmate SeePet. Exh. 14 at 3893, 3902. He was still in administrative segregation when
he waived counsel on October 11, 2001. While Austin filed a grievance stating that he did not
know why he was in administrative segregation, he never filed a grievance complaining about
the conditions.

Austin cites no case finding that Texas prison conditions or Harris County jail conditions
ever rendered a confession, plea, or waiver involuntary. Austin cites cases from other states, but
the conditions described in those cases exceed those described by Aestia.g., Smith By
and Through Missouri Public Defender Com'n v. Armontr&l2 F.2d 1050, 1054 {8Cir.

1987) (conditions on death row include lack of exercise, back-up of raw sewage into cells,
infestation of pests, and lack of ventilation). While one district court did find that prison
conditions in Tennessee in the 1980s rendered a defendant incomg@etesclose ex rel.
Harries v. Dutton 594 F.Supp. 949956 (M.D. Tenn. 1984), other courts have noted that the
decision was based on the defendant’'s lack of capacity, and was not limited to an analysis of the

conditions of confinementSee Wilson v. Lan&97 F.Supp. 1489, 1499 (S.D. Ill. 1988). As
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discussed above, the trial court’s finding that Austin was competent was eminently reasonable
and well supported by the record. Moreover, as Respondent points out, Austin has decided to
change course and pursue remedies while incarcerated in the highly restrictive conditions of
death row. This is utterly inconsistent with his claim that the conditions of his confinement
before his capital murder conviction were so harsh as to coerce him into seeking a death
sentence. Austin fails to prove by clear and convincing evidence that his plea or waivers were in
any way involuntary.

D. Fairness of Trial

In Claims 21 and 22, Austin claims that his self-representation also rendered his trial
unfair and arbitrary because he presented no meaningful mitigation case. A competent defendant
has a constitutional right to represent himsélretta 422 U.S. at 819. As discussed above, the
trial court informed Austin of the risks of self-representation and made adequate inquiry into his
competency to make this decision. The Fifth Circuit has held that a trial court’s decision to
appoint counsel to present mitigating evidence whenoasedefendant has chosen not to is a
violation of the defendant’s right to self representati®@ee United States v. David85 F.3d
378, 381 (8 Cir. 2002).

Having made the decision, Austin cannot now complain that his knowing, intelligent, and
voluntary exercise of his right to represent himself violates his constitutional rights. The trial
court respected and guarded Austin’s constitutional rights, and his exercise of those rights did
not render his trial unfair or arbitrary.

E. Brady Claims

In claims 5 and 6, Austin argues that the State suppressed records relevant to the

competency determination in violation Bfady v. Marylangd 373 U.S. 83 (1963). Austin claims
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that relevant Texas Department of Criminal Justice (“TDCJ”) and Harris County medical records
were not disclosed.

A prosecutor must disclose evidence favorable to an accused if it “is of sufficient
significance to result in the denial of the defendant’s right to a fair tridhited States v. Agurs
427 U.S. 97, 108 (1976). Evidence is material “if there is a reasonable probability that, had the
evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different.”
United States v. Bagley73 U.S. 667, 682 (1985).

First, it is not at all clear that this evidence falls within the scoBraify. The Supreme
Court has stated that “the suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused
upon request violates due procegeere the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment
... ."Banks v. Dretke540 U.S. 668, 691 (2004) (emphasis added)(cBragy v. Maryland
373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963)). Mtrickler v. Greengthe Supreme Court framed the three components
or essential elements oBaady prosecutorial misconduct claim: “The evidence at issue must be
favorable to the accusedjther because it is exculpatory, or because it is impeachheg
evidence must have been suppressed by the State, either willfully or inadvertently; and prejudice
must have ensued.Banks 540 U.S. at 691(emphasis added)(quotigckler v. Green527
U.S. 263, 281-82 (1999)).

The evidence at issue is not relevant to the issue of guilt or punishment, and is not
exculpatory or impeaching. Rather, it goes to Austin’s competence to stand trial and waive
certain rights. Moreover, it is not clear that the evidence was suppressed by the State.

The state bears no responsibility to direct the defense toward potentially exculpatory
evidence that either is in the possession of the defense or can be discovered through the exercise

of reasonable diligenceRector v. Johnsqrl20 F.3d 551, 558-59 (5th Cir. 1997). Austin knew
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of his own mental health history. As discussed above, he was cognizant of his circumstances and
able to communicate with his counsel and the court. He knew or should have known about these
records.

Even if the evidence falls within the scope Brfady and was suppressed, it was not
material. As Dr. Brown’s 2008 affidavit makes clear, the material would not have changed his
conclusion that Austin was competent. Dr. Brown’s affidavit also makes clear that Austin
suffered no prejudica,e., even if the records were produced, they would not have changed the
result. Accordingly, Austin is not entitled to relief on his Brathims (claims 5 and 6).

F. Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel

In claims 7-9, Austin claims that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel before
and during trial and on appeal. As discussed in detail above, Austin’s waiver of counsel and
decisions to represent himself at trial and forego pursuing an appeal were knowing, intelligent,
and voluntary. A “defendant who elects to represent himself cannot thereafter complain that the
quality of his own defense amounted to a denial of ‘effective assistance of courkseietta,

422 U.S. at 834, n. 46. Some of Austin’s claims, however, raise issues occurring prior to the
competency finding, or claim that counsel undermined Austin’s defense. Because these claims
involve actions or omissions before Austin was found competent to waive counsel, or raise a

guestion of counsel interfering with Austin’s defense, they are addressed separately.

1. Disclosure of Austin’s Intent To Commit Murder

Austin notes that counsel informed the trial court that Austin planned to kill another

inmate. Austin argues that this created an actual conflict of interest between counsel and client.

To prevail on a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner
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must show that . . . counsel made errors so serious that counsel was
not functioning as the *“counsel” guaranteed by the Sixth
Amendment. Second, the [petitioner] must show that the deficient
performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that
counsel’s errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a
fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable.

Strickland v. Washingto66 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). In order to prevail on the first prong of the
Stricklandtest, Petitioner must demonstrate that counsel’s representation fell below an objective
standard of reasonablenes$d. at 687-88. Reasonableness is measured against prevailing
professional norms, and must be viewed under the totality of the circumstalcest 688.

Ethical standards make clear that attorney-client confidentiality does not extend to
information that the client plans to commit a crimeSee Texas Disciplinary Rules of
Professional Conduct Rule 1.05(c)(7). The Supreme Court has held that it is not ineffective
assistance for an attorney to comply with a rule of professional conduct prohibiting assistance in
the commission of a crimeNix v. Whiteside475 U.S. 157, 166-69 (1986). Therefore, counsel
did not render deficient performance by disclosing Austin’s intent to murder another inmate.

2. Competency

Austin next contends that counsel rendered deficient performance in failing to challenge
his competency. As noted above, counsel requested a competency evaluation, which was
performed by Dr. Brown. Moreover, both the evidence presented during trial and the evidence
presented during postconviction clearly supports the trial court’s finding that Austin was
competent. Therefore, at a minimum, Austin was not prejudiced by counsel’s alleged inaction.

3. Assistance of Standby Counsel

In claim 9, Austin complains that standby counsel was ineffective. As noted above, by
electing to represent himself, Austin waived his right to counsel.Fakstta makes clear, he

cannot now complain that he was denied his right to counsel.
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G. Right To Trial By Jury

In claims 12 and 13, Austin contends that the trial court deprived him of his right to a
jury trial by accepting his guilty plea and directing a verdict of guilty. As discussed above,
Austin was competent to plead guilty, and did so knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. He
cites no authority for his novel proposition that his right to a jury trial under either Texas or
federal law cannot be waived. Austin is not entitled to relief on these claims.

H. Jury Determination Of Competency

In claim 14, Austin argues that he had a Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to have a
jury determine whether his guilty plea was competent and voluntary. In support of this claim, he
cites Apprendi v. New Jerséd80 U.S. 466 (2000), and Ring v. ArizpG36 U.S. 584 (2002).

In Apprendj the Supreme Court held that “any fact that increases the penalty for a crime
beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a
reasonable doubt.”ld. at 490. The Supreme Court extended Apprendiholding to capital
cases in Ring

The competency and voluntariness of Austin’s plea have no bearing on “any fact that
increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum. . . .” Austin was
charged with capital murder. The statutory maximum penalty for capital murder is death. Had
the case proceeded to trial because a factfinder found that his guilty plea was involuntary, the
statutory maximum would still have been death. Had a factfinder found that Austin was
incompetent, thus delaying the trial until he was found competent, the statutory maximum
penalty would still have been death. Thus, no finding on his competency or the voluntariness of
his plea would have affected the statutory maximum penalty. Austin’s claim is utterly without

merit.

22 /30

13-769822788



Cas§.4:B4-cv-02387 Document 99 Filed in TXSD on 08/21/12 Page 23 of 30
Appeéndix

l. Biased Penalty Phase Jury

In claims 15 and 16, Austin contends that jurors were prejudiced against imposing a life
sentence. In support of this claim, he submits several unsworn statements obtained from the
jurors in his case.

To obtain relief, Austin “must first demonstrate that a juror failed to answer honestly a
material question orvoir dire, and then further show that a correct response would have
provided a valid basis for a challenge for causeMcDonough Power Equipment, Inc. v.
Greenwood464 U.S. 548 (1984). Austin had an opportunity to question the potential jurors, and
challenge those he thought unsuitable, but he chose not to &eee.g, 3 Tr. at 3-79; 4 Tr. at
3-66; 5 Tr. at 3-90. He has therefore waived this claBae Dawson v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.,

978 F.2d 205, 208-09 {5Cir. 1992); Stewart v. Bank397 F.2d 798, 799 {5Cir. 1968).

J. Introduction of Prior Convictions

In claim 17, Austin contends that the State’s introduction into evidence of Austin’s three
prior convictions denied him due process. Austin claims that the three prior convictions were
obtained in violation of hi8rady rights and right to effective assistance of counsel, and that he
is factually innocent of his first conviction for aggravated sexual assault because the mental
health evidence he presents in this case would have resulted in a verdict of not guilty by reason
of insanity.

[]f ... a prior conviction used to enhance a federal sentence is no
longer open to direct or collateral attack in its own right because
the defendant failed to pursue those remedies while they were
available (or because the defendant did so unsuccessfully), then
that defendant ... may not collaterally attack his prior conviction
through a motion under § 2255.
Daniels v. United State$32 U.S. 374, 382 (20013ee also Lackawanna County Dist. Attorney

v. Cross 532 U.S. 394, 402 (2001) (extendibgnielsholding to cases brought under 28 U.S.C.
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§ 2254). Thus, Austin is left to argue that the admission of his three presumptively valid prior
convictions during the penalty phase of this trial violated his constitutional rights. Not
surprisingly, he cites no authority for this novel proposition, and this Court is aware of no
authority supporting it. Austin is not entitled to relief on claim 17.

K. Right To Effective Appellate Review

In claims 19 and 20, Austin argues that he was denied meaningful appellate review
because of critical omissions from the trial record. He claims that the record is missing
transcripts of at least two hearings that the trial court relied on in finding Austin competent.
Austin provides a list of dates from the docket and a list of dates covered by the transcript, and
notes that the transcript does not cover all events in his case. From this, he jumps to conclusions
that critical matters went untranscribed, but makes no showing that anything othgrdhan
formamatters occurred on the dates for which no transcript exists.

The record is clear about the information relied on in determining Austin’'s competency.
Austin fails to demonstrate that the TCCA was in any way impaired in its review by the alleged
missing transcript, and fails to cite any authority supporting his claim that he was denied any
constitutional right.

L. Actual Innocence

In claim 23, Austin argues that he is actually innocent of the murder. This claim is based
on his assertion that his confession was false. This claim is foreclosed by Supreme Court
precedent. “Claims of actual innocence based on newly discovered evidence have never been
held to state a ground for federal habeas relief absent an independent constitutional violation

occurring in the underlying state criminal proceedingiérrera v. Colling 506 U.S. 390, 400
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(1993). This is so because “federal habeas courts sit to ensure that individuals are not
imprisoned in violation of the Constitution — not to correct errors of fddt.”

M. Life Without Parole

In claims 25-29, Austin argues that a 2005 change in Texas law giving capital sentencing
juries the option of imposing a sentence of life without parole renders his 2002 conviction, when
the jury did not have that option, unconstitutional. It is well-established that changes to existing
constitutionally valid criminal laws do not render the prior version of those laws
unconstitutional. See e.g.,Colvin v. Estelle506 F.2d 747, 748 {5Cir. 1975) (“The prisoner's
contention that the enactment of the new Code and the repeal of the old Code section entitles him

to release from his sentence is palpably without merit”).

Austin further argues that the subsequent change by the Texas legislature to add a life
without parole option shows that his sentence is contrary to evolving standards of decency in
violation of the Eighth Amendment. It strains logic to argue, as Austin does, that his sentence is
unconstitutional because the legislature has changed the law concerning some alternative
sentence. The death penalty is and has been constitutional, and the Supreme Court has never

held that a state must offer life without parole as an option in capital murdef cases.

The same procedures for assessing sentence that were in place when Austin was
sentenced are in place now. The difference upon which Austin bases these claims is the addition
of a new sentencing option. Case law, cited above, makes clear that changes to an otherwise
constitutional criminal statute do not render the statute unconstitutional. Nothing in the

Constitution entitles a petitioner to have changes in state law retroactively applied to his case.

®In addition, this lack of authority means that Austin’s claim is barred under the non-retroactivity
rule of Teague v. Land89 U.S. 288 (1989)
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To hold otherwise would hamstring courts and legislatures by laying down a rule that any change
made to existing criminal law or procedure invalidates all previously imposed sentences. No
authority supports this radical proposition. Indeed, it is directly contrary to Fifth Circuit

precedent as stated@olvin. As in Colvin Austin’s claims 25-29 are “palpably without merit.”

N. Mitigation Special Issue

Austin next challenges the Texas mitigation special issue, arguing that it does not give
the jury discretion to consider evidence not related to the offeesethat it requires a nexus
between the mitigation evidence and the offense. In Lockéthiq 438 U.S. 586, 608 (1978), a
plurality of the Supreme Court held “that the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments require that the
sentencer . . . not be precluded from considerasy,a mitigating factqr any aspect of a
defendant’s character or record . . . as a basis for a sentence less than death.” 438 U.S. at 604
(emphasis in original). This holding is based on the plurality’s conclusion that death “is so
profoundly different from all other penalties” as to render “an individualized decision . . .

essential in capital casesld. at 605.
The mitigation special issue given to Austin’s jury stated:

Do you find from the evidence, taking into consideratadinthe
evidence including the circumstances of the offenste
defendant’s character and background, and the personal moral
culpability of the defendant. . that there is a sufficient mitigating
circumstance or circumstances to warrant that a sentence of life
imprisonment rather than death be imposed?

CR at 79 (emphasis added). The jury was further instructed that it “shall consider mitigating
evidence to be evidence that a juror might regard as reducing the defendant’s moral
blameworthinessncluding evidence of the defendant’s background [and] character.” CR

at 72 (emphasis added). The special issue and instruction clearly give the jury discretion to
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consider not only the circumstances of the offense, but also “the defendant’s character and
background.” It thus requires no nexus between the mitigating evidence and the offense. “[T]he

. . . Statute doesot unconstitutionally ‘preclude[ ] [the jury] from considering, as a mitigating
factor, any aspect of a defendant's character or record and any of the circumstances of the offense
that the defendant proffers as a basis for a sentence less than dBathziey v. Johnso242

F.3d 248, 260 (8 Cir. 2001);see alsoPenry v. Johnsqr532 U.S. 782, 803 (2001)(upholding
constitutionality of Texas mitigation special issue).

0. Lethal Injection Protocol

In claims 31-33, Austin challenges the three-drug execution protocol Texas utilized at the
time he filed his petition. Specifically, he argues that the protocol uses an unnecessary drug, and
that TDCJ might use certain methods to gain access to veins, which could cause unnecessary
pain in violation of the Eighth Amendment. Preliminarily, the challenges to the drug protocol
are moot, as Texas recently announced that it will use a one drug protocol in the Seere.
Texas To Use One Drug For Executions After Alternate Supply Exhatstaters, July 10,

2012. In any event, the Supreme Court squarely rejected the argument that the old three drug
protocol violated the Eighth AmendmentBaze v. Rees553 U.S. 35 (2008). Moreover,
objections to the method of execution challenge the conditions of confinement, not the fact of the
conviction or duration of sentence. Therefore, these claims are properly brought in a suit under
42 U.S.C. § 1983, and not in a habeas corpus petition. Nelson v. Cabbél.S. 637 (2004).

P. Competency to be Executed

Finally, Austin claims that he is incompetent to be executed. A claim of incompetency to
be executed does not become ripe until execution is immin&se Stewart v. Martinez-

Villareal, 523 U.S. 637, 644-645, 118 S.Ct. 1618, 1622 (1988);also Herrera v. Collin06
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U.S. 390, 406, 113 S.Ct. 853, 863, 122 L.Ed.2d 203 (1993) ("[T]he issue of sanity is properly
considered in proximity to the execution.”). Therefore, this claim is not yet ripe for adjudication.
V.  Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, Austin fails to raise a viable claim for habeas relief. His claim
that he is incompetent to be executed is dismissed without prejudice as premature, and his other
claims are dismissed with prejudice for the reasons stated in this opinion.

V. Certificate Of Appealability

Austin has not requested a certificate of appealability (“COA”), but this Court may
determine whether he is entitled to this relief in light of the foregoing ruliggeAlexander v.
Johnson 211 F.3d 895, 898 (5th Cir. 2000) (“It is perfectly lawful for district court’s [sic] to
deny COAsua sponte The statute does not require that a petitioner move for a COA, it merely
states that an appeal may not be taken without a certificate of appealability having been issued.”)
A petitioner may obtain a COA either from the district court or an appellate court, but an
appellate court will not consider a petitioner’s request for a COA until the district court has
denied such a requesBeeWhitehead v. Johnspi57 F.3d 384, 388 (5th Cir. 1988ge also
Hill v. Johnson 114 F.3d 78, 82 (5th Cir. 1997) (“[T]he district court should continue to review
COA requests before the court of appeals does.”). “A plain reading of the AEDPA compels the
conclusion that COAs are granted on an issue-by-issue basis, thereby limiting appellate review to
those issues alone.” Lackey v. Johndd6 F.3d 149, 151 (5th Cir. 1997).

A COA may issue only if the petitioner has made a “substantial showing of the denial of
a constitutional right.” 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(8ge alsdJnited States v. Kimlerl50 F.3d 429,

431 (5th Cir. 1998). A petitioner “makes a substantial showing when he demonstrates that his

application involves issues that are debatable among jurists of reason, that another court could

28 /30

13-769882794



App%ar]sgi)é(l:64-cv-02387 Document 99 Filed in TXSD on 08/21/12 Page 29 of 30
resolve the issues differently, or that the issues are suitable enough to deserve encouragement to
proceed further.” Hernandez v. Johnspi213 F.3d 243, 248 (5th Cirgert. denied 531 U.S.
966 (2000). The Supreme Court has stated that:

Where a district court has rejected the constitutional claims on the

merits, the showing required to satisfy § 2253(c) is

straightforward: The petitioner must demonstrate that reasonable

jurists would find the district court's assessment of the

constitutional claims debatable or wrong.
Slack v. McDaniel529 U.S. 473, 484 (2000). “The nature of the penalty in a capital case is a
‘proper consideration in determining whether to issue a [COA], but the severity of the penalty
does not in itself suffice to warrant the automatic issuing of a certificatéaShington v.
Johnson 90 F.3d 945, 949 (5th Cir. 1996) (quotiBgrefoot v. Estelle463 U.S. 880, 893
(1983)), cert. deniegd 520 U.S. 1122 (1997). However, “the determination of whether a COA
should issue must be made by viewing the petitioner's arguments through the lens of the
deferential scheme laid out in 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2254(ddrrientes v. Johnsor221 F.3d 741, 772
(5th Cir. 2000), cert. dismissgb31 U.S. 1134 (2001).

This Court has carefully considered each of Austin’s claims. The Court finds that each of
the claims is foreclosed by clear, binding precedent. This Court concludes that under such
precedents, Austin has failed to make a “substantial showing of the denial of a constitutional
right.” 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(2). This Court concludes that Austin is not entitled to a certificate of

appealability on his claims.

VI. Conclusion And Order

For the foregoing reasons, it is ORDERED as follows:
1. Respondent Rick Thaler's Motion for Summary Judgment (Doc. # 62) is

GRANTED;
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2. Petitioner Perry Allen Austin’s Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas
Corpus (Doc. # 38) is in all respects DENIED; and
3. No certificate of appealability shall issue.

The Clerk shall notify all parties and provide them with a copy of this Memorandum and

Order.
SIGNED at Houston, Texas this*2day of August, 2012.
Kenneth M. Hoyt
United States District Judge
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